Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Retrospective theses

2008

Towards the optimisation of a detection system for markers linked to neural tube defects

Cloutier, Louise Aline

http://knowledgecommons.lakeheadu.ca/handle/2453/3842 Downloaded from Lakehead University, KnowledgeCommons

TOWARDS THE OPTIMISATION OF A DETECTION SYSTEM FOR MARKERS LINKED TO NEURAL TUBE DEFECTS

Louise Aline Cloutier

A thesis submitted in fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

Master's in Biology at Lakehead University,

Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada.

December 2008 © Louise Cloutier 2008



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-47133-3 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-47133-3

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



Declaration

I, Louise Cloutier, hereby declare that this thesis is my own work and has not been submitted in any form for another degree or diploma at any university or other institution of tertiary education. Information derived from the published or unpublished work of others has been acknowledged in the text and a list of references is given.

Acknowledgements

I gratefully acknowledge the supervision of Dr. Carney Matheson, and thank him for his insight, sense of adventure and humor; Dr. Joe Carney for his guidance and 'pep talks'; and archeologist, Richard Stallings, for the Mississippi River samples.

I would like to also acknowledge my graduate committee members, Dr. Lada Malek and Dr. Dave Law and external reviewer, Dr. Yang, for their time and constructive criticisms towards the final revisions.

I would like to extend my gratitude to my parents, Denyse and Germain, and my older sister, Marie-Josée, for their unconditional support, love, and constant encouragements.

I thank them all.

Dedicated to my father.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Abbreviations	vi
List of Figures	vii
List of Tables	ix
Abstract	
1 Introduction	
1.1 Genetic Mutations	
1.1.1 Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms	
1.2 Birth Defects	
1.3 Neural Tube Defects	
1.3.1 Anencephaly	
1.3.2 Craniorachischisis	
1.3.3 Iniencephaly	
1.3.4 Encephalocele	
1.3.5 Spina Bifida	
1.4 Screening for Neural Tube Defects	
1.5 Mutations of Interest	
1.5.1 Folic Acid and Homocysteine Metabolic pathw	ay46
1.5.2 5,10-Methylenetetrahydrafolate reductase	
1.5.3 Methionine synthase	
1.5.4 Methionine synthase reductase	
1.5.5 Cystathionine ß-synthase	
1.6 Mutation Detection	
1.6.1 Nested and hemi-nested Polymerase Chain Re	eaction58
1.6.2 Sequencing Polymerase Chain Reaction	
1.6.3 Single Nucleotide Extension Polymerase Chair	n Reaction 61
1.6.4 Multiplex Polymerase Chain Reaction	
1.7 Development and Optimisation of Multiplex Method	ls 63
1.7.1 Primer Design	
1.7.2 Cycling Parameters	
1.7.3 PCR components	70
1.7.4 Troubleshooting	75
1.8 Project Aim	75
1.8.1 DNA Damage and Degraded DNA	
2 Materials and Methods	
2.1 Samples	
2.2 Optimised Protocol	
2.2.1 Extraction and purification	
2.2.1.1 Proteinase K and Modified Ethanol Precipita	tion Method82
2.2.1.2 GuSCN and Silica-bead Purification Method	
2.2.2 Genetic Amplification	
2.2.2.1 Multiplex Polymerase Chain Reaction	

2.2.2.2 Hemi-nested Polymerase Chain Reaction	86
2.2.2.3 Snapshot Polymerase Chain Reaction	88
2.2.3 Data Analysis	89
3 Results	90
3.1 Gel Electrophoresis	90
3.1.1 Initial Multiplex	90
3.1.2 Hemi-nested Multiplex	95
3.2 Sequencing Data of Modern Sample	101
3.2.1 Cystathionine beta-synthase CBS 844ins68	102
3.2.2 Methionine Synthase MS A2756G	102
3.2.3 Methionine synthase reductase MTRR A66G	103
3.2.4 5, 10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase MTHFR C677T	104
3.2.5 5, 10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase MTHFR A1298C	104
3.3 Snapshot Data	105
4 Discussion	108
4.1 Optimisation	108
4.2 Application of Methodology	113
5 Conclusion and Future Considerations	118
References	120
Appendices	143

 \mathbf{V}

List of Abbreviations

A – Adenine ABI - Applied Biosystems AChE - acetylcholinesterase AD – Anno Domini AFAFP - amniotic alpha fetoprotein AFP - Alpha fetoprotein APS - ammonium persulfate BPD - biparietal diameter bp - base pairs C - Cytosine CBS - cvstathionine beta-synthase CCR5 - chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 5 CDC - Centers for Disease Control and Prevention CSF - Cerebrospinal fluid CNS - central nervous system ddH₂0 - double distilled water Dept - department DNA - deoxyribonucleic acid dNTP - deoxynucleotide triphosphate ddNTP - dideoxynucleotide triphosphate EDTA - ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid EtBr - ethidium bromide EXOI - exonuclease I F - forward G - Guanine GuSCN - guanidinium thiocyanate Hb^s – sickle hemoalobin HGP - Human Genome Project ICD - International classification of Diseases Ins - insertion LCN - low copy number NTD - neural tube defect MSAFP - Maternal serum alpha-fetoprotein MgCl₂ – Magnesium chloride MoM - multiples of the normal median MS - methionine synthase MTHFR - methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase MTRR - methionine synthase reductase NaCl - sodium chloride Nal - sodium iodide PAGE - polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis PCR - polymerase chain reaction pg - pictogram PK – Proteinase K Ptag - Platinum Tag DNA polymerase R - reverse RNA - ribonucleic acid rpm - revolution per minute RRM - ready reaction mix SAP - shrimp alkaline phosphatase SB - spina bifida SBE - Single Base Extension SBC- spina bifida cystica

- SBO spina bifida occulta SDS – Sodium Dodecyl sulphate SNE – Single Nucleotide extension SNP – single nucleotide polymorphism T - Thymine TBE – Tris, borate, EDTA solution TM - trademark U – units UK – United Kingdom US – United States UV – ultra-violet
- WWB working wash buffer

List of Figures

Figure 1 – Types of Neural Tube Defects	. 25
Figure 2 – Infant affected with anencephaly	.26
Figure 3 – Child affected with craniorachischisis	.27
Figure 4 – Newborns with injencephaly	28
Figure 5 – Child with encephalocele	29
Figure 6 – Spina Bifida Occulta	31
Figure 7 – Examples of skin abnormalities associated with Spina Bifida such as a	
dimple: a fuff of bair and linoma	32
Figure 8 – Spina bifida meningocele	32
Figure 9 – Spina bilida myelomeningocele	22
Figure 10 – Thoracic and lumbar myelomeningocele: lumbar myelomeningocele	34
Figure 10 – Thoracic and fumbal myelomeningocele, fumbal myelomeningocele	25
Figure 12 Distribution curves of MSAED in MoM at 16.18 wooks destation among	. 55
singleton unoffected and ener Spine Bifide programming	27
Figure 12 Suggested Neural Tube Defect Determination Protocol	. 37
Figure 13 – Suggested Neural Tube Delect Determination Protocol	.40
Figure 14 – Spina Billida with meningocele image with a sac containing CSF and	40
Figure 15 Ocharactic constation of a second defect	.42
Figure 15 – Schematic representation a sonographic illustration of the banana and	40
Einer AO Delle server the server to be t	.43
Figure 16 – Pathways of homocysteine metabolism	.47
Figure 17 – Cystathionine Is-synthase Insertion	. 56
Figure 18 – Schematic of Nested and Hemi-nested PCR	. 59
Figure 19 – An example of a sequencing electropherogram generated from the ABI	~ ~
3100	, 60
Figure 20 – SNaPshot™ PCR Kit process	. 62
Figure 21 – Multiplex Step-by-step approach.	. 64
Figure 22 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MTHFR C677T	
mutation (Initial PCR)	. 91
Figure 23 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MTHFR A1298C	
mutation (Initial PCR)	. 91
Figure 24 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MS A2756G	
mutation (Initial PCR)	. 92
Figure 25 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the CBS 844ins68	
mutation (Initial PCR)	. 92
Figure 26 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MTRR A66G	
mutation (Initial PCR)	. 93
Figure 27 – Initial PCR Singleplexes,	. 94
Figure 28 – Determination of optimal primer concentrations for the initial Multiplex	. 95
Figure 29 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MTHFR C677T	
mutation (Hemi nested)	. 96
Figure 30 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the CBS 844ins68	
mutation (Hemi-nested)	. 96
Figure 31 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MTHFR A1298C	
mutation (Hemi-nested)	. 97

Figure 32 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MTRR A66G
mutation (Hemi-nested)
Figure 33 – Hemi-nested singleplex of MS A2756G
Figure 34 – Hemi-Singleplex
Figure 35 – Determination of primer concentrations in hemi-nested multiplex and initial
multiplex PCR
Figure 36 – Determination of optimal Taq and template concentrations - Hemi-nested
Multiplex
Figure 37 – Optimal primer concentrations determination of initial and hemi-nested
multiplex
Figure 38 – CBS 844ins68 generated sequence for modern sample and sequence
alignment with GeneBank Assession#AF042836.1 (with highlighted SNP) 102
Figure 39 – The sequence alignment of the modern control sample to the reference
Sequence of Cystathionine beta-synthase
Figure 40 – MS A2756G generated sequence for modern sample and sequence
alignment with GeneBank Assession#AL359259 (with highlighted SNP)
Figure 41 – The sequence alignment of the modern control sample to the reference
Figure 42 MTPR A66C generated sequence for modern sample and sequence
alignment with GeneBank Assession#AE121202 (with highlighted SNP) 103
Figure 43 – The sequence alignment of the modern control sample to the reference
sequence for Methionine Synthase Reductase 103
Figure 44 – MTHER C677T generated sequence for modern sample and sequence
alignment with GeneBank Assession# AY338232.1 (with highlighted SNP)
Figure 45 – The sequence alignment of the modern control sample to the reference
sequence for 5, 10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T polymorphism 104
Figure 46 – MTHFR A1298C generated sequence for modern sample and sequence
alignment with GeneBank Assession# AY338232.1 (with highlighted SNP) 104
Figure 47 – The sequence alignment of the modern control sample to the reference
sequence for 5, 10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase A1298C polymorphism 105
Figure 48 – Summary of Procedure
Figure 49 – CBS Primer position
Figure 50 – MS Primer Position
Figure 51 – MTHER A1298C Primer Position
Figure 52 – MTHER C6//T Primer Position
Figure 53 – MIRK A66G Primer Position

List of Tables

Table 1 – Sample Information	81
Table 2 – Detailed information of Ancient samples	81
Table 3 – Primer Information for Multiplex PCR	84
Table 4 – Initial Multiplex PCR amplification concentrations and volumes	85
Table 5 – Initial PCR Amplification Target size	86
Table 6 – Primer Information for Hemi-nested Multiplex PCR	. 86
Table 7 – Hemi-nested PCR amplification concentrations and volumes	87
Table 8 – Hemi-nested PCR amplification Target sizes	88
Table 9 – Single nucleotide extension primer sequences	88
Table 10 – Extension primers for the multiplex detection of the five markers	89
Table 11 – Determination of genotype	89
Table 12 – Modern Sample Genotype	105
Table 13 – Experimentally Degraded Samples Genotypes	105
Table 14 – Medical Archive Samples Genotypes	106
Table 15 – Archeological Samples Genotypes	106
Table 16 - Determined Success Rates	114

Abstract

Neural tube defects are the second most common birth defect of the central nervous system. The aim of this research is to design and optimise a novel detection system to analyse five markers that have been shown to be linked to neural tube defects. The developed detection system consists of three steps: an initial multiplex PCR, a hemi-nested multiplex PCR, and a multiplex SNE-PCR using the ABI Prism[®] SNaPshot[™] kit. The additional step of a hemi-nested PCR has been incorporated to increase the sensitivity and specificity of the test. By detecting all five markers simultaneously, the linkage between each of the mutations can be ascertained more rapidly than if detected independently. Four different sample types were analysed, modern DNA, experimentally degraded DNA, medical specimens and archeological samples. The genotypes were successfully generated for all the samples except the archeological samples, where only partial genotypes were achieved. The designed detection system can be applied to archive medical specimens (biopsies, smears, and blood donor cards), archeological material, and other degraded samples. Future applications of this technique can include medical screening, population mapping, association studies, familial pedigrees, and the study of the evolution of diseases. This developed three step methodology can be applied to the detection of other diseases and conditions.

1 Introduction

The term 'genome' was first introduced by Hans Winkler (1920), a botanist at the University of Hamburg in Germany, by combining the sounds and meanings of the two words GENe and chromosOME. The genome of an organism is its entire hereditary information encoded as DNA and includes both coding and non-coding sequences or, for some viruses, it's RNA. In eukaryotes the genome is organised into chromosomes, the first genetic map of a Drosophila melanogaster chromosome was accomplished by the American geneticist Alfred Sturtevant (1913) based on his observations of linkage analysis. The most influential breakthrough for genome research was the discovery of the double helical structure of the DNA molecule in 1953 by Francis Crick and James Watson (Watson and Crick 1953a; Watson and Crick 1953b). DNA is an anti-parallel double stranded helical macromolecule in which the backbone consists of alternating sugar and phosphate groups joined by nitrogenous bases. The genetic code or DNA is made up of four nitrogenous bases: Adenine (A), Cytosine (C), Guanine (G), and Thymine (T). Each base from one strand binds to a base on the other strand; this is called complementary base pairing. In order to maintain a balance between the two complementary strands, a purine must bond with a pyrimidine via hydrogen bonds. Two hydrogen bonds form between A and T, while three hydrogen bonds are present between the C and G. In 1975, Frederick Sanger developed the chain termination technique to sequence DNA, also known as the dideoxy-termination method or the Sanger method (Sanger et al. 1977b). Two years later, Sanger et al. (1977a) successfully completed the sequencing of the 5368bp genome of the phage Φ -X174, the first genome to be sequenced. In 1976, Walter Fiers completed the sequence of the

first RNA based genome of the bacteriophage MS2 (Fiers 1976). The polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was developed by Kary Mullis which allows the amplification of specific regions of DNA and has fuelled the development of modern molecular techniques (Mullis et al., 1986). Automated sequencing followed along with the possibility of analysing the entire human genome. The human genome consists of 23 pairs of chromosomes, with each parent contributing one chromosome to each pair. The entire genome of eukaryotes typically includes the nuclear and the mitochondrial genomes. The human mitochondrial genome was sequenced in 1981 (Anderson 1981). The \$3billion dollar 'Human Genome Project' (HGP) began in 1990, to map and sequence the human genome. It was estimated to take 15 years to complete (U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services 1990). However, widespread international effort and cooperation comprising geneticists from China, France, Germany, Japan, and the United Kingdom greatly aided the project's progress. As well as rapid technological advances in the field of genomics such as: (1) the use of restriction fragment-length polymorphisms; (2) the polymerase chain reaction; (3) developments in sequence analysis; (4) development of bacterial and yeast artificial chromosomes, which are now preferred in sequencing procedures because of their superior stability and larger size. These technological advances accelerated the completion of HGP producing a 'rough or working draft' of the human genome in November 2000 (November 2000; White House Press Release June 26, 2000) and published in Nature (International Human Genome Mapping Consortium 2001) and Science (Celera Genomics Sequencing Team 2001). These drafts represented 90% of the entire genome. The remaining 10% included the telomeres, and around the centromeres, where few if any genes are expected to be located. The

announcement of the completed genome in April 2003, coinciding with the 50th anniversary of the discovery of the DNA double helix, two years ahead of expectation and significantly under original spending projection (Henry 2003). All three billion base pairs in the human genome were sequenced creating a "blueprint" that contains all the information required for the construction, assembly, and operation of the human body.

The HGP has lead to the fields of genomics and proteomics where over 20,000 genes have been identified and their biological functions are being determined (International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium 2004). The project has become a landmark to an ever expanding field of genomics leading to the consideration of genomic sequencing of other organisms, such as commercially important species (i.e. crop plants and livestock) (Honeybee Genome Sequencing Consortium 2006; Ihara *et al.* 2004; International Rice Genome Sequencing Project 2005) species that have a relevance to human health (i.e. pathogenic bacteria or vectors of diseases) (Gardner *et al.* 2002; Holt *et al.* 2002; Parkhill *et al.* 2003; Shimizu *et al.* 2002; Waterston *et al.* 2002), and species that could help answer evolutionary questions (i.e. chimpanzee) (Cheng *et al.* 2005; Chimpanzee Sequencing and Analysis Consortium 2005; Hughes *et al.* 2005; Khaitovich *et al.* 2005). The HGP has lead to numerous related projects such as: the SNP Consortium; the NIH Cancer Genome Project; HapMap; and the Human Genome Diversity project.

The genomic era has created a revolution in biology by seeking to correlate genetic variations with phenotypic differences. In humans, these traits range from hair colour, eye colour, skin colour, and blood group, to disease susceptibility. Some variations in the DNA sequence do not produce a detectable change in biological

function while others do with either positive or negative consequences. The positive effects can include a mutational change that causes an increased resistance to an infection or disease, such as the $\Delta 32$ deletion of the chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 5 (CCR5) gene. Homozygotes for the allele exhibit a strong, although incomplete, resistance to HIV infection, whereas heterozygotes display delayed progression to acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) (Blanpain et al. 2002). Negative consequences include diseases, syndromes or conditions and there are many human diseases that have a genetic cause. Some diseases have a large genetic component such as Huntington's disease, Tay-Sachs disease, or cystic fibrosis, while cancer, diabetes and heart disease possess a more modest genetic component because humans inherit only a predisposition and not a certainty of developing the disease. Genetic disorders can be grouped into three categories: single gene disorders, chromosome disorders, and multifactorial inheritance disorders. Single gene disorders are the product of a single gene mutation that can be present on one or both chromosomes. They may be autosomal or X-linked and are usually found as recessive, dominant or co-dominant. Examples of single gene disorders are Duchenne's muscular dystrophy and Huntington's disease (Emery 2003; Gusella and Macdonald 2006). Chromosome disorders are caused by an excess or deficiency of the genes located on chromosomes or structural changes within the chromosomes. An extra copy of chromosome 21, with no abnormal individual gene, causes Down's syndrome (Capone 2001). Multifactorial inheritance disorders or polygenic diseases are caused by the interaction of a number of genes in conjunction with the environment. Heart disease, most cancers, obesity and alcoholism are examples of these multifactorial disorders.

Some diseases, even when they cause morbidity and mortality can be kept in the population by selective pressures. An example is sickle hemoglobin (Hb^S) causing sickle cell anaemia in which the heterozygous state provides a selective advantage in environments affected by malaria (Aidoo *et al.* 2002; Williams *et al.* 2005). Likewise, cystic fibrosis can confer resistance to cholera (Bijman *et al.* 1988; Rodman and Zamudio 1991). In the right environment, the incidence of these diseases can remain quite high, while elsewhere in the world where there are no selective pressures the incidence drops.

The complete human genome has motivated research on understanding complex genetic diseases, disorders, and conditions. In order to associate specific genetic variations with conditions, genome-wide association studies are necessary. Researchers compare the genomes of affected and unaffected (control) individuals, and identify specific regions that differ between the two groups. The genetic differences can identify individuals with an increased risk for developing the condition which can then be exacerbated by environmental triggers. Genes associated with Duchenne's muscular dystrophy (Koenig *et al.* 1987), retinoblastoma (Dryja *et al.* 1986; Lee *et al.* 1987), and cystic fibrosis (Kerem *et al.* 1989; Riordan *et al.* 1989; Rommens *et al.* 1989) were the first to be mapped and cloned. Recently, researchers have announced the discovery of new genes associated with breast and ovarian cancer (Hughes-Davies *et al.* 2003); type-2 diabetes (Gunton *et al.* 2005); and Alzheimer's disease (Rogaeva *et al.* 2007).

There are many benefits of studying human genetic variations and their phenotypic manifestations. The ability to associate certain mutations and genes with

specific conditions can shed light on the causes and factors of these diseases. Such knowledge can lead to the development of new therapies and strategies to treat or even prevent these diseases. By recognising the genotypic differences and their implications towards treatments, researchers can determine how individuals may respond to treatments based on their genotype and which strategies are more effective for their recovery. Understanding of such correlations can result in a new generation of medicines that target diseases with increased precision and reduced risks, a developing field that is known as pharmacogenomics. Expanding our biochemical knowledge of disease-related genes will lead to the development of innovative drugs that target theses specific biological functions.

1.1 Genetic Mutations

A mutation can be defined as any heritable change in the sequence of nucleotides in DNA that causes a permanent alteration of genetic information (Horton 2002). Mutations contribute to phenotypic variation and influence an individual's anthropometric characteristics, risk of disease and response to the environment (International SNP Map Working Group *et al.* 2001). A mutation can involve insertions, deletions or substitutions of one or more bases in the DNA molecule.

Deletions and insertions range from changes of a single nucleotide to ones that involve a genetic region. A frameshift mutation, where one to three bases are added or removed from the DNA molecule, causes a shift in the codon reading frame (Tamarin 1991). These are potentially the most devastating in their effects on an organism because the sequence of a gene changes from the site of mutation onward. Deletions

and insertions can also cause large-scale changes in the amino acid composition of the polypeptide chain and can lead to non-functional genes (Cummings 1994).

A nucleotide substitution, also referred to as a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) (International SNP Map Working Group *et al.*), does not modify the number of nucleotides but entails a variation within the sequence in which a single nucleotide is exchanged for another. The most common form of sequence variation, nucleotide substitutions consist of three types of mutations: a missense mutation, a nonsense mutation and a sense mutation (Cummings 1994). A missense mutation is a single nucleotide change that results in the substitution of one amino acid for another in a protein. A nonsense mutation changes an amino acid-specifying codon to one of the three terminating codons; resulting in a shorter polypeptide chains due to the premature termination of translation. A sense mutation produces elongated proteins since a terminating codon has been changed into one that codes for an amino acid. Nucleotide substitutions may affect gene functionality, gene presence, alter the morphology or physiology of the organism resulting in phenotypic consequences, or have no noticeable phenotypic effects.

1.1.1 Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms

A single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) is usually a bi-allelic nucleotide substitution that exists in normal individuals in some populations. A true SNP designation requires the allele to be present at or above 1% frequency in the tested population (Brookes 1999). Human genomes are 99.9% identical and of the 0.1% difference, 90% are SNPs (Collins *et al.* 1998; Li and Sadler 1991; Wang *et al.* 1998). Phenotypic differences can be attributed to SNPs; and this is the basis for genetic

diversity found among humans. Single nucleotide polymorphisms occur on average every 1,000 bases when any two chromosomes are compared making them more prevalent in the genome than microsatellites (Cargill *et al.* 1999; Kwok *et al.* 1996; Li and Sadler 1991; Wang *et al.* 1998). Currently, more than 1.4 million SNPs have been identified in the human genome (International SNP Map Working Group *et al.* 2001). There are two types of SNPs: transitions (C \leftrightarrow T or G \leftrightarrow A) and transversions (C \leftrightarrow A, C \leftrightarrow G, T \leftrightarrow A and G \leftrightarrow T). Approximately two thirds of SNPs involve transitions (Brookes 1999). There are three possible genotypes when a SNP occurs; in the case of a C-G mutation, there could be a CC, CG and GG genotype. The nomenclature for this biallelic system is CC when both alleles have a cytosine in that SNP position. Alternatively, a CG represents a heterozygote where one allele has a cytosine and the other allele has a guanine.

Their extreme abundance in the genome indicates that SNPs can occur in both coding and non-coding regions (Syvanen 2001). This allows linkage between SNP variations within gene sequences and observed changes in gene function. Consequences at the phenotypic level depend on the location of the SNP. The SNPs located in non-coding regions have no direct known impact on the phenotype of an individual and can serve as biomarkers. Whereas, SNPs found in coding regions that alter the function or structure of the encoded proteins are a necessary and sufficient cause of most of the known inherited monogenic diseases (Syvanen 2001). These SNPs are important for diagnostic purposes.

SNPs are also considered to be very stable heritable markers with relatively low mutation rates in comparison with other types of genetic markers (Carlson *et al.* 2001)

and seem to mutate randomly (Crow 1995; Li et al. 1996a). These characteristics render SNPs a valuable tool for a broad range of disciplines. The analysis and identification of multiple SNPs can generate a SNP profile. This SNP profile can be applied for identification purposes in forensic criminal profiling for differentiating between individuals, populations and ethnic groups (Chakraborty et al. 1999; Collins et al. 1997; Risch and Merikangas 1996). The stability of SNPs allows a SNP profile to be used in the study of human history and evolution (Hacia et al. 1999; International SNP Map Working Group et al. 2001; Jorde et al. 2000). A generated SNP profile can be used in conjunction with mitochondrial DNA haplotyping (Nelson et al. 2007) to follow inheritance patterns in humans over time or to identify inheritance patterns of chromosomal regions from generation to generation (Mountain et al. 1992). Single nucleotide polymorphisms are also of interest in the field of pharmacogenomics for predicting individual variations in drug response and identifying new targets for drug design (Poste 2001). The specificity and sensitivity of SNPs enables the study of archeological specimens that can provide insight into the evolution of diseases such as the analysis of cytokines by Turner et al. (2002).

The study of SNPs is important because they contribute to our understanding of the underlining genetic causes of diseases and conditions that manifest in the clinical phenotypes. Researchers have shown that many clinical phenotypes have a considerable genetic component like SNPs (Brookes 1999). Some SNPs located in genes can be expected to directly affect protein structure or expression levels, and these may represent candidate alterations for genetic mechanisms in disease (Landegren *et al.* 1998). Attempts to correlate individual and combination of SNPs with

phenotypes that act either as markers and/or are causative for common multifactorial disorders such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, mental illness, auto-immune states, and diabetes, who are expected to be heavily influenced by the individual's SNP patterns in certain key susceptibility genes (Brookes 1999). However, the effect of genotype on disease phenotype does vary between disorders and populations owing to genetic and environmental heterogeneity (Weiss and Terwilliger 2000). It is the combined effect of a collection of SNP alleles in sets of key genes, plus environmental factors, that together determine whether an individual suffers from a particular disease (Brookes 1999). Eventhough SNPs contribute to conditions and diseases have environmental factors and the study of SNPs requires extensive research.

SNPs can therefore be used to identify genetic components and factors associated with complex diseases and identify individuals who are predisposed and at risk (Chakraborty *et al.* 1999; Collins *et al.* 1997; Johnson and Todd 2000; Risch and Merikangas 1996). If a SNP contributes an increased risk for disease occurrence, that polymorphism should therefore be found at a higher frequency in individuals with that disease compared to non-disease controls, associated with the phenotype (Brookes 1999). Assays that could analyse all the SNPs in large sets of patients and matched non-disease controls for all the complex phenotypes should be developed (Brookes 1999).

After the completion of the HGP, a SNP revolution began in which SNPs were the focus of much attention as a race to identify and associate SNPs motivated rapid technological progress. The unique characteristics of SNPs allow them to be amenable to automated, large-scale, high-throughput genotype analysis. This has been the

driving force to develop new methods and techniques in the quest to better understand complex diseases which will have a tremendous impact on human biology.

1.2 Birth Defects

A birth defect, or congenital malformation, is defined as an abnormality of structure, function or metabolism present at birth that results in physical or mental disabilities or death (March of Dimes 2007). Birth defects are the result of an abnormality during the developmental process and can occur in any major organ or part of the body. Most birth defects occur during the first three months of pregnancy and their severity ranges from mild implications to serious complications. Some birth defects can be life threatening, lead to lifelong disability and require costly medical care and multiple hospitalisations. Some can be diagnosed through prenatal screening (e.g. Down syndrome), at birth (e.g. achondroplasia), within the first few years of childhood (e.g. phenylketonuria), or anytime later in life (e.g. Huntington's disease).

Approximately 3% of babies are born with birth defects (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) 2006; Greenberg 1991; Moore 1988b). By the end of the first year, detection of malformations that were not obvious at birth increases to 6% (Moore 1988b). Birth defects are the leading cause of death in the first year of life in the developed world (Martin *et al.* 2005; Pinar 2004). Birth defects can occur as an isolated abnormality or in association with or combined with other abnormalities (Greenberg 1991). When multiple defects occur together and have a similar cause, they are called syndromes (Greenberg 1991). If two or more defects appear together but do not share the same cause, they are called associations (Greenberg 1991). Known causes of birth defects include single gene disorders, chromosome abnormalities and environmental

exposures such as infectious diseases or harmful chemical agents during pregnancy (Mitchell 2005). Birth defects can be grouped into four categories: structural and metabolic abnormalities; congenital infections; and other conditions (Copp 1994; March of Dimes 2007; Stevenson 1993).

Structural birth defects are the result of abnormal development in which an internal or external body part is missing or has formed incorrectly. Examples of a structural defect would be a cleft lip and a cleft palate (Mitchell 1997). Metabolic defects are caused by a biochemical disruption from missing or incorrectly formed enzymes which facilitate the conversion of various substrates into other products. An imbalance will create either a deficiency, or an accumulation of substrates. A deficiency may reduce the ability to synthesise essential compounds while substrate accumulation can be toxic or interfere with normal function (Cummings 1994). Gaucher's disease is an example of a metabolic birth defect (Brady 2006). This disease causes an abnormal build-up of a fatty substance called glucocerebroside throughout the body that becomes toxic to organs and tissues, resulting in progressive and permanent damage (Beutler 1995).

Birth defects resulting from congenital infections appear when a mother acquires an infection prior to or during pregnancy and it can cause deafness, blindness, mental retardation, or heart defects. Cytomegalovirus and rubella are common congenital infections (Moore 1988b). Other conditions that cause birth defects are fetal alcohol syndrome, illicit drug use, and Rhesus disease. To date, several thousand different birth defects have been identified, however, the causes of 70% of birth defects are still unknown (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) 2006).

1.3 Neural Tube Defects

Neural tube defects (NTDs) are an important category of birth defects. These congenital malformations of the central nervous system (CNS) are the second most common birth defects, the first being congenital cardiovascular abnormalities (Manning and Archer 2001). Congenital defects of the CNS arise from complex embryological malformations related to the growth and development of the brain, skull and spinal cord. Defects may include all congenital abnormalities which involve the failure of the neural tube to properly close during the fourth week of human embryogenesis, with defects occurring at any point along the formation of the spinal cord, either rostrally from the developing brain and caudally to the sacrum (Finnell *et al.* 2003). Their severity depends on the size, level or location of the defect along the neuroaxis of the embryo and whether the defect crosses CNS segmental boundaries.

Many NTDs often results in exposure of neural tissue to the environment. All NTDs appear to be etiologically heterogeneous (Holmes *et al.*, 1976) and multifactorial in origin; their cause is attributed to a combination of genetic and environmental factors. The most important environmental factors include geography, month of conception, epidemic trends, maternal age, birth order, socio-economic class, maternal diet, maternal diabetes, maternal obesity, and maternal illness and drug exposure (Elwood 1992).

A genetic predisposition for NTDs has been supported by several lines of evidence. The incidence of NTDs varies greatly among populations and ethnic groups, suggesting that there are genetic factors that may explain the differences in prevalence (Copp and Bernfield 1994). There is a significantly higher prevalence of consanguinity

among parents of infants with NTDs, suggesting a clustering of affecting genes within families that may possibly contribute to NTD in some way (Elwood 1992). The risk of occurrence of NTDs in offspring of parents with prior affected pregnancies is substantially higher not only for those parents but also for their first-, second-, and thirddegree relatives. The risk for NTDs is highest among first-degree relatives and decreases for more distant relatives. The risk of occurrence for siblings of an affected individual is 2-5%, representing a 25-50 fold increase compared to the general population (Elwood 1992). The increased risk also appears to extend to cousins of the affected individual, although possibly to only maternal cousins (Carter 1974). The risk of reoccurrence, for women who have had one affected infant, is increased by at least 1-3% above that of the general population (Papp et al. 1997; Pietrzyk 1983; Swerts et al. 1987; Thunem et al. 1988). In addition, females and monozygotic twins appear to be more prone to NTD (Hall 1998). Neumann et al. (1994) interpreted such data to argue that human NTDs exhibit approximately 60% heritability. These observations support a prominent role for genetically inherited components in the occurrence of NTDs.

The term neural tube defect encompasses a broad range of malformations, rendering this condition difficult to classify. The spectrum includes: anencephaly; spina bifida; encephalocele; iniencephaly and craniorachischisis (Figure 1) (Hall 1998). Classification of NTDs varies among the medical literature. NTDs can be grouped as "open" where the brain and/or spinal cord are exposed at birth through a defect in the skull or vertebrae, or "closed" where the spinal defect is covered by skin (Elwood 1992; Mitchell 2005). They can also be typed as NTDs that affect cranial or spinal structures (Frey and Hauser 2003). Another way of classifying NTDs is based on its position

along the length of the neural tube, whether it is high or low (Blatter *et al.* 1997). This classification is similar to that of the cranial/spinal grouping. Newer classification schemes attempt to divide these malformations by their locations rather than by gross anatomical characteristics.



Figure 1 – Types of Neural Tube Defects

1.3.1 Anencephaly

The two most common types of NTDs observed in humans are anencephaly and spina bifida cystica (Detrait *et al.* 2005; Hall 1998). Anencephaly was first described by von Recklinghausen in 1886 in which he suggested that the birth defect is caused by improper closure of the neural tube (von Recklinghausen 1886). Anencephaly comprises 50-65% of all NTDs and is immediately noticeable at birth (Hunter 1993; Thomas *et al.* 1994). This condition is lethal; most infants are stillborn or die shortly

after birth, usually within 48 hours (Elwood 1992; Hunter 1993). This type of malformation results from incomplete closure of the cephalic portion of the neural tube leading to partial (meroanencephaly) or complete absence (holoanencephaly) of the cranial vault (skull), overlying tissues and cerebral hemispheres as well as an abnormal development of the skull base. The remaining degenerated brain tissue that consists of a small, spongy, vascular mass of disorganised neural tissue is referred to as the 'area cerebrovasculosa' (Elwood 1992). Holoanencephaly accounts for 65% of anencephaly cases and is characterised by a defect that extends through the foramen magnum (Myrianthopoulos and Melnick 1987). Meroanencephaly is a milder defect in which the area cerebrovasculosa protrudes through a partially formed skull (Myrianthopoulos and Melnick 1987). In both types, the eyes are bulging, giving a frog-like appearance and the neck is usually short (Figure 2) (El-Ghani 2006). The brain stem is present but is usually incomplete; the infant's face has the characteristic appearance of an elevated and pointed nose (Elwood 1992).



Figure 2 – Infant affected with anencephaly (Cohen 2002)

1.3.2 Craniorachischisis

Craniorachischisis, sometimes considered a subtype of anencephaly, is a rare and severe condition in which the neural folds never elevate to fuse along the entire length of the embryo causing incomplete closure of the skull and spinal column (Finnell *et al.* 2003). This type of malformation is characterised as an encephaly with continuous involvement of the spine and no meninges covering the neural tissue. Like an encephaly, this condition is lethal (Hall 1998) and 80% of holoanencephaly cases are associated with craniorachischisis (Melnick and Myrianthopoulos 1987). The defect can be limited to the cervical region or the entire spine resulting in the CNS being exposed to the surrounding amniotic fluid, thus causing necrosis, degeneration or angioma-like formations. The condition is sometimes associated with severe anterior flexion of the spine, causing the infant to gaze upward (Figure 3) (Hunter 1993).



Figure 3 – Child affected with craniorachischisis (Moore et al. 1997)

1.3.3 Iniencephaly

Iniencephaly is a very rare NTD that combines extreme retroflexion of the head with severe distortion of the spine. Affected newborns do not generally live more than a few hours. The disorder is more common among females by a ratio of 10:1 (Hunter 1993). Iniencephaly is characterised by a defect in the occipital region accompanied by cervical and thoracic vertebrae that are partially or completely absent, with the remaining vertebrae irregularly fused and with defective closure of the vertebral arches. This malformation results in fusion of the cranial area to the caudal area, causing continuity of the skin of the face to the chest and the skin of the scalp to the back. This condition is similar to craniorachischisis with its retroflexion of the spine; however, in the latter the cervical and thoracic vertebrae remain identifiable. Most infants tend to be short with a disproportionately large head and an absent neck (Figure 4). Individuals with iniencephaly usually have other associated anomalies such as anencephaly and/or a meningomyelocele present (Hunter 1993).



Figure 4 – Newborns with iniencephaly (Moore et al. 1997)

1.3.4 Encephalocele

Encephalocele is apparent upon examination of the newborn and is relatively less common than spina bifida and anencephaly (Hunter 1993). This birth defect is thought to be due to the failure of closure of the anterior neural tube at a slightly later stage of embryogenesis than in anencephaly. This condition is characterised by the incomplete development of the skull which results in a saccular herniation that extends through the midline defect in the calvaria (Figure 5). Pressure within the skull subsequently pushes cranial tissue out through the opening (El-Ghani 2006). The contents of the sac may contain one or all of the following intracranial contents: the protective membranes normally covering the brain known as the meninges;



Figure 5 – Child with encephalocele (Cohen 2002)

cerebrospinal fluid (CSF); and/or some brain tissue. Herniation of the meninges through the cranial defect is termed 'cranial meningocele', whereas herniation of brain tissue, meninges and CSF through the bony defect is called an 'encephalocele' (El-Ghani 2006). The meninges can grow to cover the protrusion as skin does in some cases. The severity of the protrusion can vary in size; varying from very small to larger than the head of the infant. In either case, the sac must be excised so that the skin does not erode and cause meningitis. Encephalocele can be classified as occipital, anterior or parietal (Cohen 2002); the frequencies being about 75%, 10% and 15% respectively within the US population (Lemire 1988). The herniated sac can also be covered with either normal skin or a thin epithelium (Campbell *et al.* 1986). The neurological impairment depends on the extent of brain involvement; there can be little to no brain tissue or the protrusion may contain a significant fraction of the brain

resulting in severe brain damage. Thus, the greater the neural abnormalities, the greater the rate of mental retardation (Bozinov *et al.* 2005).

1.3.5 Spina Bifida

Spina bifida (SB), also known as spinal dysraphism, means 'split spine' in Latin and can be referred to as 'open spine' (Freeman 1980). This term is used to describe many varieties of lesions due to midline separation of the vertebrae (Elwood 1992). It is a posterior NTD characterised by caudal lesions affecting the spinal cord, vertebrae and skin (Botto *et al.* 1999). This birth defect presents at birth with a lesion on the back (Freeman 1980). SB varies in severity, ranging from asymptomatic to clinically significant types. This condition results from failure of the halves of the vertebral arch of one or more vertebrae to develop normally and fuse in the median plane (Moore 1988). Lesions can occur at any location along the spine and vary in size from a single vertebra to the entire neuroaxis (Hunter 1993). SB is subdivided into three main classes: spina bifida occulta (SBO), spina bifida cystic or aperta and myeloschisis.

SBO, often called 'hidden' spina bifida, is the mildest form of spina bifida in which disability is rarely seen (Northrup and Volcik 2000). This malformation usually affects only one or two vertebrae. The split in the vertebrae is so small that the spinal cord and the meninges are in their normal position within the vertebral canal and are usually not involved or herniated. Thus there is no opening in the back or sac protruding and the defect is completely covered by skin (Figure 6). Spina bifida occulta occurs mostly in the lumbosacral region of the spine in the L5, S1 and/or S2 vertebrae in about 10-25% of healthy individuals and is regarded as a normal variation in the population (Botto *et al.* 1999; Moore 1988b; SBHAC 2000). In many cases, it is neurologically

asymptomatic and is often diagnosed incidentally during a radiographic exam of the lower spine (EI-Ghani 2006). However, if several vertebrae are affected bowel, bladder and motor problems, weakness and numbness of lower limbs, as well as foot deformities may arise (SBHAC 2000).



Figure 6 - Spina Bifida Occulta (Botto et al. 1999)

Approximately 80% of individuals with spinal cord malformations exhibit some type of skin abnormality overlying the defect which can also be indicative of the condition (Kinsman 2001; van der Put *et al.* 2001). These skin defects include: a hairy patch; fatty lump (lipoma); hemangioma; dark spots or birthmarks; skin tract or sinus (i.e. a deep dimple); and hypopigmented spots (Figure 7) (Kinsman 2001).

Spina bifida cystica or aperta is a severe open neural tube defect because it involves the protrusion of a herniated sac containing meninges or meninges and spinal cord tissue through a defect in the vertebral arches (Northrup and Volcik 2000). It is termed cystica because of the cyst-like sac that is associated with this type of malformation. Individuals affected can survive into adulthood with considerable disability depending on the severity, type and location of the lesion. Spina bifida cystica has two subclasses: myelomeningocele or meningomyelocele and meningocele. Although this

condition can occur at any level, it most commonly occurs in the lumbar or lumbosacral regions of the spine (Moore 1988b).



Figure 7 – Examples of skin abnormalities associated with Spina Bifida such as a dimple (Moore 1988b); a tuft of hair and lipoma (Pierre-Kahn *et al.* 1997)

In about 10% of SB cases the malformation consists of a dorsal protrusion of a fluid-distended sac through the incompletely formed vertebrae. This meningocele contains only meninges and CSF (Hunter 1993). The spinal cord and spinal roots are in their normal position and the sac is usually, but not always, covered by normal skin (Figure 8) (Northrup and Volcik 2000). The defect can be surgically repaired with little nerve damage.



Figure 8 - Spina bifida meningocele (Botto et al. 1999)

About 90% of SB cases in neonates are myelomeningoceles (Hunter 1993). This condition is characterised by saccular herniation containing the spinal cord and/or nerve

roots, CSF and the meninges through a large vertebral defect of the spine (Figure 9) (Botto *et al.* 1999). The lesion may be covered by a thin layer of skin or a transparent membrane (Kaplan *et al.* 2005). The top of the protruding sac is often a soft, fragile, "area medullavasculosa" consisting of blood vessels, pia mater and neural remnants (Hunter 1993).



Figure 9 – Spina bifida myelomeningocele (Botto et al. 1999)

Meningomyelocele is more severe than meningocele because the condition results in a marked neurological deficit inferior to the level of the protruding sac (Northrup and Volcik 2000). SB myelomeningocele demonstrates variable degrees of neurological impairment based on three factors: location of lesion; extent of lesion; and interruption of the spinal cord or spinal cord and tissue involvement. In fact, 99% of children born with an open NTD have some type of handicap which can include: motor and sensory dysfunction or paralysis of lower limbs; anaesthesia of the skin; poor or nearly absent bladder and bowel control, and abnormalities of hips, knees, or feet (e.g. club foot and rocker bottom foot) (El-Ghani 2006; Northrup and Volcik 2000; Padmanabhan 2006). Other complications commonly seen are severe forms of scoliosis, kyphosis or lordosis as well as meningitis, tethered cord syndrome and

diastematomyelia (Kaplan *et al.* 2005). Patients with more severe forms of SB have Arnold-Chiari type II malformation of the cerebellum which is believed to be a secondary effect of hydrocephalus (Lemire 1988). Hydrocephalus is the accumulation of CSF in the ventricles of the brain and/or between the brain and dura mater (Moore 1988). As a result of the NTD, the CSF is unable to drain normally causing the head to become enlarged. All individuals with thoracic SB and most of the patients with lumbosacral SB are at increased risk for hydrocephalus and Arnold Chiari type II malformation (McLone and Dias 2003; Rintoul *et al.* 2002). Hydrocephalus is associated with 90% of lumbosacral SB; cervical, thoracic, and sacral lesions are less often complicated with hydrocephalus (Figure 10) (Hunter 1993; Lemire 1988).



Figure 10 – Thoracic and lumbar myelomeningocele (Moore 1988b); lumbar myelomeningocele (Davies and Duran 2003).

The third and most severe type of SB is called myeloschisis. This defect occurs when the developed spinal cord is exposed to the external environment, because the dermal or meningeal covering is absent. There is no cystic sac observed in this condition and hair is usually found growing around the defect. CSF leaches from the
opening of the affected area and the spinal cord is represented as a raw, red, flattened mass of nervous tissue (Figure 11) (Moore 1988b). This causes paralysis of the lower limbs and pelvic organs (Moore 1988). Like meningomyelocele, there are the same associated complications and chance for severe infection and if not corrected can cause death (Kaplan *et al.* 2005).



Figure 11 – Cases of myeloschisis (Akiyama et al. 2006; Moore 1988b)

1.4 Screening for Neural Tube Defects

Screening programs aid in identifying pregnant women with increased risks for various conditions. Screening can lead to four possible outcomes: true positives which correctly identifies an individual as affected with the condition; false positives which incorrectly identifies an unaffected person as affected; true negative which correctly identifies an individual as unaffected and a false negative which incorrectly identifies an affected with the condition (Ormond 1997). Women who show positive results are offered a specific diagnostic test such as a targeted ultrasound examination, amniocentesis, or other obstetrical interventions. Today's screening techniques identify fetuses with chromosomal abnormalities (i.e. Down syndrome) and women at high risk for obstetrical complications during the third trimester (Rose and Mennuti 1993). The detection of maternal serum α -fetoprotein (MSAFP) is the earliest

non-invasive procedure that can be used during pregnancy to acquire information about the fetus (Rose and Mennuti 1993). α-Fetoprotein (AFP) is the first embryonal serum protein that is produced during the stages of fetal life (Muller 2003). It is filtered by the fetal kidneys and excreted through fetal urine into the amniotic fluid and then enters into maternal circulation by diffusion through the membranes or the placenta (Fuhrmann and Weitzel 1985). Brock and Sutcliffe (1972) first discovered that there was a significantly elevated amount of AFP in women carrying fetuses affected with open NTDs. The association between NTDs and increased AFP values in maternal blood has been shown in many studies (Brock *et al.* 1973; Brock *et al.* 1974; Harris *et al.* 1974; Seller *et al.* 1974; Wald *et al.* 1974). In the presence of an open NTD, large amounts of AFP is released into the amniotic fluid from the exposed lesion, causing an increased diffusion into the maternal serum (Fuhrmann and Weitzel 1985). Studies have lead to routine laboratory testing for prenatal diagnosis of NTDs (Wald *et al.* 1977).

MSAFP concentration peaks in the second trimester to a maximum at about 30 weeks of gestation, and then declines until term (Drugan *et al.* 2001; Seppala and Ruoslahti 1973). For screening in the UK (Wald *et al.* 1977), a collaborative study determined that the optimal time for increased sensitivity to perform this test is between 16 to 18 weeks gestation. During this period, the AFP levels are about four times greater in open NTD pregnancies than in unaffected pregnancies (Wald 1992). AFP levels can, however, be measured between 14 to 22 weeks of completed pregnancy but with lowered sensitivity (Ormond 1997; Rose and Mennuti 1993). As the fetus matures, AFP gradually decreases since albumin replaces AFP as the principal fetal plasma protein (Drugan *et al.* 2001). Due to the variation of AFP concentrations, reference

ranges at each gestational age must be clearly determined prior to maternal serum or amniotic fluid testing (Muller 2003). Closed SB and encephaloceles are difficult to detect since MSAFP levels are often not elevated because the defect is skin covered causing AFP not to be released as much as an open NTD (Ormond 1997).





A normal MSAFP result does not ensure an infant without abnormality nor does abnormal values conclusively indicate an abnormality present (Figure 12). Rather, elevated values indicate an increased risk that warrants further testing. False positives results may also be due to various factors such as: fetal demise, blood contamination, or serious malformations other than a NTD (Wald 1992). Abnormal MSAFP levels are not exclusively observed in NTDs, they can also be seen in several other congenital abnormalities such as abdominal wall defects (omphalocele and gastroschisis), skin defects like epidermolysis bullosa and aplasia cutis, congenital nephrosis, renal agenesis, sacroccycgeal teratoma, hemangioma, and bladder and cloacal exstrophy (Drugan *et al.* 2001; Harmon *et al.* 1995; Nadel *et al.* 1990). Abnormal MSAFP value can also be caused by other reasons such as: the presence of multiple gestations, incorrect assessment of fetal age, and pregnancies at high risk for poor outcomes.

MSAFP levels in twin pregnancies are approximately double those observed in singleton pregnancies, and they are even higher for three or more fetuses (Wald *et al.* 1975). Elevated levels can be explained by the greater resorption area for transamniotic AFP transfer (Fuhrmann and Weitzel 1985). This may cause interpretation to be difficult resulting in false positive or false negative results (Johnson *et al.* 1989). Underestimation of gestational age is the most common reason for an elevated maternal MSAFP (Rose and Mennuti 1993). Patients with inaccurate gestation times can result in either false positive or false negative results. Gestational age is usually verified during a subsequent ultrasound examination.

Increased AFP levels may also indicate a higher risk for spontaneous abortion, impeding intra-uterine death (Fuhrmann and Weitzel 1985). Akinbiyi (1996) demonstrated that women with unexplained elevated MSAFP are at increased risk of pre-term labor, ante-partum hemorrhage and intra-uterine growth restriction. Early identification of these high risk patients warrants close monitoring and supervision of the pregnancy. Furthermore, other factors that affect the calculation of MSAFP levels and should be considered during the interpretation of results include: maternal ethnicity, maternal weight, and insulin-dependant diabetes. Women of Afro-Caribbean origin have AFP levels about 10-15% higher than other women but have a lower prevalence of NTDs (Crandall *et al.* 1983; Cuckle 1994). This factor can cause a disproportionate number of women to have raised AFP levels. Women of Asian background have

MSAFP levels slightly elevated levels while Hispanic women have decreased MSAFP levels (Benn *et al.* 1997; Crandall *et al.* 1983).

Maternal weight and MSAFP concentrations have been found to be inversely related (Crandall *et al.* 1983). In larger women, increased plasma volumes can dilute the amount of AFP present and can lead to an underestimation of the AFP value. The reverse can be seen in smaller women (Ormond 1997; Wald 1992). This can lead to misidentifying a pregnancy as a high or low risk for NTDs (Adams *et al.* 1984). Women with insulin-dependant diabetes are at an increased risk of having children with a NTD or other structural abnormalities (Milunsky 1982). MSAFP levels are reduced in diabetics by about 25% (Cuckle 1994; Wald *et al.* 1979b). This could lead to erroneous 'normal' values causing a decrease in the sensitivity of the test.

When abnormal MSAFP levels are encountered it is the preliminary indication of the presence of an abnormality and the expecting parents are usually provided with genetic counselling in which the next steps are discussed (Figure 13). An ultrasound examination is usually performed to identify multiple gestations, intra-uterine death, and to verify gestational age. The observation of multiple gestations and fetal demise require further special prenatal care. Approximately 40% of elevated MSAFP cases are caused by incorrect gestational dating, with most being underestimated. Gestational age is determined by measuring from one outer edge of the fetal skull to the other in a transverse section. This is called the biparietal diameter (BPD) (Nicolaides *et al.* 1986). Wald *et al.* (1980) demonstrated that fetuses with SB had a mean BPD 16% lower than unaffected pregnancies at the same gestational ages.



Figure 13 – Suggested Neural Tube Defect Determination Protocol. AFP- alpha-fetoprotein, AChE – acetylcholinesterase, AFAFP – amniotic fluid alpha-fetoprotein, MoM – multiple of the median (Rose and Mennuti 1993).

This factor would produce an apparently earlier gestational age thus making the MSAFP value appear even higher. The detection rate for open SB is then significantly increased to 90% or more (Wald *et al.* 1980). If there is a discrepancy of more than one or two weeks in gestational age, the MSAFP is recalculated (Canick 1992). For women with normal MSAFP levels based on ultrasound dating, no further testing is recommended. As gestational age increases, MSAFP values tend to regress toward the mean of their group (Knight *et al.* 1988). In NTD affected pregnancies, MSAFP levels would increase, however, unaffected pregnancies would result in decreased MSAFP levels (Ormond 1997). Those women who have their MSAFP test repeated,

30-40% of them would have a normal level on the second test, contributing to a lower risk for NTDs (Burton 1988). If levels are still elevated after a second test, the women are then offered a high resolution ultrasound examination to scan for anomalies.

Detailed ultrasound examination is an alternative approach for the evaluation of the patients with high MSAFP levels. When combined with MSAFP screening, NTD detection rates are greatly improved. Anencephaly was the first type of NTD to be observed by ultrasound (Stephenson 2003). Today, anencephaly is virtually impossible to miss during a sonographic examination and can be detected as early as 12-13 weeks (Aubry *et al.* 2003). At 22 weeks of gestation, it is possible to diagnose NTDs such as encephalocele, SB meningocele, SB myelomeningocele, and sometimes SBO (Aubry *et al.* 2003). Since SB can be missed by AFP screening and amniocentesis, sonography becomes a valuable tool in its identification (Wingate 2004). Sonography can visualise the cranial or spinal defect when the fetus is in a position with the amniotic fluid surrounding the protruding mass (i.e. Meningocele: Figure 14). Obvious disruption in the contour of fetal skin or bulging within the posterior contour of the fetal back are indicative of irregularities of the spine (Wingate 2004).

Scanning the spine is also necessary to verify proper fusion of the vertebral arches which appear U-shaped if open. Spina bifida occulta can be extremely difficult to identify in the fetus since the defect is skin-covered and without a mass protruding. SBC, conversely, is more recognisable due to these protrusions. Brain and cranial abnormalities signify the possibility of a neural tube malformation, making it possible to detect NTDs so tiny that the lesion itself is barely noticeable or when the spine is difficult to visualise adequately.



Figure 14 – Spina Bifida with meningocele image with a sac containing CSF and meninges protruding through a sacral defect (Stephenson 2003).

Nicolaides *et al.* (1986) first described cranial anatomy alterations that were consistent features present in virtually all fetuses with SB, termed the lemon and banana signs (Figure 15). The lemon sign is due to temporal bone malformation and is represented by the 'scalloping', or pinching, of the frontal bones of the fetal skull producing a lemon shaped skull (Wald 1992). The lemon sign is indicative of an closed NTD more frequently than the banana sign (Nyberg *et al.* 1988). The banana sign is caused by to the downward pulling of the cerebellum through the cisterna magna causing a distortion of the cerebellar hemispheres (Harmon *et al.* 1995). The cerebellum exhibits an abnormal anterior curvature causing it to appear banana shaped which would normally look like a dumbbell (Wingate 2004). This feature is associated with the Arnorld-Chiari type II malformation (Aubry *et al.* 2003). Recognition of either signs



Figure 15 – Schematic representation (Left:(Nicolaides *et al.* 1986)) a sonographic illustration (Right: (Ghi *et al.* 2006)) of the banana and lemon signs in a fetus with SB.

is definitive evidence for the presence of a NTD in sonograms obtained before 24 weeks gestation (Nicolaides *et al.* 1986). Researchers have found that the lemon sign has a detection rate of 98% with a false positive rate of 0.8% for open SB; the rates for the banana sign are similar (Campbell *et al.* 1987; Nicolaides *et al.* 1986; Nyberg *et al.* 1988; Pilu *et al.* 1988; Van den Hof *et al.* 1990) . These markers will likely improve the diagnostic accuracy of ultrasonography in the evaluation of pregnancies at high risk for this fetal abnormality. Increasing resolution of sonography equipment and improved training of ultrasonographers will advance the sensitivity of ultrasound diagnosis. Van den Hof *et al.* (1990) reported accuracies as high as 100% for the sonographic diagnosis of open spina bifida in 130 fetuses. Targeted sonographic evaluation of the fetus for NTD, is remarkably accurate with a sensitivity of 97%, specificity of 100%, and the positive and negative predictive values are close to 100% (Lennon and Gray 1999). It must be noted, however, that sensitivity is not the same for each anomaly (Nadel *et al.* 1990).

Targeted ultrasound is sometimes performed in addition to or in place of amniocentesis (d'Ercole et al. 2003; Kooper et al. 2007; Nadel et al. 1990). There is a debate as to whether it is necessary to perform amniocentesis as the procedure carries significant risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes with an estimated 0.5% fetal mortality rate (Kolata 1980; Tabor et al. 1986). Nadel et al. (1990) suggest that a sonographic examination is a sufficient alternative to amniocentesis for the diagnosis of a NTD in patients with moderate elevations of the normal median (MoM) levels. AFP levels are expressed in multiples of the MoM established for each gestational week. Lennon and Gray (1999) believe that amniocentesis should be performed for the following situations: where the patient is at risk for a chromosomal disorder, an ultrasound finding suspicious for a chromosomal abnormality, greater than 3.0 MoM MSAFP results despite a normal scan, inability to properly visualise the fetal anatomy, or where the patient requests the procedure after adequate counselling. Samples of amniotic fluid can be assayed for amniotic fluid AFP (AFAFP), which will confirm the elevated MSAFP if a defect is present. Wald et al. (1989) developed an effective and economical procedure to perform both types of biochemical testing. If MSAFP levels are elevated, but AFAFP values are normal with a normal ultrasound, an open NTD can be excluded with a high degree of confidence. These women are at high risk for obstetrical complications and should be monitored during their third trimester (Rose and Mennuti 1993). A secondary important diagnostic test, to evaluate acetylcholinesterase (AChE) (Collins et al. 2003) levels, is performed concurrently with the AFAFP and enables the distinction between NTDs and other AFAFP related fetal defects (Kooper et al. 2007). Elevated acetylcholinesterase levels, which leak into the amniotic fluid also indicates an open

neural tube defect (Kolata 1980). Acetylcholinesterase is an enzyme that is contained in blood cells, muscle and neural tissue (Rose and Mennuti 1993). When amniotic fluid AFP and AChE determinations are combined and both show elevated levels, it is indicative of open NTD, thus eliminating false positive results of the AFP tests (Brock *et al.* 1985; Wald 1981). The combination of both measurements renders highly accurate diagnosis of open NTD via amniocentesis, with a 99% detection rate (Ormond 1997).

Nevertheless, cytogenetic evaluation could shed light on the genetic factors of NTDs and is recommended by some researchers (Babcook *et al.* 1995; d'Ercole *et al.* 2003; Harmon *et al.* 1995). Chromosomal abnormalities were diagnosed between 6.5-17% karyotypes of fetuses with NTDs (Babcook *et al.* 1995; Harmon *et al.* 1995; Kennedy *et al.* 1998; Sepulveda *et al.* 2004). The need to further investigate this area justifies the risk of amniocentesis as it would affect the prognosis, intervention, outcome, and recurrence risks for future pregnancies.

Early diagnosis decrease the morbidity and mortality rates by allowing preparation for the appropriate delivery strategies and post-delivery measures (Rose and Mennuti 1993). Cesarean section prior to labor has been reported to be more beneficial, for the infant who has greater neurological function, than those undergoing labor before cesarean section or vaginal delivery (Luthy *et al.* 1991). Expectant parents are also provided with the necessary information early enough to make an informed decision as whether to terminate a pregnancy or not. The combination of all or most of these detection methods gives a clear indication of abnormality with a high degree of confidence.

1.5 Mutations of Interest

1.5.1 Folic Acid and Homocysteine Metabolic pathway

Folate deficiency has been associated with the occurrence and reoccurrence of selected birth defects, and studies have demonstrated that the risk of NTD to be dramatically reduced (by up to at least 75%) by preconceptional dietary folic acid supplementation (Czeizel and Dudas 1992; MRC Vitamin Study Research Group 1991). Folic acid is known to contribute to three metabolic pathways: remethylation, the folate cycle, and transsulfuration (Cabrera *et al.* 2004). Although, the mechanism in which folic acid plays a protective role in preventing NTD is poorly understood, this suggests that folate-dependant enzymes may be functionally important in producing the disease phenotype.

It has been shown that concentrations of homocysteine are mildly elevated in some pregnant women who subsequently give birth to NTD affected babies (Kruger *et al.* 2000; Mills *et al.* 1995; Steegers-Theunissen *et al.* 1994; van der Put and Blom 2000). Genetic alterations in cystathionine ß-synthase (CBS) (Mudd 1989; Sebastio *et al.* 1995), in 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) (Goyette *et al.* 1995) and in methionine synthase (MS) (Leclerc *et al.* 1996) can cause elevated plasma homocysteine levels leading to homocystinuria. This suggests that defective genes in the folate-dependent homocysteine pathway (Figure 16) may be involved in the etiology of NTDs and are candidates for NTDs causes, from both a genetic and an environmental perspective.





1.5.2 5,10-Methylenetetrahydrafolate reductase

The folate-dependant enzyme, 5, 10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) (EC 1.5.1.20), is one of the principal means by which cells regulate intracellular concentrations of methionine and homocysteine. This enzyme catalyses the conversion of 5, 10-methylenetetrahydrofolate into 5-methylenetetrahydrofolate, the predominant circulatory form of folate, for use as a carbon donor for the remethylation of homocysteine to methionine (Frosst *et al.* 1995). The MTHFR gene was first isolated and mapped to chromosome 1p36.3 by Goyette *et al.* (1994) in which Frosst and colleagues (1995) first identified the cytosine to thymine (C \rightarrow T) transition in nucleotide position 677. This polymorphism leads to the substitution of an alanine to valine residue (Frosst *et al.* 1995) and is considered an autosomal recessive mutation (Bailey and Gregory 1999b).

The presence of the mutation in the homozygous state correlates with increased MTHFR thermolability and a 50% reduction in enzymatic activity (Kang *et al.* 1991;

Rozen 1996; van der Put et al. 1996; Volcik et al. 2000). Decreased MTHFR activity is associated with elevated homocysteine and red blood cell folate concentrations and decreased plasma folate levels (Koch et al. 1998; Melnick and Marazita 1998; Molloy et al. 1997; Shaw et al. 1998a; van der Put and Blom 2000; van der Put et al. 1997b). Homozygous mutant (TT) individuals have been reported to have significantly elevated plasma total homocysteine concentration compared to those who are homozygous (CC) and heterozygous (CT) (Bailey and Gregory 1999b; Friedman et al. 1999; Frosst et al. 1995). High homocysteine levels have also been noted in children affected with SB and who are either heterozygous or homozygous for the polymorphism (Bjorke-Monsen et al. 1997). The allelic frequency of the mutation in North America is approximately 35%, predisposing individuals to mild hyperhomocysteinemia when folate status is low (Christensen et al. 1999; Frosst et al. 1995; Jacques et al. 1996). The mutation is the most frequent genetic cause for mild to moderate hyperhomocysteinemia especially during times of folate insufficiency (Clark et al. 1998; Engbersen et al. 1995; Frosst et al. 1995; Kluijtmans et al. 1996; van der Put et al. 1998; Weisberg et al. 2001).

The homozygote (TT) genotype has been associated as a risk factor for NTDs in several studies. A Dutch study found a higher incidence of the MTHFR C677T mutation in patients and parents of SB cases than in the control samples (van der Put *et al.* 1995). Studies by Whitehead *et al.* (1995), Shields *et al.* (1999), Ou *et al.* (1996), de Franchis *et al.* (2002; de Franchis *et al.* 1998a), Shaw *et al.* (1998b), Kirke *et al.* (1996) support their findings. Those individuals found to be homozygous for this mutation were found to have a three to sevenfold increased risk for a NTD, while the risk for heterozygous individuals for the mutation were only slightly elevated over those wild

type homozygotes (CC) (Kirke *et al.* 1993; Ou *et al.* 1996; van der Put *et al.* 1995; Whitehead *et al.* 1995). Botto and Yang (2000) concluded that homozygosity in infants is associated with approximately a 70% increased risk for SB.

Other studies that supported Botto and Yang's findings (2000) and have also demonstrated that there was a further increased risk for NTD associated with the MTHFR C677T polymorphism when the mother and child are homozygous for the variant allele (TT) (Christensen *et al.* 1999; Pietrzyk *et al.* 2003; Shields *et al.* 1999; van der Put *et al.* 1996; Volcik *et al.* 2000). Johanning *et al.* (2002) and Kirke *et al.* (2004) also concluded an increased risk for NTDs in individuals who were heterozygotes and mutant homozygotes. Posey *et al.* (1996) calculated that 13% NTD cases can be attributed to the MTHFR C677T mutation homozygote (TT); and a total of 24% if the allele contributes also in heterozygotes.

Other studies however, failed to find evidence of association with MTHFR C677T in different populations such as Turkish, German and Mexican populations (Boduroglu *et al.* 1999; Gonzalez-Herrera *et al.* 2002; Johnson *et al.* 1999; Koch *et al.* 1998; Stegmann *et al.* 1999). These discrepancies may be caused by the variation of the MTHFR C677T frequency amongst different ethnic groups (Barber *et al.* 2000; Botto and Yang 2000; de Franchis *et al.* 1998a; de Franchis *et al.* 1995; Franco *et al.* Jan 1998; Frosst *et al.* 1995; Monsalve *et al.* 2003; Mornet *et al.* 1997; Papapetrou *et al.* 1996; Pepe *et al.* 1998; Shaw *et al.* 1998b; Ubbink *et al.* 1999; van der Put *et al.* 1997a; Wilcken and Wang 1996). This observed high variability in the prevalence of the T allele suggests that the TT genotype may only be a risk factor for NTDs in some ethnic groups and not in others (Papapetrou *et al.* 1996).

The heterozygotes (CT) and mutant homozygotes (TT) for the MTHFR C677T polymorphism produces a 50-60% reduction in enzyme activity than the wild-type, however with an adequate level of folate in the diet, the mutant homozygotes (TT) can exhibit normal folate levels in the blood (Botto and Yang 2000). Therefore the mutation may only be a risk factor in populations with poor nutrition and low folate levels in the diet. This could explain the conflicting studies (Shields *et al.* 1999). Nevertheless, a study conducted by van der Put and colleagues (1997a) observed frequencies in different populations and found that 9.2% of controls are homozygous (TT), while 14.5% of all mothers with a NT-affected child are homozygous (TT), and 16.4% of NT-affected individuals are homozygous (TT). Thus, the study demonstrated a statistically significant association of a 2-fold increased risk for NTD (van der Put *et al.* 1997a) and therefore should be regarded as a genetic risk factor for SB in some populations (Johnson *et al.* 1999).

A second polymorphism in the MTHFR gene has been characterised by van der Put and colleagues (1998) and Weisberg *et al.* (1998). The polymorphic variant is described as an A to C transition at nucleotide position 1298 (A1298C), resulting in a substitution of glutamate to alanine in the enzyme (van der Put *et al.* 1998). The mutation is also associated with decreased enzyme activity (van der Put *et al.* 1998; Weisberg *et al.* 1998; Weisberg *et al.* 2001) that is more pronounced in the homozygous genotype (CC) than in the heterozygous genotype (AC) or wild type (AA), and does not result in a thermolabile protein (Friedman *et al.* 1999). However, the effect of the MTHFR A1298C mutation on the enzyme activity and homocysteine concentration is less than that of the MTHFR C677T mutation (Dekou *et al.* 2001; Friedman *et al.* 1999;

van der Brandhof 2001; van der Put and Blom 2000; van der Put *et al.* 1998; Volcik *et al.* 2000; Weisberg *et al.* 1998). The allele frequency of the MTHFR A1298C polymorphism is similar to that of the MTHFR C677T polymorphism (Bailey and Gregory 1999a); however unlike the MTHFR C677T, the MTHFR A1298C mutation in either the heterozygous or homozygous state does not seem to be associated with elevated homocysteine levels (Isotalo *et al.* 2000; Medina and Amores-Sanchez 2000; van der Put *et al.* 1998; Weisberg *et al.* 2001).

Van der Put et al. (1998) observed an increase in the frequency of the MTHFR A1298C mutation in NTD-affected children. DeMarco et al. (2002) determined that the prevalence of heterozygotes (AC) and homozygotes (CC) is increased among NTD patients and mothers. Trembath et al. (1999) also demonstrated a significant association between the MTHFR A1298C allele and the risk of SB. Furthermore, individuals who are compound heterozygotes for both the MTHFR A1298C (AC) and MTHFR C677T (CT) alleles tend to have a biochemical profile similar to that seen among MTHFR C677T mutant homozygotes (TT); with increased homocysteine levels and decreased serum folate levels (Weisberg et al. 1998). The MTHFR 677T allele is also nearly always found in trans or cis configuration with the MTHFR 1298A allele and the MTHFR 1298C allele with the MTHFR 677C allele (Parle-McDermott et al. 2003b). The MTHFR C677T and MTHFR A1298C polymorphisms have never been observed in a compound homozygous state (MTHFR 677TT/1298CC) (Barber et al. 2000; van der Put et al. 1998). Compound heterozygosity was also observed to cause mildly elevated homocysteinemia (van der Put et al. 1998; Weisberg et al. 2001). Studies have reported an increased prevalence of the combined heterozygous genotype (MTHFR

677CT/1298AC) in NTD cases compared to controls (Akar *et al.* 2000; Barber *et al.* 2000; Dekou *et al.* 2001; Isotalo *et al.* 2000; Parle-McDermott *et al.* 2003b; Richter *et al.* 2001; Stegmann *et al.* 1999; Trembath *et al.* 1999; van der Put *et al.* 1998). Almost a three-fold increased risk for combined heterozygous-mutated genotype among NTD case compared with the MTHFR 677CC/1298AA genotype. Van der Put *et al.* (van der Put *et al.* 1998) calculated that combined heterozygosity for both mutations was correlated with 28% of NTDs. However, other studies fail to support their findings possibly due to comparatively small sample sizes (Parle-McDermott *et al.* 2003a; Yamada *et al.* 2001).

1.5.3 Methionine synthase

Since both hyperhomocysteinemia and elevated vitamin B12 levels are independent indicators of NTD risk, focus has pointed towards a potential role for methionine synthase (Gaughan *et al.* 2001; Kirke *et al.* 1993; Scott 1994). The methionine synthase (MS) enzyme (EC 2.1.1.13), with the use of vitamin B₁₂ as a cofactor and 5-MTHF as the methyl-group donor, catalyses the remethylation of homocysteine to tetrahydrofolate and methionine (Zhu *et al.* 2003). Thus, a deficiency in MS or vitamin B₁₂ should theoretically lead to increased plasma folate and plasma homocysteine suggesting its possible involvement in the etiology of NTDs. As well, maternal preconceptional dietary intake of methionine was associated to reduce the risk of NTD, thus supporting the role of methionine in NTDs (Shaw *et al.* 2002).

The methionine synthase gene is located on chromosome 1q43sw and was first cloned, sequenced and the mutation identified by Chen, Leclerc, Li and colleagues (Chen *et al.* 1997; Leclerc *et al.* 1996; Li *et al.* 1996b). A commonly observed genetic

polymorphism was an A to G transition at base pair 2756 that converts an aspartic acid into a glycine residue. Individuals who are deficient in this enzyme have high levels of homocysteine, low levels of plasma methionine, and clinical implications similar to those brought about by a deficiency of MTHFR activity (Frosst *et al.* 1995; Harmon *et al.* 1999; Mills *et al.* 1995; Mills *et al.* 1996) which may indirectly contribute to NTD risk (van der Put *et al.* 1997c).

Van der Put *et al.* (2000) speculate that the combination of low vitamin B12, together with the MS A2756G mutation could result in a decreased methylation of homocysteine to methionine. The MS 2756AA genotype is found to be associated with a modest, but significant increase in homocysteine levels (Chen *et al.* 2001; Harmon *et al.* 1999). Christensen *et al.* (1999) indicate that the homozygous mutant genotype (GG) conferred an increased risk for NTDs and the risk was further increased if both mother and child had this genotype. The MS 2756G allele frequency was observed to be slightly higher in SB patients, with a difference at the limit of statistical significance (Gueant-Rodriguez *et al.* 2003). Zhu *et al.* (2003) demonstrated that there was a higher frequency of the mutant genotype (GG) among NTD cases.

Johanning *et al.* (2000) has reported that associations between the 677T MTHFR mutation and the A2756G MS polymorphism slightly increased NTD risk. Morrison *et al.* (1998) also made a possible association with MTHFR in which mothers who had both variants (MS A2756G/ MTHFR C677T) were at increased risk for having a child with SB. Some studies fail to associate a risk with NTD (Brody *et al.* 1999; De Marco *et al.* 2002; Morrison *et al.* 1997; Shaw *et al.* 1999; van der Put *et al.* 1997c) however; these studies were relatively small with only sufficient statistical power to detect large effects.

1.5.4 Methionine synthase reductase

Since methionine synthase reductase (MTRR) (EC 2.1.1.135) is responsible in maintaining methionine synthase in an active state, it has also been studied for its involvement in NTDs. A MTRR deficiency will adversely affect the function of methionine synthase (Brody *et al.* 1999). The enzyme has been cloned by Leclerc and colleagues (1998) and localized to chromosome 5p15.2-15.3. A common polymorphism of the gene (MTRR A66G) has been identified, which substitutes an A to a G in nucleotide position 66 causing the amino acid change from isoleucine to methionine.

Individuals homozygous for the MTRR A66G mutation (GG) have been found to have hyperhomocysteinemia (Lucock et al. 2001). This finding was supported by Gaughan et al. (2001) who observed that a MTRR A66G polymorphism significantly influences the circulating homocysteine concentrations. While the MTRR A66G mutation combined with a low level of vitamin B₁₂ was found to increase the risk of NTDs (Gueant-Rodriguez et al. 2003; Wilson et al. 1999). Zhu et al. (2003) reported an association between the MTRR mutant genotype (AG or GG) and a threefold higher risk of NTD when compared to the AA genotype. Pietrzyk and colleagues (2003) demonstrated that the presence of the MTRR 66GG genotype increases the risk of SB. Doolin et al. (Doolin et al. 2002) found evidence of an increased risk of SB in the offspring of women with the MTRR AG and GG genotype, relative to the AA homozygotes. Wilson et al. (1999) observed that a combined genotype of MTHFR 677TT with MTRR 66GG in children and mothers have a fourfold and threefold increased risk for SB respectively (Wilson et al. 1999) which was supported by Pietrzyk et al. (2003). An Italian study found an increased risk of NTDs only when the MTHFR

677CC genotype was combined with the MTRR 66GG genotype (Gueant-Rodriguez *et al.* 2003) while Relton *et al.* (2003) also detected an interaction between MTHFR C677T and MTRR A66G in NTD cases, which supported the observations of Wilson *et al.* (Wilson *et al.* 1999). They also observed a maternal (MTRR A66G)-fetal (MTHFR C677T) interaction which elevated the NTD risk (Relton *et al.* 2003).

The presence of at least one high-risk allele (MS A2756G or MTRR A66G) is associated with an increased of SB in offspring and that this risk may be further increased when the mother is homozygous for the high risk allele (Doolin *et al.* 2002). Zhu *et al.* (2003) observed an exceptionally high frequency of double mutants of both MTRR and MS (AG and AG) among NTD cases. Some studies fail to make an association between MTRR variants in NTDs (Lucock *et al.* 2001), however their studies were limited and a larger population study is needed to confirm their results.

1.5.5 Cystathionine ß-synthase

Another key enzyme in homocysteine metabolism is cystathionine β -synthase (CBS) (EC 4.2.1.22). CBS catalyses an irreversible condensation of homocysteine and serine to cystathionine using vitamin B₆ as a cofactor (Mudd 1989; Quere *et al.* 1999). Kraus and colleagues (1994) first sequenced the CBS gene located on chromosome 21q22.3. CBS controls homocysteine levels by degrading homocysteine into cystathionine (Borcsok and Abeles 1982; Morrison *et al.* 1998). Deficiency in enzyme activity leads to elevated levels of homocysteine as well as methionine in plasma and urine (Mudd 1989). Abnormalities of this gene may result in enzyme deficiency and hyperhomocysteinemia, which is now recognised as a risk factor for neural tube defects (De Franchis *et al.* 1998b; Mills *et al.* 1995; Sperandeo *et al.* 1996; Tsai *et al.* 1996).

The identification of a 68 base pair insertion in the coding region of exon 8 of the CBS gene (Figure 17) was first documented in a homocystinuria patient (Sebastio *et al.* 1995) which has led to the study for its involvement in the etiology of NTDs. Increased rate of fetal loss has been reported in women with homocystinuria due to CBS deficiency (Mudd *et al.* 1985) and CBS abnormalities have been reported in a minority of NTD cases (Steegers-Theunissen *et al.* 1991).



Figure 17 – Cystathionine ß-synthase Insertion

Only a handful of studies have been done in regards to this mutation and its association with NTDs. Ramsbottom *et al.* (1997) and Morrison *et al.* (1998) fail to provide evidence for the insertion being associated with NTD in Irish, Dutch and British populations. In an Italian study, NTD patients homozygous for the MTHFR 677TT mutation was significantly associated with the CBS 844ins68 allele than the MTHFR 677TT controls (de Franchis 1997). The majority of studies have focused on the CBS insertion alone and have not assessed the presence of the other mutations (gene-gene interaction) linked to NTDs. Sperandeo *et al.* (1995) speculate that this insertion, in combination with the MTHFR 677TT homozygote, might further influence homocysteine metabolism. Ramsbottom *et al.* (1997) reported a non-significant increase in the frequency of cases that were heterozygous for the CBS 844ins68 allele among those

who were MTHFR 677TT homozygotes. Botto and Mastroiacovo (1998) observed that homozygosity for the CBS mutation was not a NTD risk factor but they reported a fivefold increased risk for NTD in individuals homozygous for the MTHFR C677T mutation combined with the CBS mutation. Relton *et al.* (2004) found that the MTHFR C677T variant in combination with the CBS 844ins68 variant inflates the effect of the MTHFR C677T variant. This interaction is supported by Speer *et al.* (1999) and de Franchis *et al.* (2002).

The CBS insertion event occurred fairly recently but it is found in all human populations (De Stefano *et al.* 1998). It has been demonstrated that this mutation in its heterozygous state is highly prevalent (Tsai *et al.* 1996); however its frequency varies extensively between ethnic and geographical backgrounds (De Franchis *et al.* 1998b; Franco *et al.* 1998). The ethnic variation is evident in the heterozygosity of the CBS gene mutant, which was found to be 13.5% in Caucasians while it was absent among Asians (Franco *et al.* 1998). However the significant heterogeneity between populations provides the potential for this mutation to be used as an anthropogenetic marker that would be able to distinguish between some of the major human population groups (Pepe *et al.* 1999).

Gene-nutrient, gene-environment, and gene-gene interactions should be considered in the etiology of NTDs. Numerous studies have indicated that the possession of more than one polymorphism at folate-dependant loci can elevate the risk of NTD (Morrison *et al.* 1998; van der Put *et al.* 1998; Wilson *et al.* 1999). Gene-gene interactions of seemingly neutral mutations might be related to the etiology of NTD (van der Put *et al.* 2001).

1.6 Mutation Detection

The methodological approach I developed uses existing multiplex polymerase chain reaction technology and fluorescent single nucleotide extension (SNE) methods. The SNE system used here is the single nucleotide polymorphism detection analysis system, called SnaPshot[™] (Applied Biosystems). This approach includes the use of capillary electrophoresis coupled with Genescan® analysis software.

My project involves the optimisation of three multiplex PCRs including an initial multiplex PCR, a multiplex hemi-nested PCR and a multiplex single base extension or SnaPshot[™] PCR. Each of the PCRs was performed consecutively and optimised to detect very low quantities of DNA and fragmented or damaged DNA. The fragment analysis was performed using capillary electrophoresis detection coupled with Genescan® analysis software. All three multiplex PCRs, used together, can serve as a novel tool to detect five of the mutations linked to neural tube defects rapidly with high specificity and sensitivity.

1.6.1 Nested and hemi-nested Polymerase Chain Reaction

Nested or hemi-nested PCR can be used following purification of the initial PCR product. The initial PCR product is used as template DNA for the successive round of PCR. The process can use one of the initial primers and a new primer (hemi-nested PCR) or two new primers (nested PCR), whose sequences are found inside the PCR product from the first reaction. This second PCR is intended to amplify a smaller secondary fragment primed within the first PCR product (Figure 18) (Mullis *et al.* 1986).

The nested PCR method, first demonstrated by Beck and Ho (1988), can be employed to improve sensitivity and specificity (Haqqi *et al.* 1988). Specificity can be increased as It would be unlikely that non-specific PCR products would contain the binding sites for the new primers (McPherson 2000). The second round of amplification increases sensitivity by producing a greater yield of the desired amplicon.



Figure 18 – Schematic of Nested and Hemi-nested PCR

An approximate 10⁴ enhancement of the target region can be obtained (McPherson 2000). This step can overcome amplification failure due to degradation which is ideal when working with degraded or ancient DNA that do not contain large amounts of intact regions of DNA greater than 200 base pairs (Hummel 2003).

1.6.2 Sequencing Polymerase Chain Reaction

Sequencing analysis permits the identification of the succession of bases within an amplified DNA fragment detecting all types of polymorphisms (Hummel 2003). Many techniques have been developed, however the automated Sanger sequencing method, first described by Sanger (Sanger *et al.* 1977b), is the most commonly used today. A sequencing PCR requires a second amplification following the initial PCR that amplifies the target region(s). A purification step is usually performed prior to and following the sequencing PCR to remove any unincorporated dNTPs, ddNTPs and primers. This PCR, sometimes referred to as an asymmetrical PCR, differs in that it requires only one primer resulting in a linear growth of single stranded DNA (Sanger *et al.* 1977b). The reaction mixture contains all the same reagents as the initial PCR plus fluorescently labelled dye-'terminating' 2', 3'-dideoxynucleotide triphosphates (ddNTPs). Thus, ddTTP, ddCTP, ddATP, ddGTP are labelled with a red, blue, green, and yellow fluorescing dye respectively. During polymerisation, the DNA polymerase adds dNTPs complementary to the template. When a ddNTP is incorporated rather than the

CATTATGAGTCTCTCAAGGTAAGTGGTAGAAACAGATTTTTGCTTGTTTTT

Figure 19 – An example of a sequencing electropherogram generated from the ABI 3100

corresponding dNTP, elongation terminates due to the absence of a hydroxyl group at the 3'-end of the ddNTP. This prevents the formation of the next phosphodiester bond necessary for DNA extension (McPherson 2000). This incorporation occurs randomly at all sites of the amplified PCR product resulting in single-stranded products of variable lengths representing all possible product length (primer +1 to primer +n). The single stranded amplification products are then electrophoresed via capillary electrophoresis and sorted by length, resulting in a succession of peaks of different colors representing the sequence of interest (Figure 19) (Li *et al.* 1999; Rosenblum *et al.* 1997).

1.6.3 Single Nucleotide Extension Polymerase Chain Reaction

A single nucleotide extension PCR (SNE-PCR), also known as mini-sequencing, involves the extension of an oligonucleotide by a single base with the aid of a DNA polymerase (Fiorentino et al. 2003; Syvanen et al. 1990; Tully et al. 1996). This project uses a commercially available kit from Applied Biosystems called SNaPshot[™] (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) in which the methodology was first described in detail by Turner et al. (2002). This technique is employed to identify a known polymorphism without having to sequence the entire PCR product, while still maintaining the same qualitative characteristics of sequence analysis (Fiorentino et al. 2003). It requires an initial amplification of a DNA fragment containing the polymorphic site of interest, which serves as template for the SNE-PCR. Following the initial PCR, the amplification products are purified with shrimp alkaline phosphatase (SAP) and exonuclease 1 (EXO1) enzymes to remove any remaining single-stranded primers and unincorporated dNTPs that could interfere with the subsequent reaction (Butler 2005). The SNE-PCR requires the same cyclical steps as a typical PCR (Figure 20). The SNaPshot[™] kit includes the fluorescent labelled ddNTPs, buffer and DNA polymerase compatible with any primer set. The SNE-PCR primers are specifically designed to be one base contiguous to the polymorphic site in either the forward or reverse orientation. Therefore, the primers anneal immediately 5' of the polymorphism and initiate the single-base extension reaction. The DNA polymerase extends the SNE primer by one base with a fluorescently dye-labelled terminating ddNTP, thus ending extension. Similar to sequencing PCR, each of the four nucleotides (ddNTPs) have their own dye color. The SNE-PCR undergoes 25 or more cycles to permit linear amplification of



Figure 20 – SNaPshot™ PCR Kit process (Applied Biosystems 2001)

fluorescent ddNTP addition to the SNE primer by the DNA polymerase. After the SNE-PCR is complete, the PCR products are purified with SAP to remove unincorporated fluorescent ddNTPs that could cause dye blobs and artifacts during capillary electrophoresis rendering the electropherogram difficult to interpret. The final products are separated by size via capillary electrophoresis in which the fluorescence is detected. The products are then analysed and the genotype is determined by identifying which dideoxynucleotide was incorporated at the polymorphic site. The color of the peak indicates the nucleotide present at the site of interest while the position of the peak correlates to the SNE primer's size plus one base pair and is used to differentiate the various SNP primers. One of the advantages of the SNE-PCR is that multiple polymorphisms can be analysed in parallel, known as a multiplex SNE-PCR, by separating the primers according to size and observing the incorporation of fluorescently-labelled ddNTPs (Tully *et al.* 1996).

1.6.4 Multiplex Polymerase Chain Reaction

A multiplex PCR uses two or more primer sets to amplify multiple target regions simultaneously within a single reaction (Edwards and Gibbs 1994). The primers amplify unique regions of DNA, both in individual pairs and in combinations of many primers, under a single set of reaction conditions (Markoulatos *et al.* 1999). This method was first described by Chamberlain *et al.* (1988) and has since proven a valuable tool in both clinical and research laboratories. The use of multiple primer sets saves sample material, time and effort, as well as cost. This approach also reduces the risk of contamination and increases throughput. In order for an accurate multiplex to be successful, a prerequisite is optimisation that involves strategic planning and multiple attempts (Markoulatos *et al.* 2002).

1.7 Development and Optimisation of Multiplex Methods

The development of an efficient PCR system requires strategic planning and extensive optimisation. This may take multiple attempts and various experiments to optimise the reaction conditions. Optimisation demands a delicate balance between the consistent and equal amplification of specific products and avoiding the production of non-specific products (Harris and Jones 1997). Optimisation can be easily obtained with one set of primers; however, with multiple primer sets a substantial amount of

optimisation is required. The addition of each new primer in a multiplex PCR reaction exponentially increases the complexity of possible primer interactions as well as the



Figure 21 – Multiplex Step-by-step approach (Henegariu et al. 1997).

chance of generating non-specific artifacts (Brownie *et al.* 1997; Butler *et al.* 2001). These non-specific products may be amplified more efficiently than the desired target, consuming reaction components necessary for the desired targets. This not only decreases the PCR efficiency and sensitivity, but also makes analysis of the results more difficult. Thus, the optimisation of multiplex PCR should aim to minimise or reduce such non-specific interactions. The development of an optimised multiplex PCR typically faces several challenges and difficulties including poor sensitivity and specificity, and/or preferential amplification of specific targets (Markoulatos *et al.* 2002). A successful multiplex PCR reaction requires the relative concentration of the primers, concentration of the PCR buffer, balance between the magnesium chloride and deoxynucleotide concentrations, cycling temperatures, and the amount of template DNA and DNA polymerase to be determined (Markoulatos *et al.* 2002). The two most critical factors in a highly specific and efficient multiplex PCR are primer design and optimal annealing temperature (Markoulatos *et al.* 2002).

1.7.1 Primer Design

A successful multiplex PCR enables similar amplification efficiencies for all the primer pairs and their respective targets. Each additional primer set in the reaction provides challenges to optimising the technique, challenges such as primer interference and the increase of non-specific priming. However, these difficulties can be overcome with the design of compatible and specific primer sets that achieve a balance between specificity and efficiency (Dieffenbach *et al.* 1993). Thus, primer sensitivity and specificity are the most important aspects of multiplex development. Many factors must be considered while designing primers (Dieffenbach *et al.* 1993; Nicodeme and Steyaert 1997; Robertson and Walsh-Weller 1998; Shuber *et al.* 1995; Wu *et al.* 1991). Here are a few suggested primer design guidelines:

 a) Primers should be sequence specific and should fully match the intended hybridisation sites. Detailed sequence information for primer binding sites is important in order to avoid non-specific amplification at other sites with similar

sequences and primer-template mismatch sites (Dieffenbach *et al.* 1993). To examine the similarity of the primer to other known sequences that may result in multiple binding sites for the primer and to verify the uniqueness of the primer sequence, a BLAST search can be conducted in GeneBank via the internet at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST (Altschul *et al.* 1997) (Butler 2005).

- b) Given that all primer sets must function under a single set of experimental conditions it is essential that they are designed to have nearly identical melting temperature (Dieffenbach *et al.* 1993).
- c) Primers should be between 18-30 bp in length (Harris and Jones 1997) and similar in size and nucleotide ratios. The shorter the primer, the more quickly it will anneal to the target DNA and form a stable double-stranded molecule to which the DNA polymerase can bind and begin synthesis (Dieffenbach *et al.* 1993). However, long primers allow a higher annealing temperature and produce less non-specific products.
- d) The G/C content should range from 35-60% (Gibbs 1989; Henegariu *et al.* 1997).
 Lower G/C contents lead to poor amplification, while higher contents lead to non-specific amplification products.
- e) Primers within the multiplex should not display significant homology either internally (hairpin structure) or to one another (primer-primer interactions).
 Complementarity at the 3'ends of any of the primers should be avoided as this promotes the formation of undesirable primer-dimer artifacts (Dieffenbach *et al.* 1993; Henegariu *et al.* 1997). These primer artifacts, which deplete the reaction of dNTPs and primers and compete for the DNA polymerase, the multiplex's

desired amplicons for polymerase, result in a lower yield of the desired product (Bourque *et al.* 1993; Vandenvelde *et al.* 1990).

- f) If possible, primers should contain a 3'-terminal "G/C clamp" (one or two Gs and/or Cs at the 3' end) (Sharrocks 1994). A 3' G/C clamp is to ensure the 3'end has a stronger bonding than the rest of the primer due to the 3 hydrogen bonds that form between G's and C's. Without a 3' terminal G/C clamp there is a risk that the DNA polymerase will not bind and extend the product efficiently.
- g) However, runs of three or more Cs or Gs within the primer should be avoided especially at the 3'end. Homopolymeric stretches of G or C could promote rich sequences, primer dimer or the formation of secondary structures within the primer. Along with homopolymeric stretches of the four bases, repeated motifs or palindromic sequences should also be avoided (Sharrocks 1994).

1.7.2 Cycling Parameters

Each step of the PCR influences the efficiency and specificity of the amplification and therefore has a direct relation on the yield of the desired amplicon.

Denaturation

Denaturation is influenced by the sequence of the DNA template. Templates that are G/C rich require a higher denaturation temperature due to the increase in hydrogen bonds between the nucleotides. Incomplete denaturation of the target template and/or the PCR product is the most likely cause for PCR failure. If the temperature is too low, the DNA template fails to denature completely and returns to its more stable doublestranded configuration (Harris and Jones 1997). This reassociation prevents efficient primer annealing and DNA extension. However, if the temperature is too high or

denaturation length is too long, DNA polymerase activity will be lost due to temperature inactivation. Both extremes reduce the yield of the desired amplicon. An initial hot start step can be used prior to the regular PCR cycling to ensure that all large molecules are denatured and to eliminate non-specific reactions (production of primer-dimers) (Chou *et al.* 1992).

Anneal

The annealing step is considered to be one of the most important parameters during PCR optimisation (Markoulatos et al. 2002). The success of a PCR relies heavily on the specificity with which a primer anneals to its target sequence therefore it is important to optimise this molecular interaction. Stringent annealing temperatures, especially during the first several cycles help to increase specificity, thus increasing the overall yield of amplicon. The annealing temperature (T_a) and length of time required is dependent on the melting temperature (T_m) , base composition, length and concentration of the primers (Harris and Jones 1997). Determining an optimal T_a begins with calculating the melting temperatures (T_m) , the simplest method being T_m = [(number of G+C) x 4°C + (number of A+T) x 2°C] (McPherson 2000). This calculation is an approximation because T_a is affected by buffer components and primer and template concentrations (Roux 1995). When employing multiple primer sets, a similar T_a is important to avoid preferential amplification. If one primer anneals preferentially at the temperature chosen, the desired exponential amplification would not occur. The T_a is usually about 5°C below the true T_m of the primers (Henegariu *et al.* 1997) followed by performing temperature gradients to determine experimentally the optimal T_a. The optimal T_a is a compromise between hybridisation specificity of the

actual primers and full reaction efficiency (Hummel 2003). A low T_a tolerates more mismatches between the template and primers, resulting in a increased amplification of different products (artifacts) due to mis-priming to non-complementary sequences and non-specific amplification (McPherson 2000). These products are observed as PCR products or bands seen above or below the targeted amplicon on gel electrophoresis (Harris and Jones 1997). A higher T_a adds more specificity to the process by reducing the amount of incorrectly annealed primers. However, it also reduces the overall efficiency because primers with a lower T_a fail to anneal and thus, do not produce amplification product (Dieffenbach *et al.* 1993; Harris and Jones 1997). A rule of thumb in choosing the optimal temperature is to select the highest temperature possible without reducing the sensitivity (Markoulatos *et al.* 1999).

Extension

This step is traditionally performed at 72°C because it is the optimal temperature for *Taq* DNA polymerase activity. However the specific temperature can change depending on the DNA polymerase as DNA polymerases from other species have different optimal extension temperatures. The extension time depends upon the length and concentration of the target sequence. In multiplex PCR, as more loci are simultaneously amplified, the pool of DNA polymerase and nucleotides becomes the limiting factor and more time is necessary for the DNA polymerase to complete synthesis of all the products (Henegariu *et al.* 1997). Therefore, longer extension times can be added at the end of cycling to ensure complete extension of all amplified products (Harris and Jones 1997). Longer extension times are also helpful in early cycles if the substrate concentration is very low and in later cycles when product

concentration exceeds enzyme concentration. Longer extension and annealing times can result in non-specific amplification (Chamberlain 1991).

Number of Cycles

The number of cycles influences both specificity and efficiency and the optimal number of cycles varies depending on the amount of the initial template, the primers used and the success of each amplification step. Increasing the number of PCR cycles increases the efficiency of amplification but reduces the overall specificity (Harris and Jones 1997). It can lead to the generation of both specific and non-specific products such as smears composed of high molecular weight products rich in single-stranded DNA (Bell and DeMarini 1991). Too many cycles can increase the amount and complexity of non-specific background products while too few cycles give low product yield. Between 25 and 35 cycles are usually used for modern samples while 40-60 cycles can be used for ancient samples. After 60 cycles, the DNA polymerase activity decreases as the enzyme looses activity. Greater sensitivity can be achieved by using nested PCR rather than performing more than 40 cycles (Brisco *et al.* 1990).

1.7.3 PCR components

After cycling parameters are optimised, the concentration of each PCR reagent such as DNA template, primers, DNA polymerase, buffer, dNTPs and MgCl₂ is investigated experimentally.

Template Amount

Ideally, the initial template should be void of any PCR inhibitor, which could negatively affect amplification efficiency, and should not contain high concentrations of chelating agents such as EDTA, or negatively charged ionic groups such as
phosphates, which can reduce the available Mg²⁺ ions (Harris and Jones 1997). As well, the template should be intact over the length of the region to be amplified, a challenge often encountered when working with degraded DNA. During optimisation, the primer-to-template ratio may need to be adjusted. Primers must usually be in a 10⁷ molar excess with respect to template (Markoulatos *et al.* 2002). If the ratio is too high, primer-dimers form, this occurs with low template concentrations or excess primer concentrations. High concentrations of DNA can also lead to non-specific amplification products (Harris and Jones 1997) as well as the generation of smears (Roux 1995). Too much DNA also disrupts the relative intensity of the bands and increases the hazard of false-positive amplification, while too little DNA produces weak or undetectable bands (Chamberlain 1990). It must be noted that degraded templates will give weaker signals for longer amplicons (Chamberlain 1992).

Primers

Primer pairs that function well in a singleplex reaction can be combined in a multiplex reaction and the relative performance of each primer set monitored. Primer concentration is a critical parameter for a successful PCR and must be refined experimentally in a multiplex when adding new primer sets (Markoulatos *et al.* 2002). Preferential amplification of one target sequence over another is a typical occurrence when optimising a multiplex PCR (Mutter and Boynton 1995). The most common approach to balancing the amount of each product is to simply begin with equimolar primer concentrations. If the targeted amplicons do not produce uniformly intense bands for all fragments, the concentration of the relevant primer sets in relation to the others should be adjusted by increasing the amount of primers for the "weak" loci and

decreasing the amount for the "strong" loci (Henegariu *et al.* 1997; Markoulatos *et al.* 2002). The final concentrations of primers may vary considerably among loci (Markoulatos *et al.* 1999). Higher primer concentrations may promote mis-priming and accumulation of non-specific product and may increase the probability of generating primer-dimers (Markoulatos *et al.* 2002). As well, increasing the concentration of the primers does not necessarily improve the yield of specific amplicons, but amplification efficiency is compromised if concentration is too low (Harris and Jones 1997).

Empirical testing have to be used when testing several primer pairs, because there are no means to predict the performance characteristics of a selected primer pair even among those that satisfy the general parameters of primer design (Henegariu *et al.* 1997).

Magnesium ions and dNTPs

Magnesium ions and dNTPs influence both efficiency and specificity of the amplification process. Their requirements generally increase with the number of target amplicons in the multiplex, therefore, the concentrations must be optimised since each primer pair may have different requirements (Chamberlain 1991). Optimal Mg²⁺ will depend on the dNTP concentration, specific template DNA, and sample buffer composition; if they contain chelators such as EDTA, the optimal Mg²⁺ chloride concentration will change (Markoulatos *et al.* 2002). The concentrations of MgCl₂ and dNTP concentrations are dependent on each other as well as on the concentrations of primers. Magnesium chloride concentration needs only to be proportional to the amount of dNTPs (Henegariu *et al.* 1997; Markoulatos *et al.* 2002) The MgCl₂ concentration must be a few millimolars higher than the nucleotide concentration (Harris and Jones

1997) since dNTPs and primers bind to free Mg^{2+} ions (Markoulatos *et al.* 2002). In addition, *Taq* DNA polymerase is a magnesium-dependant enzyme that requires available Mg^{2+} ions for proper activity. Therefore, any change in dNTP concentration affects the concentration of available Mg^{2+} ions (Roux 1995). Lower dNTP concentrations can lead to a considerable increase in the formation of primer artifacts as a consequence of excess free Mg^{2+} and to inconsistent amplification results which will frequently produce only a portion of the targeted amplicons (Markoulatos *et al.* 1999). The best results were found to be between 200 and 400 μ M per each dNTP (Markoulatos *et al.* 2002). Increasing MgCl₂ concentration improves the efficiency but reduces the specificity of amplification (Harris and Jones 1997). Excessive Mg^{2+} concentration stabilises the DNA double strand and prevents complete denaturation of DNA, which reduces yield. It can also reduce the fidelity of *Taq* DNA polymerase and lead to non-specific amplification products (McPherson 2000). On the other hand, inadequate Mg^{2+} reduces the amount of product (Markoulatos *et al.* 2002).

Buffer

Taq DNA polymerase suppliers provide an appropriate buffer which has already been optimised. Increasing the concentration can sometimes improve efficiency of the multiplex reaction. Primer pairs with longer amplification products work better at lower salt concentrations; whereas primer pairs with short amplification products work better at higher salt concentrations (Henegariu *et al.* 1997).

Taq DNA Polymerase

Enzyme requirements may vary with respect to individual target templates or primers and in particular the quality of the extracted DNA (Harris and Jones 1997).

High concentrations of DNA polymerase do not necessarily result in higher yields of the desired amplicons (Harris and Jones 1997). It can result in unbalanced amplification and a slight increase in non-specific background products (Henegariu *et al.* 1997). Insufficient amounts of the desired product will be produced if the enzyme is in low concentrations. No product bands or weak bands may indicate too little enzyme (McPherson 2000).

Additives

Poor or non-existent amplification may indicate the presence of inhibitors in the DNA sample (Roux 1995). PCR additives can be introduced in the reaction mixture to enhance primer annealing specificity, reduce mismatch primer annealing and improve product yield and length (McPherson 2000). Additives can be chemicals or commercially available reagents that influence the secondary structure of DNA, the hybridisation of the primers, the removal of inhibitors and the activity of DNA polymerase (McPherson 2000). The formation of secondary structures within regions of template DNA during the extension process can be prevented by the addition of additives which reduce DNA polymerisation (Hengen 1997). Further action of these additives, as it interacts with DNA, is to modify hybridisation which could benefit by reducing the melting temperature of GC-rich sequences and increasing the resistance of the DNA polymerase to denaturation (Hengen 1997; Rees et al. 1993). Available PCR additives that have been reported to improve the performance of multiplex PCR include: bovine serum albumin (BSA), glycerol, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), formamide, and betaine (Bachmann et al. 1990; Hung et al. 1990; Markoulatos et al. 2002; Pomp and Medrano 1991; Sarkar et al. 1990; Seto 1990). These additives can benefit

multiplex PCRs but should be tested under different conditions to assess their usefulness in each case (Henegariu *et al.* 1997).

1.7.4 Troubleshooting

The prerequisite to a successful multiplex PCR is optimisation. There are many articles, books and protocols available as aids in optimizing a multiplex reaction (Figure 21) (Henegariu *et al.* 1997; Markoulatos *et al.* 2002; McPherson 2000; Römpler *et al.* 2006).

1.8 Project Aim

There are numerous genetic mutations and polymorphisms that have been linked to NTDs. The aim of my research is to design a novel detection system to analyse five single nucleotide polymorphisms that have been shown to be linked to NTDs. The objective is to design, develop and optimise a method for detecting molecular variations that may cause NTDs by using the latest technology of mutation detection analysis. The developed genetic technique must be rapid, specific and sensitive. The single nucleotide extension (SNE) method is extremely rapid as it only requires the extension of one single base to the amplification product. It is highly specific depending on the primer system being used. Here additional steps of hemi-nested PCR have been incorporated to increase test specificity. The addition of the hemi-nested PCR step will also increase the sensitivity allowing application to degraded DNA samples. As part of the development and optimisation of this technique, four different types of samples were analysed, modern DNA, experimentally degraded DNA, archived medical specimens and archeological samples.

The simultaneous detection of five markers linked to NTDs has not been previously developed and this study would be the first of its kind. The advantage for detecting all five markers simultaneously is that the linkage between each of the mutations and the etiology of the associated NTD can be ascertained much faster than if independent detection systems were performed. The comparison of various types of sample sources should aid in establishing a relationship between the mutations and the condition thus, explaining why certain individuals are more prone to inherit this complex multifactorial genetic condition than others. Also, with samples of different chronological state, the methodology must be sensitive in order to analyse allelic sequence variations on degraded or damaged DNA. This type of analysis could also aid in understanding the evolutionary associations of the disease and identify the historical and contemporary distributions and abundances of the disease in human populations. This genetic research could one day lead to gene therapy and new practices that can alleviate the suffering associated with this condition. It could also be the basis for a novel genetic test with the purpose of facilitating clinical diagnosis and prenatal testing.

1.8.1 DNA Damage and Degraded DNA

In living organisms, DNA is continuously being damaged. This damage is repaired by enzymatic repair processes (Lindahl 1993). However, after death, these repair and maintenance processes cease and many destructive processes continue resulting in rapid DNA degradation. DNA degradation rates are dependent on the manner in which the organism dies and the post mortem taphonomy (Hofreiter *et al.* 2001a; Hoss *et al.* 1996; Lindahl 1993; Paabo 1989). In the case of medical specimens,

biopsies and test samples, DNA degradation depends on the method of preservation employed and the storage conditions (Greer *et al.* 1991); Kim 2003; Taubenberger *et al.* 1997).

Post-mortem and extracorporeal DNA is subject to degradation by cellular nucleases, lytic enzymes, lytic chemicals and hydrolytic damage based on cellular water content, free radical and oxidative damage (Hofreiter et al. 2001a; Lindahl 1993; Paabo et al. 2004). Many features can affect the rate of DNA degradation like exposure, water content and temperature (Lindahl 1993). While rapid dessication can occur at low temperature or high salt concentration which can slow the destructive processes and DNA degradation (Hofreiter et al. 2001b). DNA damage includes either base modification (oxidation and deamination), base loss, strand breaks or crosslinks (Hoss et al. 1996; Lindahl 1993; Paabo 1989). The resulting DNA is degraded and/or fragmented which can interfere with PCR amplification. DNA damage studies have shown that the molecules are reduced to a size of some hundred base pairs with most ancient DNA extracts not revealing significant amounts of intact targets exceeding 200 bp (Hofreiter et al. 2001a; Hummel 2003; Paabo 1989). Previously, when ancient DNA was identified to be fragmented to less than 80-100 bp it was deemed unsuitable for analysis. However, with SNE-PCR what previously was deemed unsuitable is now viable for informative analysis. However after long enough time, no useful molecules will remain due to the cumulative effects of DNA damage (Hofreiter et al. 2001b).

The invention of PCR (Mullis *et al.* 1986) has made it possible to study and recover information from degraded and fragmented samples as well as low copy number DNA samples. Low copy number (LCN) DNA is often defined as samples

containing less than 100 pg of genomic DNA that is below the stochastic threshold level where PCR amplification is not as reliable for normal interpretation (Butler 2006). Characteristics of degraded and LCN DNA make it almost impossible to obtain long amplification products (Handt *et al.* 1994). Therefore, the use of smaller amplicons enhances DNA recovery and the small amplicons are more likely to be amplified in samples containing degraded DNA (Butler 2005; Chung *et al.* 2004; Wiegand and Kleiber 2001).

One of the challenges of working with degraded DNA is the increased chance for contamination (Gill 2001). A sterile laboratory environment is necessary to reduce contamination from reagents, exogenous DNA from casual contact or secondary transfer of samples, and from laboratory aerosols or amplification products. Contamination can be either systematic, from contaminated water or PCR buffer, or sporadic, from contaminated individual PCR tubes or individual samples. There are many published guidelines to working with degraded and LCN DNA that should be followed to reduce or prevent contamination (Butler 2005; Hofreiter *et al.* 2001b; Paabo *et al.* 2004; Poinar 2003).

Data interpretation is also more complicated due to the stochastic variation during PCR amplification. Difficulties include allelic drop-out, allelic drop-in (from contamination), and increased stutter products (Gill 2001; Gill *et al.* 2000). Allelic dropout, also known as heterozygote imbalance, may occur if one allele of a heterozygote locus is preferentially amplified due to stochastic effects resulting in the complete loss of the other allele and is therefore interpreted as a homozygote genotype (Gill 2001). Allele drop-in, can sometimes be called stutter false alleles and can be produced by

contamination or non-specific amplification products due to an unoptimised amplification method (Butler 2005). Stutter products can be preferentially analysed and can be greater than the true allele (Gill 2001; Gill *et al.* 2000). Typically an allele drop-in is not reproducible and thus by repeating the process multiple times without obtaining identical results, the problem can be identified as allele drop-in. This phenomenon is usually due to sporadic contamination (Budowle 2001).

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Samples

DNA extracts from four types of samples were used: modern samples, experimentally degraded samples, medically archived samples and archeological samples. The modern sample was used primarily to develop and optimise the methods. The modern extracts are all from hair samples with a visible root sheath, from one individual with a known genotype for all of the markers being analysed. Various degraded samples were used to assess and ensure the sensitivity and specificity of the optimised protocol. The experimentally degraded samples were used in the optimisation stage predominantly, while the medical and archeological samples were used to assess the sensitivity and specificity of the developed method (Table 1). The experimentally degraded samples were blood samples from various donors, not known to suffer from NTDs that were treated to mimic degraded samples. Hydrolytic damage was generated by exposure to water at acidic pH (5.0). Oxidative damage was generated by exposure to bleach and ultra-violet radiation. The experimentally degraded samples were stored at -20°C. The preparation of these samples was not performed as part of this thesis and the resulting degraded DNA was provided. Ten samples in total were used. The medical archive samples were blood samples collected on FTA gene cards stored at -20°C. There were five medically archived specimens in this study. My project included samples demonstrating both physiological aspects of NTD and samples without any manifestations in order to establish a link. The samples exhibiting physical signs of being affected with NTD include ancient skeletal and tooth samples.

Sample #	Sample Type	Tissue	Source
1	Modern Sample	Hair	LC
2	Experimentally Degraded Sample	Blood	TJ
3	Experimentally Degraded Sample	Blood	RS
4	Experimentally Degraded Sample	Blood	AL
5	Experimentally Degraded Sample	Blood	RCP
6	Experimentally Degraded Sample	Blood	AT
7	Experimentally Degraded Sample	Blood	AH
8	Experimentally Degraded Sample	Blood	LI (1/10)
9	Experimentally Degraded Sample	Blood	CB (1/10)
10	Experimentally Degraded Sample	Blood	R (1/10)
11	Experimentally Degraded Sample	Blood	СН
12	Medical Archive Sample	Blood on FTA Card	AD
13	Medical Archive Sample	Blood on FTA Card	DD1
14	Medical Archive Sample	Blood on FTA Card	DD2
15	Medical Archive Sample	Blood on FTA Card	JZ
16	Medical Archive Sample	Blood on FTA Card	YB
17	Ancient Sample	Bone, Tooth	Burial #20
18	Ancient Sample	Bone, Tooth	Burial #37
19	Ancient Sample	Bone, Tooth	Burial #40
20	Ancient Sample	Bone, Tooth	Burial #41
21	Ancient Sample	Bone, Tooth	Burial #6

The ancient skeletal and teeth samples were archeologically recovered by Richard Stallings, from two archeological sites in the Tunica County, Mississippi: the Austin site and the Bonds site (Table 2).

Sample	Site	Burial #	Sex	Estimated Age	Additional Information
17	A22-TU-549	20	F	11-12	Pathological hands and feet; has spina bifida occulta (SBO)
18	A22-TU-549	37	М	30 +/-	Has spina bifida occulta
19	A22-TU-549	40	Μ	18-19	Has an open neural arch on his fifth lumbar; extensive SBO
20	A22-TU-549	41	Unknown child	9	Has spina bifida occulta
21	B22-TU-530	6	M	17-18	Has spina bifid occulta

 Table 2 – Detailed information of Ancient samples

The Austin Site (-TU-549) is a ca. AD 1100-1250 village site that sits adjacent to an old Mississippi River channel cut-off. The Bonds site (-TU-530) is a sister site to the

Austin site and is located on the same Mississippi River cut-off a few miles north The Bonds site dates to the same time frame as the Austin site and it is suspected that the inhabitants may have had contact. Both sites yielded a number of individuals who had sacra which had unfused vertebral bodies as adults, although the neural arches were closed.

2.2 Optimised Protocol

2.2.1 Extraction and purification

The extraction and purification procedures were performed at the Paleo-DNA Laboratory at Lakehead University in Thunder Bay, Ontario. The proteinase K method was used to extract DNA from the modern sample, the medical archived specimens and some of the experimentally degraded samples while the guanidinium thiocyanate method was used to extract some of the experimentally degraded samples and the archeological samples.

2.2.1.1 Proteinase K and Modified Ethanol Precipitation Method

Samples were extracted by using an overnight incubation on an Eppendorf Thermomixer[™] at 56°C in 500 µL Extraction buffer (10% SDS, 0.5 M NaCl, 0.5 M EDTA, Tris-HCl 1 M pH=8.0) (Hansen 1974). The following day, a 10% volume of 3 M sodium acetate was added to the sample and mixed. Following the addition of a 2.5X volume of cold 95-100% ethanol, the tube was placed on ice for 30 minutes. The sample was then centrifuged for 5 minutes 13,000 r.p.m. and the supernatant discarded. Afterwards, 500 µL cold 95-100% EtOH was added to the tube and vortexed for one minute. The sample was then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 13,000 r.p.m. and

the supernatant discarded. The resulting pellet was allowed to dry for 30 minutes and was then resuspended in water or TE buffer and incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes (Hayter 2007).

2.2.1.2 GuSCN and Silica-bead Purification Method

Samples were extracted by using an overnight incubation on an Eppendorf Thermomixer[™] at 56°C in 500 µL of GuSCN solution (Boom *et al.* 1990). The following day, the lysed samples were incubated at 94°C for 10 minutes and then centrifuged for one minute at 13,000 r.p.m. The supernatant was removed and placed into a sterile 1.5 mL tube in which 900 µL of GuSCN solution and 12-15 µL of silica beads were added and vortexed briefly. The samples were placed on ice for 60 minutes and inverted every 15 minutes to resuspend the silica beads. The samples were then zip-spun (approximately 10 seconds) until clear and the supernatant removed and discarded. The silica beads were washed with 500 μ L of working wash buffer (WWB), resuspended, zip-spun and the supernatant removed and discarded. The WWB wash step is repeated if required. The silica beads were washed with 150 µL of 100% ethanol. The silica beads were resuspended, zip-spun until clear and the supernatant removed and discarded. The DNA/silica bead suspension was then air-dried and resuspended using 150 μ L ddH₂0 via vortexing. The samples were subsequently incubated at 56°C for one hour and stored at 4°C for short term usage and -20°C for long term storage. Prior to each amplification, the extracts were incubated for approximately 30 minutes at 56°C and centrifuged at 13,000 r.p.m. for one minute (Hoss 1993).

2.2.2 Genetic Amplification

Amplification was performed using the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) in order to amplify specific regions of interest as defined by forward and reverse primers. An initial multiplex PCR, a hemi-nested PCR, and a single base extension PCR were used to amplify the five polymorphisms of interest. Primers were designed (Table 3) and purchased from Operon (Alameda, CA, USA). Oligonucleotides were delivered and resuspended by adding the calculated volumes of deionized water. A working solution at 100 µM was prepared and aliquoted.

Table 3 – Primer Information for Multip	plex PC	R
--	---------	---

Gene	Forward Primer $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Primer Type	Reference	GeneBank Accession#	Position
CBS-1	TATTGGCCACTCCCATAATAGAA	Forward	(Barbaux <i>et al.</i> 2000)	AF042836	17974- 17996
CBS-2	CGGCTCTGCGAGGATGGACCCTT	Reverse	(Barbaux <i>et al.</i> 2000)	AF042836	18101- 18079
MS-A	TGTTCCCAGCTGTTAGATGAAAATC	Forward	(Barbaux <i>et al.</i> 2000)	AL359259	43622- 43646
MS-B	AGTCACATTAAAAACAAGCAAAA	Reverse	(Barbaux <i>et al.</i> 2000)	AL359259	43762- 43740
MTHFR-0	GAATGTGTCAGCCTCAAAGAAAAG	Reverse	(Barbaux <i>et al.</i> 2000)	AY338232.1	8790- 8767
MTHFR-1	AGGGAGCTTTGA GGCTGACCTGAA	Forward	(Barbaux <i>et al.</i> 2000)	AY338232.1	8694- 9717
MTHFR-E	GGAGCTGCTGAAGATGTGGGGGG	Forward	(Barbaux <i>et al.</i> 2000)	AY338232.1	10608- 10630
MTHFR-D	GTAAAGAACAAAGACTTCAAAGAC	Reverse	(Barbaux <i>et al.</i> 2000)	AY338232.1	10677- 10654
MTRR-F1	GCTACACAGCAGGGACAGGC	Forward	This study	AF121202	4175- 4195
MTRR-R1	GTAACGGCTCTAACCTTATCGG	Reverse	This study	AF121202	4293- 4272

2.2.2.1 Multiplex Polymerase Chain Reaction

The PCR setup was performed under sterile conditions to prevent contamination and performed in low light conditions on ice to prevent reagent and DNA extract degradation. Reactions with a 25 μ L volume were aliquoted into 0.2 mL tubes from a prepared mastermix (Table 4).

The cycling parameters were as follows: two minutes of initial hot start denaturation at 94°C followed by 30 cycles of denaturation for one minute at 94°C, one minute of annealing at 60°C, and two minutes extension time at 72°C. For the ancient samples, the number of cycles was increased to 45.

Reagent	Initial Concentration	Final Concentration	µL per reaction
PCR buffer	10 X	1 X	2.5
dNTP	10 mM	0.2 mM	0.5
MgCl ₂	50 mM	2.0 mM	1.0
CBS-1	10 µM	0.06 µM	0.15
CBS-2	10 µM	0.06 µM	0.15
MS-A	10 µM	0.1 µM	0.25
MS-B	10 µM	0.1 µM	0.25
MTHFR-1	10 µM	0.032 µM	0.08
MTHFR-0	10 µM	0.032 µM	0.08
MTHFR-E	10 µM	0.072 µM	0.18
MTHFR-D	10 µM	0.072 µM	0.18
MTRR-F1	10 µM	0.16 µM	0.4
MTRR-R1	10 µM	0.16 µM	0.4
Platinum®Taq	5 U/µL	1.25 U	0.25
DNA extract	-	-	0.2-18.63 μL (ancient)
ddH ₂ 0	_	-	Brought up to 25 µL

Table 4 - Initial Multiplex PCR amplification concentrations and volumes

After amplification, 6-7 μ L of the PCR product and 3 μ L of 6 X loading buffer was mixed and electrophoresed on a 6% polyacrylamide gel (PAGE) (Appendix – B). The electrophoresis tank was filled with 1X TBE running buffer and the gel was run for 30 minutes at 135 volts. The PCR products were visualised using ethidium bromide staining and photographed on a UV-B trans-illuminator. The size of the band was used to interpret the results (Table 5).

 Table 5 – Initial PCR Amplification Target size

Polymorphism	Primers (F/R)	Amplicon Size (bp)
MS A2756G	MS-A/B	141
CBS 844ins68	CBS-1/2	128 (without insertion) 196 (with insertion)
MTRR A66G	MTRR-F1/R1	119
MTHFR C677T	MTHFR-1/0	97
MTHFR A1298C	MTHFR-E/D	73

2.2.2.2 Hemi-nested Polymerase Chain Reaction

A hemi-nested PCR was performed on degraded or LCN DNA samples to increase sensitivity and specificity. Prior to the hemi-nested PCR, the remaining PCR products were purified using $DyeEx^{TM}$ spin columns (Qiagen, Maryland, USA) following the manufacturer's protocol (Appendix – C). The hemi-nested PCR was optimised on the modern DNA sample (Table 6 before being applied to the degraded and LCN DNA samples.

Gene	Forward Primer (5'→3')	Primer Type	Reference	GeneBank Accession#	Position
CBS-2	CGGCTCTGCGAGGATGGACCCTT	Reverse	(Barbaux <i>et al.</i> 2000)	AF042836	18101- 18079
CBS-3	GCTTTTGCTGGCCTTGAGCC	Forward	This study	AF042836	18019- 18036
MS-A	TGTTCCCAGCTGTTAGATGAAAATC	Forward	(Barbaux et al. 2000)	AL359259	43622- 43646
MS-C	CAAGCAAAATCTGTTTCTACCACTTAC	Reverse	This study	AL359259	43721- 43748
MTHFR-0	GAATGTGTCAGCCTCAAAGAAAAG	Reverse	(Barbaux <i>et al.</i> 2000)	AY338232.1	8790- 8767
MTHFR-2	GCTGACCTGAAGCACTTGAAGG	Forward	This study	AY338232.1	8707- 8738
MTHFR-D	GTAAAGAACAAAGACTTCAAAGAC	Reverse	(Barbaux <i>et al.</i> 2000)	AY338232.1	10677- 10654
MTHFR-F	TGGGGGGAGGAGCTGACC	Forward	This study	AY338232.1	10624- 10641
MTRR-F1	GCTACACAGCAGGGACAGGC	Forward	This study	AF121202	4175- 4195
MTRR-R2	GCAGAAAATCCATGTACCACAGC	Reverse	This study	AF121202	4258- 4236

 Table 6 – Primer Information for Hemi-nested Multiplex PCR

Hemi-nested PCR amplifications were prepared from a mastermix and aliquoted

into 25 µL reaction volumes like the initial multiplex PCR amplification (Table 7).

Reagent	Initial Concentration	Final Concentration	µL per reaction
PCR buffer	10 X	1.6 X	4.0
dNTP	10 mM	0.2 mM	0.5
MgCl ₂	50 mM	1.8 mM	0.9
CBS-2	10 µM	0.1 µM	0.25
CBS-3	10 µM	0.1 µM	0.25
MS-A	10 µM	0.12 µM	0.3
MS-C	10 µM	0.12 µM	0.3
MTHFR-0	10 µM	0.08 µM	0.2
MTHFR-2	10 µM	Ο.08 μM	0.2
MTHFR-F	10 µM	0.08 µM	0.2
MTHFR-D	10 µM	0.08 µM	0.2
MTRR-F1	10 µM	0.1 µM	0.25
MTRR-R2	10 µM	0.1 µM	0.25
Platinum®Taq	5 U/µL	1.25 U	0.25
Purified PCR product	-	-	0.2-7.0
ddH ₂ 0		-	Brought to 25 µL

Table 7 – Hemi-nested PCR amplification concentrations ar	and volumes
--	-------------

The samples were then placed in the thermal cycler under the following parameters: 2 minutes of initial denaturation at 94°C (Hot Start) followed by 30-45 cycles of denaturation for 1 minute at 94°C, 1 minute of annealing at 58°C, and 2 minutes extension time at 65°C.

After amplification, 6-7 μ L of the PCR product and 3 μ L of 6 X loading buffer was mixed and then electrophoresed on a prepared 6% polyacrylamide gel (PAGE) (Appendix – B). The electrophoresis tank was filled with 1 X TBE running buffer and the gel was run for 30 minutes at 135 volts. The PCR products were then visualised using ethidium bromide staining and photographed on a UV-B trans-illuminator (Table 8).

Polymorphism	Primers (F/R)	Amplicon Size (bp)
MS A2756G	MS-A/C	126
MTHFR C677T	MTHFR-2/0	84
CBS 844ins68	CBS-3/2	83
MTHFR A1298C	MTHFR-F/D	83
MTRR A66G	MTRR-F1/R2	54

2.2.2.3 Snapshot Polymerase Chain Reaction

Prior to the SNaPshot[™] PCR, the remaining PCR products were purified using DyeEx[™] spin columns (Qiagen, Maryland, USA) following the manufacturer's protocol. A second purification step was performed by transferring 15 µL of the purified PCR product to a sterile 0.2 mL tube in which 5 U SAP (Waterston *et al.*) (Promega, Madison, Wisconsin, USA) and 6 U Exonuclease I (EXO1) (BioLabs, Ipswich, MA, New England) was added. The samples were incubated at 37 C for 60 minutes followed by 20 minutes at 80°C to inactivate the enzymes. Following purification the SNE-PCR was performed on the digested and purified PCR products (Table 9).

Gene	Forward Primer (5'→3')	Reference	GeneBank Accession#	Position
α-CBS	TGCAGATCATTGGGGTGGATC	This study	AF042836	18055-18075
α-MS-F1	GGAAATCATGGAAGAATATGAAGATATTAGACAGG	This study	AL359259	43666-43700
α-MTHFR-F1	GAAGGTGTCTGCGGGAG	This study	AY338232.1	8730-8746
β-MTHFR-R1	GAGGTAAAGAACAAAGACTTCAAAGACACTT	This study	AY338232.1	10680-10650
α-MTRR (F2)	CAGGCAAAGGCCATCGCAGAAGACAT	This study	AF121202	4190-4212

Table 9 –	Single	nucleotide	extension	primer	sequences
	~				

To prepare the SNE-PCR, 0.3-0.5 µL of the digested PCR product was mixed with 4.5 µL SnaPshot[™] PCR Ready Reaction mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA), 1 µL of each 10 mM extension primer (Table 9) adding ddH₂0 to bring the final volume to 10 µL. This mixture was placed in the thermal cycler under the following parameters: 25 cycles of 96°C for 10 seconds, 50°C for 5 seconds, and 60°C for 30 seconds. When completed, 1 U of SAP was added and the reaction mixture was incubated for 60 minutes at 37°C and 20 minutes at 80°C to deactivate the enzymes.

2.2.3 Data Analysis

The samples were electrophoresed on the ABI Prism 3100 Genetic Analyser (Applied Biosytems) at the Paleo-DNA Laboratory. Prior to loading, 9 μ L HI-DI formamide and 0.1 μ L of GenescanTM 120 LIZTM size standard were added to 1 μ L of reaction mixture. The samples underwent denaturation by heating to 95°C for 5 minutes. Products generated were then analysed with GeneScan® Analysis Software in which genotypes of either homozygotes or heterozygotes were determined based on the location and fluorescence color of peaks (Table 10 and Table 11).

 Table 10 – Extension primers for the multiplex detection of the five markers

Locus	Primer sequence	Length	Reference
MS A2756G	GGAAATCATGGAAGAATATGAAGATATTAGACAGG	35bp	This study
MTHFR C677T	GAAGGTGTCTGCGGGAG	17bp	This study
MTHFR A1298C	GAGGTAAAGAACAAAGACTTCAAAGACACTT*	31bp	This study
CBS 844ins68*	TGCAGATCATTGGGGTGGATC	21bp	This study
MTRR A66G	CAGGCAAAGGCCATCGCAGAAGACAT	26bp	This study

*This is the only reverse primer.

Locus	Wild Type Genotype	Heterozygous Genotype	Mutant Type Genotype	
MS A2756G	AA	AG	GG	
MTHFR C677T	CC	CT	ŤT	
MTHFR A1298C*	AA (TT)	AC (TG)	CC (GG)	
CBS 844ins68**	No insertion -/- (CC)	+/- (AC)	Insertion +/+ (AA)	
MTRR A66G	AA	AG	GG	

* Brackets indicate the nucleotide detected by SNE due to a reverse primer being used. ** The CBS marker is an insertion, + indicates the presence of the insertion while –

indicates its absence.

3 Results

3.1 Gel Electrophoresis

3.1.1 Initial Multiplex

Optimised annealing temperature, magnesium chloride (MgCl₂) and *Taq* DNA polymerase concentrations were determined by performing gradient PCRs. The optimal condition was determined visually. Densitometry is able to identify the quantity and thus most efficient amplification but visually I was able to identify the presence of non-specific product and other PCR artefacts.

The temperature gradient PCR for the optimisation of each of the singleplex reactions were performed first so that the optimal conditions could be determined. The optimal annealing temperature for each genetic target was determined (Figures 22-26). The temperature gradient PCR for the MTHFR C677T (Figure 22) target and the CBS (Figure 25) target produced a large optimal temperature range from 58-62°C while the others all produced a smaller optimal temperature range between 60-61°C (Figure 23, 24, and 26).



Figure 22 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MTHFR C677T mutation (Initial PCR)

The product is at 97bp. Lane 1) 58.1°C; 2) 58.2°C; 3) 50bp Molecular marker; 4) 58.6°C; 5) 59.3°C; 6) 60.2°C; 7) 61.3°C; 8) 62.4°C; 9) 63.5°C; 10) 64.5°C; 11) 65.4°C; 12) 66.1°C; 13) 66.4°C; 14) Empty and 15) Empty.



Figure 23 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MTHFR A1298C mutation (Initial PCR)

The product is at 73bp. Lane 1) Empty; 2) Empty; 3) 66.4°C; 4) 66.1°C; 5) 65.4°C; 6) 64.5°C; 7) 63.5°C; 8) 62.4°C; 9) 61.3°C; 10) 60.2°C; 11) 59.3°C; 12) 50bp Molecular marker; 13) 58.6°C; 14) 58.2°C; 15) 58.1°C.



Figure 24 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MS A2756G mutation (Initial PCR)

The product is at 141bp. Lane 1) 50bp Molecular marker; 2) 58.1°C; 3) 58.2°C; 4) 58.6°C; 5) 59.3°C; 6) 60.2°C; 7) 61.3°C; 8) 62.4°C; 9) 63.5°C; 10) 64.5°C; 11) 65.4°C; 12) 66.1°C; 13) 66.4°C; 14) Empty and 15) Empty.

A gradient temperature PCR will identify which targets may be prone to the generation of non-specific product. Non-specific amplification products were observed predominantly in the MS (Figure 24) and the MTRR (Figure 26) amplifications. These products were produced below 60°C. All of the other targets demonstrated some degree of primer dimer formations but not at the level that would interfere with the efficiency of the PCR.



Figure 25 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the CBS 844ins68 mutation (Initial PCR)

The product size is 128bp. Lane 1) 58.1°C; 2) 50bp Molecular marker; 3) 58.2°C; 4) 58.6°C; 5) 59.3°C; 6) 60.2°C; 7) 61.3°C; 8) 62.4°C; 9) 63.5°C; 10) 64.5°C; 11) 65.4°C; 12) 66.1°C; 13) 66.4°C; 14) Empty and 15) Empty.



Figure 26 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MTRR A66G mutation (Initial PCR)

The product is 119bp. Lane 1) Empty; 2) 50bp Molecular marker; 3) 55.0°C; 4) 55.2°C; 5) 55.7°C; 6) 56.6°C; 7) 57.7°C; 8) 59.0°C; 9) 60.4°C; 10) 61.8°C; 11) 63.1°C; 12) 64.2°C; 13) 65.0°C; 14) 65.4°C; 15) Empty.

A gel was performed to compare the amplicon sizes to one another (Figure 27).

This gel confirms that all of the amplicons can be resolved from one another, there is no

size overlap of any of the amplicons and all of the amplicons are the expected sizes.

This gel shows each singleplex amplicon side by side and will help to identify the

expected size of each band in the multiplex reaction in relation to each other.



Figure 27 – Initial PCR Singleplexes,

The product sizes are the following: CBS 844ins68 128bp; MS A2756G 141bp; MTHFR C677T 97bp; MTHFR A1298C 73bp. Lane 1) 50bp Molecular marker; 2) Extraction Negative; 3) PCR Negative; 4) CBS 844ins68; 5) CBS 844ins68; 6) CBS 844ins68; 7) MS-A2756G; 8) MS-A2756G; 9) MS-A2756G; 10) MTHFR C677T; 11) MTHFR C677T; 12) MTHFR C677T; 13) MTHFR A1298C; 14) MTHFR A1298C and 15) MTHFR A1298C.

The next step of the optimisation is to add all of the primer sets together in a single multiplex reaction. Since all of the singleplex reactions were optimal at 60°C then this temperature was chosen for the first stages of the initial multiplex optimisation. The primers were added in equimolar concentration and then each primer concentration was changed depending on the relative intensity of the product band. The optimisation of primer concentration took many PCR reactions and gels to determine (Figure 28, 35, 37 and many more not shown). An example of this optimisation process is shown in Figure 28 where one of the gels for primer concentration changes is shown. Two experiments are shown in triplicate on the left and on the right hand side of the gel. Two of the bands on left hand side of the gel are faint (lane 4: 141 and 128 bp) while on the right the concentration of the primers have been increased to produce a relatively equal intensity of the product band. The optimal concentration of all of these primers was determined (Table 4).



Figure 28 – Determination of optimal primer concentrations for the initial Multiplex The product sizes for each target are: MS 2756G 141bp; CBS 844ins68 128bp; MTRR A66G 119bp; MTHFR C677T 97bp; MTHFR A1298C 73bp. Lane 1) Empty; 2) 50bp Molecular marker; 3) to 5) Initial multiplex; 6) PCR Negative; 7) Empty; 8) to 10) Initial multiplex; 11) PCR Negative; 12) to 15) Empty.

3.1.2 Hemi-nested Multiplex

The optimisation of the hemi-nested PCR followed by using the initial PCR products of the control DNA. Again all of the temperature gradient singleplex reactions were performed (Figure 29-33). All of the singleplex targets except the MTHFR C677T target (Figure 29) produced non-specific product and smearing (Figure 30-33). However, this was not of such great concern as this multiplex in the final procedure will be performed as a hemi-nested PCR using the PCR product from the initial multiplex. All of the non-specific product and smears would be eliminated due to the successful competition between specific template and non-specific product as none of the non-specific product will be present from the initial multiplex reaction. The optimal annealing temperature for the hemi-nested PCR was determined to be 58°C.



Figure 29 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MTHFR C677T mutation (Hemi nested)

The amplicon size is 84bp. Lane 1) 50bp Molecular marker; 2) Empty; 3) Empty; 4) 55.0°C; 5) 55.1°C; 6) 55.4°C; 7) 55.8°C; 8) 56.4°C; 9) 57.0°C; 10) 57.7°C; 11) 58.4°C; 12) 59.1°C; 13) 59.6°C; 14) 60.0°C; 15) 60.3°C.



Figure 30 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the CBS 844ins68 mutation (Heminested)

The amplicon size is 83bp. Lane 1) Empty; 2) 100bp Molecular marker; 3) 57.0°C; 4) 57.2°C; 5) 57.7°C; 6) 58.6°C; 7) 59.8°C; 8) 61.1°C; 9) 62.5°C; 10) 63.8°C; 11) 65.1°C; 12) 66.2°C; 13) 67.0°C; 14) 67.5°C; 15) Empty.



Figure 31 –Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MTHFR A1298C mutation (Hemi-nested)

The amplicon size is 54bp. Lane 1) 100bp Molecular marker; 2) 54.9°C; 3) 55.2°C; 4) 56.0°C; 5) 57.4°C; 6) 59.1°C; 7) 61.1°C; 8) 62.5°C; 9) 63.8°C; 10) 65.1°C; 11) 66.2°C; 12) 67.0°C; 13) 67.5°C; 14) and 15) Empty.



Figure 32 – Determination of optimal annealing temperature for the MTRR A66G mutation (Heminested)

The amplicon size is 74bp. Lane 1) Empty; 2) 50bp Molecular marker; 3) 55.0°C; 4) 55.1°C; 5) 55.4°C; 6) 55.8°C; 7) 56.4°C; 8) 57.0°C; 9) 57.7°C; 10) 58.4°C; 11) 59.1°C; 12) 59.6°C; 13) 60.0°C; 14) 60.3°C; 15) Empty.



Figure 33 – Hemi-nested singleplex of MS A2756G The amplicon size is 126bp. Lane 1) 50bp Molecular marker; 2) to 6) MS A2756G; 7) PCR Negative; 8) Empty; 9) to 13) MS A2756G; 14) PCR Negative; 15) Empty.

Once the singleplex reactions were optimised, a gel was performed to compare each of the resulting PCR products (Figure 34; not all products shown on this gel). This determined that each band could be resolved and helped to identify each band in the multiplex reaction in relation to each other. Throughout this research, contamination was observed (Figure 34). On the gel in the Figure 34 in lane 5 and 13, contamination was observed; however, this was in the optimisation stages. Lane 5 shows contamination producing a band at exactly the expected size for that amplicon. This band was produced by contamination of that PCR from modern DNA while lane 13 shows a smear and faint bands above and below the specific amplicon size. This contamination could be from modern DNA but has produced a great deal of non-specific product and could be from another animal source. It is more likely a mixture of background laboratory contamination of human and animal DNA as the specific band of interest is present though faint.

12	34	5 6 · 7	8 9 10 11 12	13 14 15
~wmat				
N. 17				
150bp			←126bp	
100bp				
75bp		⊷74bр		

Figure 34 – Hemi-Singleplex

The amplicon sizes are: MTRR A66G F1/R2 74bp; MSA2756G-A/C 126bp; CBS 844ins68 2/3 83bp. Lane 1) 50bp Molecular marker; 2) Empty; 3) and 4) MTRR A66G; 5) PCR Negative; 6) Empty; 7) and 8) MS A2756G; 9) PCR negative; 10) Empty; 11) and 12) CBS 844ins68; 13) PCR negative;14) and 15) Empty.

Like the first multiplex reaction, the primer concentrations for the hemi-nested

multiplex PCR had to be optimised. Figure 35 and 37 presents examples of this

optimisation process. The optimal primer concentrations were determined (Table 7).

Comparison of the initial multiplex results and the hemi-nested multiplex results can be

compared in Figure 35 and 37.

			_										
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	″ 8	9	10	11	12_1	13	14 15
	} ⊀												
	ų.,)												
150bn													-141bp
								1	126b	р			⊷1280p ⊷119bp
100bp								8	3/84	bp			97hn
75bp									74b	D			⊷73bp
50bp									54b	p			
													1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1

Figure 35 – Determination of primer concentrations in hemi-nested multiplex and initial multiplex PCR

The hemi-nested multiplex PCR sizes are: MS 2756G 126bp; MTHFR C677T 84bp; CBS 844ins68 83bp; MTRR A66G 74bp; MTHFR A1298C 54bp and the initial multiplex

PCR sizes (MS 2756G 141bp; CBS 844ins68 128bp; MTRR A66G 119bp; MTHFR C677T 97bp; MTHFR A1298C 73bp. Lane 1) Empty; 2) 50bp Molecular marker; 3) to 8) Hemi-nested multiplex; 9) PCR Negative; 10) Empty; 11) to 13) Initial multiplex; 14) and 15) Empty.

In both multiplex reactions, some of the reagents were tested under a concentration gradient PCR. The optimal MgCl₂, *Taq* DNA polymerase and buffer concentrations were determined to be 2.0 mM, 1.25 U and 1 X respectively for the initial PCR and 1.8 mM, 1.25 U and 1.6 X respectively for the hemi-nested PCR. An example of one of these gradient PCRs is presented as Figure 36 where the DNA polymerase concentration gradient is presented. The optimal concentration for the DNA polymerase was found to be 1.25 U for both reactions.



Figure 36 – Determination of optimal Taq and template concentrations - Hemi-nested Multiplex The product sizes for each target are the following: MS 2756G 126bp; MTHFR C677T 84bp; CBS 844ins68 83bp; MTRR A66G 74bp; MTHFR A1298C 54bp. Lane 1) 50bp Molecular marker; 2) to 6) Decreased Taq concentration; 7) PCR negative; 8) Empty; 9) to 14) Template gradient; 15) Empty.



Figure 37 – Optimal primer concentrations determination of initial and hemi-nested multiplex The amplicon sizes of the initial multiplex are: MS 2756G 141bp; CBS 844ins68 128bp; MTRR A66G 119bp; MTHFR C677T 97bp; MTHFR A1298C 73bp while the amplicon sizes for the hemi-nested multiplex PCR are MS 2756G 126bp; MTHFR C677T 84bp; CBS 844ins68 83bp; MTRR A66G 74bp; MTHFR A1298C 54bp. Lane 1) Empty; 2) 25bp Molecular marker; 3) to 5) Initial multiplex; 6) Initial multiplex PCR negative; 7) to 10) Hemi-nested multiplex; 11) Hemi-nested multiplex PCR negative; 12) to 15) Empty.

3.2 Sequencing Data of Modern Sample

The following sequencing results consist of the data obtained from the modern

known sample which was subsequently used to optimise the methodology. The

genotype of the modern sample was determined through sequencing and SNE (Table

12). From the sequence data, the genotype at each loci can be determined (Figure 38,

40, 42, 44, and 46). Each of the sequences generated were aligned to the

corresponding sequence in GeneBank (Figure 39, 41, 43, 45, and 47).



Figure 38 – CBS 844ins68 generated sequence for modern sample and sequence alignment with GeneBank Assession#AF042836.1 (with highlighted SNP)

The genotype for the CBS target in the modern sample is homozygote without

the insertion (Figure 38 and 39). The insertion, if present, would have an extra 68 bp of

sequence inserted at the point where the arrow indicates (Figure 39).

	v	٦
AF042836.1	ATCATTGGGGTGGATC	CGAAGGGTCCATCCTCGCAGAGCCG
Control Sample	ATCATTGGGGTGGATC	CGAAGGGTCCATCCTCGCAGAGCCG

Figure 39 – The sequence alignment of the modern control sample to the reference sequence of Cystathionine beta-synthase.

The reference sequence is from GeneBank with accession number #AF042836.1. The arrow indicates where the insertion if present would be found. The box indicates the target for the SNE detection.

3.2.2 Methionine Synthase MS A2756G



Figure 40 – MS A2756G generated sequence for modern sample and sequence alignment with GeneBank Assession#AL359259 (with highlighted SNP)

The sequence generated for the modern sample from the MS amplicon identified the modern sample as a homozygote (AA) (Figure 40 and 41). However, the SNE results indicated that this sample was a heterozygote (AG) (Table 12). The sequencing was replicated numerous times and still produced a homozygote indicating some of the errors that can occur when using one method alone and the competition that occurs

between both alleles of the target region.

AL359259	GATATTAGACAGGA	CCATTATGAGTCTCTCAAGGTAAGTGGTAG
Control Sample	GATATTAGACAGGA	CCATTATGAGTCTCTCAAGGTAAGTGGTAG

Figure 41 – The sequence alignment of the modern control sample to the reference sequence for Methionine Synthase

The reference sequence is from GeneBank with accession number #AL359259. The box indicates the target for the SNE detection.

3.2.3 Methionine synthase reductase MTRR A66G



Figure 42 – MTRR A66G generated sequence for modern sample and sequence alignment with GeneBank Assession#AF121202 (with highlighted SNP)

A heterozygous genotype (AG) was identified for the modern sample at the

MTRR loci. The sequence here indicates two bases overlapping the A and the G

present on the electropherogram (Figure 42). This result was confirmed by the SNE

detection (Table 12). The R in the alignment (Figure 43) denotes the presence of the A

and the G in that nucleotide position.

AF121202	ATGTGTGAGCAAGCTGTGGTACATGGATTTTCTGCAGATCTTC	
Control Sample	ATRITGTGAGCAAGCTGTGGTACATGGATTTTCTGCAGATCTTC	

Figure 43 – The sequence alignment of the modern control sample to the reference sequence for Methionine Synthase Reductase

The reference sequence is from GeneBank with accession number #AF121202. The box indicates the target for the SNE detection. The R denotes the presence of an A or a G in that position, representing a heterozygote.





Figure 44 – MTHFR C677T generated sequence for modern sample and sequence alignment with GeneBank Assession# AY338232.1 (with highlighted SNP)

For the MTHFR C677T marker, the modern sample was determined to be a

heterozygote (CT). The electropherogram shows two nucleotides present (black

highlighted section) a C and a T (Figure 44). In the alignment this is represented as a Y

(Figure 45).

AY338232.1	GTCTGCGGGAGCCGATTTCATCATCACGCAGCTTTTCTTTG
Control Sample	GTCTGCGGGAGYCGATTTCATCATCACGCAGCTTTTCTTTG

Figure 45 – The sequence alignment of the modern control sample to the reference sequence for 5, 10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T polymorphism

The reference sequence is from GeneBank with accession number #AY338232.1. The box indicates the target for the SNE detection. The Y denotes the presence of a C or a T in that position, representing a heterozygote.

3.2.5 5, 10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase MTHFR A1298C



Figure 46 – MTHFR A1298C generated sequence for modern sample and sequence alignment with GeneBank Assession# AY338232.1 (with highlighted SNP)

The modern sample was identified as a heterozygote for the MTHFR A1298C

polymorphism. In the sequence electropherogram, the presence of an A and a G can

be seen (black highlighted section) (Figure 46). These two nucleotides are represented

in the alignment of this sequence as an R using the usual FASTA format (Figure 47).

AY338232.1	GTGAAGA	AGTGTCTTTGAAGTCTTTGTTCTTT
Control Sample	GTGAAGR	AAGTGTCTTTGAAGTCTTTGTTCTTT

Figure 47 – The sequence alignment of the modern control sample to the reference sequence for 5, 10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase A1298C polymorphism

The reference sequence is from GeneBank with accession number #AY338232.1. The box indicates the target for the SNE detection. The R denotes the presence of an A or a G in that position, representing a heterozygote.

3.3 Snapshot Data

Table 12 – Modern Sample Genotype							
Sample			Genotype				
Name	MTRR A66G	MTHFR C677T	CBS 844ins68	MTHFR A1298C	MS A2756G		
1-LC	AG	CT -	-/-	AC	AG		
*vorified se	quencing						

*verified sequencing

The known modern control exhibited a heterozygous genotype for mutations

MTRR A66G, MTHFR C677T, MTHFR A1298C and MSA2756G using the SNE typing

method (Table 12). The CBS 844ins68 was the only mutation to be observed in a

homozygous state (-/-) with no insert in either allele present (Table 12).

Sample			Genotype		
Name	MTRR A66G	MTHFR C677T	CBS 844ins68	MTHFR A1298C	MS A2756G
2-TJ	AG	СТ	-/-	AC	AG
3-RS	AG	СТ	+/-	AC	AG
4-AL	AG	СТ	/-	AC	AG
5-RCP	AG	СТ	-/-	AC	AG
6-AT	AG	CT	+/-	AC	GG
7-AH	AG	CT	-/-	AC	AG
8-LI (1/10)	AG	CT	-/-	AC	AG
9-CB (1/10)	AG	CT	-/-	AC	AG
10-R (1/10)	AG	CT	-/-	AC	AG
11-CH	AG	СТ	-/-	AC	AA

					— ·
Table	13	Experimentally	v Degraded	Samples	Genotypes
1 4 6 1 9		myballinelle	,	oampioo	001.01.jp00

Full genotypes were determined for all of the experimentally degraded samples

(Table 13). The experimentally degraded samples were heterozygous for the MTRR

A66G (AG); MTHFR C677T (CT) and the MTHFR A1298C (AC) mutation. In the case

of the MS A2756G mutation, all samples were heterozygous (AG) except two samples which were homozygous: sample 6 (GG) and sample 11 (AA). The CBS 844ins68 insertion was observed in a heterozygous state (+/-) in samples 3 and 6.

Sample	Genotype MTRR A66G MTHER C677T CBS 844ips68 MTHER A1298C MS A2756G					
- Name	WITH (17,000		,	MITHI RAI2900	100 A21000	
12-AD	AG	CT	-/-	AC	G	
13-DD1	AG	СТ	+/-	AC	AG	
14-DD2	AG	СТ	+/-	AC	AG	
15-JZ	GG	CT	-	AC	GG	
16-YB	GG	CT	+/-	AC	G	

Medical Archive Complex Construct

Most of the medical archive specimens produced full genotypes with the exception of samples 12, 15 and 16 which may have experienced allelic drop-out (MS A2756G and CBS 844ins68) (Table 14). Heterozygosity was observed for both MTHFR C677T and MTHFR A1298C mutations in all medical archive samples. The insertion allele (CBS 844ins68) was noted in three samples (sample 13, 14 and 16). In respect to the MTRR A66G mutation, two samples (samples 15 and 16) exhibited the mutant genotype (GG) while the other three samples were heterozygous (AG). The G allele was observed in all the samples either in heterozygous (AG) in samples 13 and 14; homozygous in sample 15.

Table 15 – Archeological Samples Genotypes						
Sample			Genotype			
Name	MTRR A66G	MTHFR C677T	CBS 844ins68	MTHFR A1298C	MS A2756G	
17-Burial #20				Α		
18-Burial #37	G			AC		
19-Burial #40				А		
20-Burial #41		CT		А		
21-Burial #6	G	СТ	+/-	AC	G	

Of the five archeological samples, only one sample (sample 21) produced a full genotype (Table 15). Possible allelic drop-out was observed in all the samples. One
allele (G) was noted in the MTRR A66G and MSA2746G mutations in samples 18 and 21; while the A allele was noted in samples 17, 19 and 20 for the MTHFR A1298C mutation. Heterozygosity was observed in samples 20 and 21 for the MTHFR C677T mutation, samples 18 and 21 for the MTHFR A1298C mutation, as well as sample 21 for the CBS 844ins68 mutation. It must be noted that the samples were replicated at least twice depending on the amount of sample available. The concentration of certain samples was not high enough to allow for many replicates. The multiple results were compared and allowed an accurate genotype profile to be determined.

4 Discussion

4.1 Optimisation

A novel methodology was successfully designed and optimised in which five mutations were detected simultaneously in samples of various levels of degradation. Single nucleotide extension can be performed in two ways. It can be used directly on the DNA extracts or it can be used after an initial PCR of the desired target. By performing an initial PCR you are increasing the template concentration in relation to the DNA in the extract, thus increasing the sensitivity and the specificity of the SNE-PCR. Direct SNE-PCR cannot be used on degraded or ancient DNA as sensitivity and specificity of the analytical procedure is critical to these studies.

This method is not suitable for the detection of LCN DNA. Even though the technique is sensitive the LCN DNA may be in much lower concentration than can be reliably detected. These very low levels of DNA concentration can generate stochastic variation which will preferentially amplify different alleles and allelic or loci drop-out can occur (Gill 2001). This would result in inaccurate genotyping. These problems were encountered in this research.

In order to overcome this challenge, in addition to an initial PCR to increase sensitivity and specificity a hemi-nested PCR was developed. A hemi-nested PCR is often quite successful in reducing or eliminating unwanted products while at the same time increasing specificity (Gibbs 1990; Mullis 1991; Mullis and Faloona 1987; Zhang and Ehrlich 1994; Zimmermann *et al.* 1994). This hemi-nested approach followed by SNE-PCR to increase sensitivity and specificity for degraded DNA was introduced by

Larcombe *et al.* (2005). In this research one set of primers were designed to amplify the target region and a third primer was designed and optimised to perform a hemi-nested PCR which was then followed by the SNE-PCR. This was able to increase the sensitivity. However time did not permit the assessment of this three step methodological approach to overcome allelic drop-out.

The initial PCR, hemi-nested PCR and SNE-PCR were designed as a multiplex to gain more information from each analysis and to help in the authentication of the degraded DNA results. The design and optimisation process began with the design of the primers 3'or 5'of the SNP of interest. In the case of the CBS gene it was a 68 bp insertion and so primers were designed to identify the difference between the presence and absence of the insertion by SNE.

The design and optimisation of the initial PCR began with the design of the primers. For the initial PCR most of these primers were chosen from the literature (Table 3). All except for one set of primers for the MTRR target were chosen from the literature. All of the primers were tested using a computational simulator (Amplify[™]) (Appendix A) to determine their stability by avoiding the presence of secondary structures, primer-primer complementarity and calculate the melting temperature. The experimental annealing temperature was determined for the initial PCR. An initial multiplex PCR was performed of equimolar primer concentration including all five primer sets. Primer concentration adjustments were done to observe PCR products of equal intensity (Figure 27 and Figure 28). The primer concentration was increased for those genetic targets that produced a low intensity band and vice versa for the high intensity PCR products. MgCl₂, *Taq* DNA polymerase, and DNA template concentration gradients

were also performed to determine their optimal concentrations. Additives (i.e. DMSO, Q solution, BSA) were assessed to determine if the results could be improved. With the optimal concentrations and cycling parameters, the initial multiplex was optimised.

Prior to a hemi-nested PCR, the PCR products from the initial PCR must be purified. Several purification methods were tested such as Qiaquick spin columns, DTR spin columns, HiYield, silica bead purification; EtOH purification; NucleoSpin Extract spin column. The DyeEx purification column was determined to be the most effective method of purification. The hemi-nested multiplex was optimised in the same fashion as the initial multiplex. Primers were designed and evaluated on the computer before purchase (Table 6). Annealing temperature gradient singleplex PCRs were performed for each step, followed by a multiplex PCR containing equimolar primer concentrations. Primer, MgCl₂, buffer, *Tag* DNA polymerase, and template concentrations were also optimised with adjustments and gradients (Figure 36, Figure 35 and Figure 37). The use of additives such as 2%DMSO, betaine, and Q solution, were also applied with no success. Different types of DNA polymerase (Q Tag, Platinum Tag) were tried with no differences observed. Extension temperature gradients were performed and a 65°C temperature demonstrated the best results, for most multiplex reactions the optimal extension temperature is usually about 5°C lower than the regular PCR.

The SNE primers were designed to ensure their product lengths would not overlap during data-analysis; the primers are separated by approximately 5bp in length (Table 10). As well possible genotypes had to be considered to avoid confusion during their interpretation. Each primer was tested individually and then combined at equimolar concentrations in a SNE multiplex PCR. The SNE multiplex PCR was

optimised with template volume, primer and SnaPshot[™] reaction mixture at different concentrations. The optimisation of the SNE-PCR required the adjustment of primer concentrations and increase or decrease of template volume according to sample type (i.e. more DNA template for the archeological samples).

The optimisation of each method proved to be quite challenging. The presence of non-specific bands, amplification failure, primer interaction, preferential amplification, no detectable product, as well as a low yield of the desired product were some problems. This not only made the PCR less efficient, but also made analysis of the results more difficult. Adjustments of PCR components (i.e. primer concentration to overcome preferential amplification of specific targets) and parameters enabled their optimisation. It was essential during optimisation to maintain a balance between specificity and sensitivity. All three steps were optimised individually and then combined together to detect the mutations of interest (Section 2.2). As each step progressed, the specificity of the method subsequently increased. Thus, the product of the previous step was used as template for the next step with new primers of different sequences that exhibited complete homology.

Negative controls ensured that the results of the PCR amplifications were indeed from authentic DNA samples and not from PCR products of other samples that were amplified in the lab. A negative control was included for each step of the methodology and carried throughout the whole process. A total of four negatives were employed: an extraction negative, an initial PCR negative; a hemi-nested PCR negative; and a SNE-PCR negative. These controls would detect exogenous DNA from the extraction step until the final amplification and aid in identifying at which step contamination occurred.

Contamination did occur during optimization of the methodology however it was identified and addressed.

With LCN and degraded samples, the allelic balance deteriorates and the chance of allelic drop-out is increased compromising interpretation (Dixon *et al.* 2006). The difficulty of determining the homozygotes between allelic drop-out when analysing the results became the most challenging task. For this reason we cannot be certain that an individual is a true homozygote in the interpretation of the archeological samples (Table 15). Allelic drop-out is common due to the degradation level of the sample. Gill *et al.* (2000) suggest that duplication of each allele should be performed in order to adequately identify the genotype and because of stochastic variation, any apparent homozygote is considered a potential heterozygote.

In some cases the primers had to be redesigned. This was usually because the primers interacted with other primers in the multiplex reaction mix but was also due to data interpretation. As each amplicon was fluorescently labelled it could be detected using capillary electrophoresis but each of the amplicons exhibited some degree of electrophoretic run mobility shift depending on the fluorescent label. This change in the detected size of each of the amplicons caused difficulty in assigning the correct peaks. Shorter primers with poly-A tails added to modify the size of the primer and thus the mobility and separation on electrophoresis were evaluated. The primers with the poly-A tails produced less mobility shift and were slightly more reliable than the full length complimentary primers.

4.2 Application of Methodology

In this project, a novel multi-step methodology was developed, to assess simultaneously the genotype of five targeted areas within a sample of variable levels of degradation. Once the steps involved were optimised. The final methodology included three amplification steps: an initial multiplex PCR, a hemi-nested multiplex PCR, and a multiplex SNE-PCR using the ABI Prism[®] SNaPshot[™] kit followed by detection with capillary electrophoresis (Figure 48). The most critical step was the purifications between each PCR reactions which can introduce contamination.



Figure 48 – Summary of Procedure

The genotype of a known modern sample was determined and used during optimisation of the methodology. The genotype of the modern sample (Table 12) at the

MS A2756G marker exhibited differences between the sequencing and SNE-PCR results. The sequence results indicated a homozygote while the SNE-PCR indicated a heterozygote. This is due to preferential amplification in the sequencing reaction amplifying only one allele. The results of the SNE-PCR were determined to be more reliable. Full genotypes were determined for all of the experimentally degraded samples (Table 13). While most of the medical archive specimens produced full genotypes with the exception of samples 12, 15 and 16 which may have experienced allelic drop-out (MS A2756G and CBS 844ins68) (Table 14). The majority of archeological samples, with the exception of sample 21, produced partial profiles (Table 15). This is to be expected due to the degradation of the samples. The different sample types demonstrated the test's sensitivity. As the sample's degradation increased, the more likely a partial profile would be detected. Applying a single base extension amplification directly on experimentally degraded DNA was determined to have failed 97% of the time (Beaulne 2004). This study demonstrates how a heminested PCR is more senstitive and specific compared to applying the test directly to DNA. The table below (Table 16) contains the determined success rates.

Sample Type	Methodology	Success Rate	
Modern DNA	Direct SNaPshot™	18% (Larcombe 2005)	
	Multiplex followed by SNaPshot™	86%	
	Multiplex hemi-nested and SNaPshot™	98%	
Experimentally	Direct SNaPshot™	3%	
degraded DNA	Multiplex followed by SNaPshot™	61%	
	Multiplex hemi-nested and SNaPshot™	93%	
Degraded DNA	Direct SNaPshot™	Not determined	
	Multiplex followed by SNaPshot™	6%	
	Singleplex hemi-nested followed by SNaPshot™	60%	
	Multiplex hemi-nested and SNaPshot™	20% (full profile)	
		60% (partial profile)	

Table	16	- Determined	Success	Rates

The challenge in determining an accurate degraded sample's genotype is differentiating between a true homozygote and allelic drop-out. It is for this reason that we cannot assume a homozygote is a true homozygote when it could possibly be heterozygote. Another difficulty experienced during genotype determination was the different mobility shift of the fluorescent tags. The red dye (T), was greatly displaced by up to 10bp; the blue dye (G) by -1 to 4bp; the green dye (A) by -2bp; while the black dye (C) showed no mobility shift.

All the samples exhibited heterozygosity (CT) for the MTHFR C677T mutation (Table 13, Table 14, and Table 15). Van der Put et al. (1995), Johanning et al. (2002) and Kirke et al. (2004) indicate that the NTD risk for heterozygous individuals is only slightly elevated over the wild type (CC). This mutation which is commonly found in approximately 35% in the North American population may predispose individuals to mild to moderate hyperhomocysteinemia when folate status is low (Christensen et al. 1999; Frosst et al. 1995; Jacques et al. 1996). However, this result in all the samples may simply be due to the low number of samples in the study. A more comprehensive genotyping study should be conducted with a larger number of samples including both control and individuals with a NTD and individuals with NTDs in the family. The increased risk of NTDs due to the presence of the MTHFR C677T mutation may be mitigated by an adequate level of folate on ones diet. The archeological samples (samples 20 and 21) were heterozygous for the MTHFR C677T mutation (Table 15) which may indicate that this mutation combined with dietary stress and lack of folate may explain the morphological manifestations consistent with SB.

All the experimentally degraded, medical archive samples, and two of the archeological samples (sample 18 and 21) contain the MTHFR A1298C heterozygous genotype (AC); while the rest of the archeological samples (17,19,20) exhibit the A allele at the MTHFR A1298C MTHFR mutation (Table 13, 14 and 15). De Marco *et al.* (2002) determined that the prevalence of heterozygotes is increased among NTD patients and mothers. All the samples contained both heterozygote mutant allele (MTHFR 677CT/MTHFR 1298AC) which may indicate an increased risk for NTDs as demonstrated by Van der put *et al.*(1998) and Weisberg *et al.* (1998).

In the case of the MS A2756G mutation, all the experimentally degraded samples contained the MS A2756G AG genotype except for samples 6 and 11, which had the MS A2756 GG and MS A2756G AA genotype respectively (Table 13). The medical archive samples consisted of two MS A2756G AG genotypes (samples 13 and 14), two MS A2756G GG genotypes (samples 12 and 15) and one sample with a MS A2756G G allele (Sample 16) for which the full genotype could not be determined (Table 14). The presence of the mutant allele demonstrates a deficiency in MS enzyme activity.

All the experimentally degraded and medical archive samples (except two samples) were found to be heterozygote MTRR A66G AG for the MTRR polymorphism (Table 13). Samples 15 and 16 contained the homozygous GG mutant allele and samples 18 and 21 of the archeological samples contained the G allele, the full genotype could not be reliably ascertained in this sample (Table 13). Wilson *et al.* (1999) detected a significant increase in NTD risk in heterozygotes of the MTRR 66G allele.

The CBS insertion was observed in 6 samples of the experimentally degraded, medical archive and archeological samples (3, 6, 13, 14, 16 and 21) (Table 13, Table 14, and Table 15). A homozygote for the CBS insertion was not observed in any of the samples analysed. The CBS insertion was not observed in combination with the MTHFR 677TT which would indicate an increased risk for NTDs. However, Relton *et al.* (2004) did demonstrate that the CBS insertion may inflate the individual effect of the MTHFR variant. Most of the experimentally degraded and medical archive samples were homozygous without the insertion (Table 13 and Table 14).

There is controversy regarding the linkage of these alleles to the risk of NTDs. There are no interpretations or conclusions presented here that link the specific genotype to NTDs. In my research the focus was on developing a methodology to analyse multiple mutant SNP that have been reported in the literature. Linking the genotype to NTDs would require larger sample numbers and more information on the part of the test subjects.

The archeological samples (Table 15) containing the mutation alleles (either in heterozygous or 'homozygous' state) may indicate that these mutations combined with dietary stress and lack of folate support the morphological manifestations indicating spina bifida. This is evident in sample 21 which contains all the mutant alleles. A nutritional profile or the frequency of the alleles within the populations are not available for the archaeolgical samples and this study contains a relatively small sample size; therefore one must be cautious when drawing conclusions from these results regarding a link to NTDs.

5 Conclusion and Future Considerations

In this research I developed a novel methodology to identify simultaneously the genotype of five genetic target areas that have been linked to NTDs. In the past, researchers have studied either one to three mutations linked to NTDs at a time. This methodology is the first of its kind to detect all five mutations simultaneously. This approach allows the association between the mutations and NTDs as well as the association between each mutation to be determined. This methodology can therefore assess the compound effect of each marker studied here that has been linked to NTDs.

This method has also been assessed on samples exhibiting various levels of DNA degradation. Four different sets of samples exhibiting different amounts of degradation were analysed which tested the sensitivity and specificity of the technique. The designed method employs three steps of analysis: an initial multiplex PCR, a heminested multiplex PCR and a multiplex SNE-PCR. High quality DNA samples may not require the nested-PCR step, as this step is present to increase the sensitivity and specificity which is not required in high quality DNA samples. The experimentally degraded samples, medical archive samples and archeological samples were also analysed. Full genotypes were generated for the experimentally degraded samples and the medical specimens however a full profile was generated for only one of the archeological samples.

More work could be done to further optimise the methodology especially on the archeological samples. To complete method validation, this study must be repeated using more samples and to specifically determine the matrix effects, limitations, marker frequency, sensitivity and specificity. Sequencing of one individual for testing and

optimizing PCR conditions, and for estimating effectiveness of the methodology could not eliminate the possibility of allelic drop-out. Therefore, in order to validate the method, numerous clinical samples with and without NTDs should ideally be sequenced and SNE genotyped to ensure that all alleles are represented in the test. This would also allow the rate of allelic drop-out to be calculated and the methods success to be evaluated. Furthermore, the method should be applied to a larger sample size of modern individuals affected by, or related to an individual with spina bifida, or various forms of NTD from various ethnic backgrounds. Once validated, medically archived and degraded samples from areas with high prevalence of NTD can be analysed. Finally, my research demonstrates how this methodology can increase the sensitivity and specificity of the detection of disease related genetic mutations. My research could be further expanded to include other conditions associated with point mutations allowing the technique to be applied to archived medical specimens, medical screening, association studies, population mapping and evolutionary disease studies. In particular, my technique optimised for degraded DNA can analyse medical archived specimens: old blood donor cards, archived medical biopsies and archived clinical slides. The ultimate generation of medical pedigrees can aid clinical medicine in developing patient's family history and possible treatment.

References

November 2000 Human Genome Project Milestones Celebrated at White House. Human Genome News:4.

Adams MJ, Jr., Windham GC, James LM, Greenberg F, Clayton-Hopkins JA, Reimer CB, and Oakley GP, Jr. 1984. Clinical interpretation of maternal serum alphafetoprotein concentrations. Am J Obstet Gynecol 148(3):241-254.

Aidoo M, Terlouw DJ, Kolczak MS, McElroy PD, ter Kuile FO, Kariuki S, Nahlen BL, Lal AA, and Udhayakumar V. 2002. Protective effects of the sickle cell gene against malaria morbidity and mortality. Lancet 359(9314):1311-1312.

Akar N, Akar E, Deda G, and Arsan S. 2000. Spina bifida and common mutations at the homocysteine metabolism pathway. Clin Genet 57(3):230-231.

Akinbiyi AA. 1996. Unexplained elevated maternal serum alpha-fetoprotein in singleton pregnancies as a predictor of fetal risk. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 53(1):17-21.

Akiyama K, Nishiyama K, Yoshimura J, Mori H, and Fujii Y. 2006. A case of split cord malformation associated with myeloschisis. Childs Nerv Syst.

Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schaffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, and Lipman DJ. 1997. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. Nucleic Acids Res 25(17):3389-3402.

 Anderson S, Bankier AT, Barrell BG., de Bruijn MH, Coulson AR, Drouin J, Eperon IC, Nierlich DP, Roe BA, Sanger F, Schreier PH, Smith AJ, Staden R, Young IG. 1981. Sequence and organization of the human mitochondrial genome. Nature 290(5806):457-465.

Applied Biosystems. 2001. ABI PRISM® SNaPshot™ Multiplex System. Foster City, CA, USA.

Aubry MC, Aubry JP, and Dommergues M. 2003. Sonographic prenatal diagnosis of central nervous system abnormalities. Childs Nerv Syst 19(7-8):391-402.

Babcook CJ, Goldstein RB, and Filly RA. 1995. Prenatally detected fetal

myelomeningocele: is karyotype analysis warranted? Radiology 194(2):491-494. Bachmann B, Luke W, and Hunsmann G. 1990. Improvement of PCR amplified DNA

sequencing with the aid of detergents. Nucleic Acids Res 18(5):1309.

Bailey LB, and Gregory JF, 3rd. 1999a. Folate metabolism and requirements. J Nutr 129(4):779-782.

Bailey LB, and Gregory JF, 3rd. 1999b. Polymorphisms of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and other enzymes: metabolic significance, risks and impact on folate requirement. J Nutr 129(5):919-922.

Barbaux S, Kluijtmans LA, and Whitehead AS. 2000. Accurate and rapid "multiplex heteroduplexing" method for genotyping key enzymes involved in folate/homocysteine metabolism. Clin Chem 46(7):907-912.

Barber R, Shalat S, Hendricks K, Joggerst B, Larsen R, Suarez L, and Finnell R. 2000. Investigation of folate pathway gene polymorphisms and the incidence of neural tube defects in a Texas hispanic population. Mol Genet Metab 70(1):45-52.

Beaulne C. 2004. The nature and structure of DNA through the process of degradation. Lakehead University, Thunder Bay, Ontario.

- Beck BN, and Ho SN. 1988. Increased specificity of PCR-amplified products by sizefractionation of restriction enzyme-digested template genomic DNA. Nucleic Acids Res 16(18):9051.
- Bell DA, and DeMarini DM. 1991. Excessive cycling converts PCR products to randomlength higher molecular weight fragments. Nucleic Acids Res 19(18):5079.
- Benn PA, Clive JM, and Collins R. 1997. Medians for second-trimester maternal serum alpha-fetoprotein, human chorionic gonadotropin, and unconjugated estriol; differences between races or ethnic groups. Clin Chem 43(2):333-337.
- Beutler E, and, Grabowski, G.A, 1995. Gaucher's disease. In: Scriver C.R. BAL, Sly W.S., Valle D., editor. The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease. New York: McGraw-Hill. p 2641-2670.
- Bijman J, De Jonge H, and Wine J. 1988. Cystic fibrosis advantage. Nature 336(6198):430.
- Bjorke-Monsen AL, Ueland PM, Schneede J, Vollset SE, and Refsum H. 1997. Elevated plasma total homocysteine and C677T mutation of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene in patients with spina bifida. Qjm 90(9):593-596.
- Blanpain C, Libert F, Vassart G, and Parmentier M. 2002. CCR5 and HIV infection. Receptors Channels 8(1):19-31.
- Blatter BM, Lafeber AB, Peters PW, Roeleveld N, Verbeek AL, and Gabreels FJ. 1997. Heterogeneity of spina bifida. Teratology 55(4):224-230.
- Boduroglu K, Alikasifoglu M, Anar B, and Tuncbilek E. 1999. Association of the 677C-->T mutation on the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene in Turkish patients with neural tube defects. J Child Neurol 14(3):159-161.
- Boom R, Sol CJ, Salimans MM, Jansen CL, Wertheim-van Dillen PM, and van der Noordaa J. 1990. Rapid and simple method for purification of nucleic acids. J Clin Microbiol 28(3):495-503.
- Borcsok E, and Abeles RH. 1982. Mechanism of action of cystathionine synthase. Arch Biochem Biophys 213(2):695-707.
- Botto LD, and Mastroiacovo P. 1998. Exploring gene-gene interactions in the etiology of neural tube defects. Clin Genet 53(6):456-459.
- Botto LD, Moore CA, Khoury MJ, and Erickson JD. 1999. Neural-tube defects. N Engl J Med 341(20):1509-1519.
- Botto LD, and Yang Q. 2000. 5,10-Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene variants and congenital anomalies: a HuGE review. Am J Epidemiol 151(9):862-877.
- Bourque SN, Valero JR, Mercier J, Lavoie MC, and Levesque RC. 1993. Multiplex polymerase chain reaction for detection and differentiation of the microbial insecticide Bacillus thuringiensis. Appl Environ Microbiol 59(2):523-527.
- Bozinov O, Tirakotai W, Sure U, and Bertalanffy H. 2005. Surgical closure and reconstruction of a large occipital encephalocele without parenchymal excision. Childs Nerv Syst 21(2):144-147.
- Brady RO. 2006. Emerging strategies for the treatment of hereditary metabolic storage disorders. Rejuvenation Res 9(2):237-244.
- Brisco MJ, Tan LW, Orsborn AM, and Morley AA. 1990. Development of a highly sensitive assay, based on the polymerase chain reaction, for rare B-lymphocyte clones in a polyclonal population. Br J Haematol 75(2):163-167.

- Brock DJ, Barron L, and van Heyningen V. 1985. Prenatal diagnosis of neural-tube defects with a monoclonal antibody specific for acetylcholinesterase. Lancet 1(8419):5-8.
- Brock DJ, Bolton AE, and Monaghan JM. 1973. Prenatal diagnosis of anencephaly through maternal serum-alphafetoprotein measurement. Lancet 2(7835):923-924.
- Brock DJ, Bolton AE, and Scrimgeour JB. 1974. Prenatal diagnosis of spina bifida and anencephaly through maternal plasma-alpha-fetoprotein measurement. Lancet 1(7861):767-769.
- Brock DJ, and Sutcliffe RG. 1972. Alpha-fetoprotein in the antenatal diagnosis of anencephaly and spina bifida. Lancet 2(7770):197-199.
- Brody LC, Baker PJ, Chines PS, Musick A, Molloy AM, Swanson DA, Kirke PN, Ghosh S, Scott JM, and Mills JL. 1999. Methionine synthase: high-resolution mapping of the human gene and evaluation as a candidate locus for neural tube defects. Mol Genet Metab 67(4):324-333.

Brookes AJ. 1999. The essence of SNPs. Gene 234(2):177-186.

Brownie J, Shawcross S, Theaker J, Whitcombe D, Ferrie R, Newton C, and Little S. 1997. The elimination of primer-dimer accumulation in PCR. Nucleic Acids Res 25(16):3235-3241.

Budowle B, et a. Low Copy Number - Consideration and Caution; 2001.

- Burton BK. 1988. Elevated maternal serum alpha-fetoprotein (MSAFP): interpretation and follow-up. Clin Obstet Gynecol 31(2):293-305.
- Butler JM. 2005. Forensic DNA Typing. London, UK: Elsevier Academic Press. 660 p.
- Butler JM. Introduction to Low Copy Number (LCN) DNA Testing Issues. In: http://www.cstl.nist.gov/biotech/strbase/training.htm, editor; 2006; Richmond, VA.
- Butler JM, Ruitberg CM, and Vallone PM. 2001. Capillary electrophoresis as a tool for optimization of multiplex PCR reactions. Fresenius J Anal Chem 369(3-4):200-205.
- Cabrera RM, Hill DS, Etheredge AJ, and Finnell RH. 2004. Investigations into the etiology of neural tube defects. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today 72(4):330-344.
- Campbell J, Gilbert WM, Nicolaides KH, and Campbell S. 1987. Ultrasound screening for spina bifida: cranial and cerebellar signs in a high-risk population. Obstet Gynecol 70(2):247-250.
- Campbell LR, Dayton DH, and Sohal GS. 1986. Neural tube defects: a review of human and animal studies on the etiology of neural tube defects. Teratology 34(2):171-187.
- Canick JA, Knight, G.J., 1992. Multiple marker screening for fetal Down syndrome. Contemp Obstet Gyn 36:25-42.
- Capone GT. 2001. Down syndrome: advances in molecular biology and the neurosciences. J Dev Behav Pediatr 22(1):40-59.
- Cargill M, Altshuler D, Ireland J, Sklar P, Ardlie K, Patil N, Shaw N, Lane CR, Lim EP, Kalyanaraman N and others. 1999. Characterization of single-nucleotide polymorphisms in coding regions of human genes. Nat Genet 22(3):231-238.
- Carlson CS, Newman TL, and Nickerson DA. 2001. SNPing in the human genome. Curr Opin Chem Biol 5(1):78-85.

- Carter CO. 1974. Clues to the aetiology of neural tube malformations. Dev Med Child Neurol 16(6 Suppl 32):3-15.
- Celera Genomics Sequencing Team. 2001. The sequence of the human genome. Science 291(5507):1304-1351.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2006. Birth Defects: Frequently Asked Questions. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/bd/faq1.htm#Whatisabirthdefect:</u> National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities.
- Chakraborty R, Stivers DN, Su B, Zhong Y, and Budowle B. 1999. The utility of short tandem repeat loci beyond human identification: implications for development of new DNA typing systems. Electrophoresis 20(8):1682-1696.
- Chamberlain J, Gibbs, RA, Ranier JE, C Thomas Caskey. 1990. Multiplex PCR for the Diagnosis of duchenne muscular dystrophy. PCR protocols: A guide to methods and application: Academic Press Inc. p Chapter 33, 272-281.
- Chamberlain JS, et al. 1992. Diagnosis of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies by polymerase chain reaction. A multicenter study. Jama 267(19):2609-2615.
- Chamberlain JS, Gibbs RA, Ranier JE, Nguyen PN, and Caskey CT. 1988. Deletion screening of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy locus via multiplex DNA amplification. Nucleic Acids Res 16(23):11141-11156.
- Chamberlain JS, Gibbs, R.A., Ranier, J.E., Caskey, C.T., 1991. Detection of gene deletions using multiplex polymerase chain reactions. In: Matthews C, editor. Methods in molecular biology: Protocols in human molecular genetics. Clifton, NJ: The Humana Press. p 299-312.
- Chen J, Stampfer MJ, Ma J, Selhub J, Malinow MR, Hennekens CH, and Hunter DJ. 2001. Influence of a methionine synthase (D919G) polymorphism on plasma homocysteine and folate levels and relation to risk of myocardial infarction. Atherosclerosis 154(3):667-672.
- Chen LH, Liu ML, Hwang HY, Chen LS, Korenberg J, and Shane B. 1997. Human methionine synthase. cDNA cloning, gene localization, and expression. J Biol Chem 272(6):3628-3634.
- Cheng Z, Ventura M, She X, Khaitovich P, Graves T, Osoegawa K, Church D, DeJong P, Wilson RK, Paabo S and others. 2005. A genome-wide comparison of recent chimpanzee and human segmental duplications. Nature 437(7055):88-93.
- Chimpanzee Sequencing and Analysis Consortium. 2005. Initial sequence of the chimpanzee genome and comparison with the human genome. Nature 437(7055):69-87.
- Chou Q, Russell M, Birch DE, Raymond J, and Bloch W. 1992. Prevention of pre-PCR mis-priming and primer dimerization improves low-copy-number amplifications. Nucleic Acids Res 20(7):1717-1723.
- Christensen B, Arbour L, Tran P, Leclerc D, Sabbaghian N, Platt R, Gilfix BM, Rosenblatt DS, Gravel RA, Forbes P and others. 1999. Genetic polymorphisms in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and methionine synthase, folate levels in red blood cells, and risk of neural tube defects. Am J Med Genet 84(2):151-157.
- Chung DT, Drabek J, Opel KL, Butler JM, and McCord BR. 2004. A study on the effects of degradation and template concentration on the amplification efficiency of the STR Miniplex primer sets. J Forensic Sci 49(4):733-740.

- Clark ZE, Bowen DJ, Whatley SD, Bellamy MF, Collins PW, and McDowell IF. 1998. Genotyping method for methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (C677T thermolabile variant) using heteroduplex technology. Clin Chem 44(11):2360-2362.
- Cohen MM, Jr. 2002. Malformations of the craniofacial region: evolutionary, embryonic, genetic, and clinical perspectives. Am J Med Genet 115(4):245-268.
- Collins FS, Brooks LD, and Chakravarti A. 1998. A DNA polymorphism discovery resource for research on human genetic variation. Genome Res 8(12):1229-1231.
- Collins FS, Green ED, Guttmacher AE, and Guyer MS. 2003. A vision for the future of genomics research. Nature 422(6934):835-847.
- Collins FS, Guyer MS, and Charkravarti A. 1997. Variations on a theme: cataloging human DNA sequence variation. Science 278(5343):1580-1581.
- Copp AJ. 1994. Birth defects: from molecules to mechanisms. J R Coll Physicians Lond 28(4):294-300.
- Copp AJ, and Bernfield M. 1994. Etiology and pathogenesis of human neural tube defects: insights from mouse models. Curr Opin Pediatr 6(6):624-631.
- Crandall BF, Lebherz TB, Schroth PC, and Matsumoto M. 1983. Alpha-fetoprotein concentrations in maternal serum: relation to race and body weight. Clin Chem 29(3):531-533.
- Crow JF. 1995. Spontaneous mutation as a risk factor. Exp Clin Immunogenet 12(3):121-128.
- Cuckle HS. 1994. Screening for neural tube defects. In: Ciba Foundation Symposium 181, editor. Neural Tube Defects. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.
- Cummings MR. 1994. Human Hereditary: Principles and Issues. St.Paul New York -Los Angeles - San Francisco: West Publishing. 601 p.
- Czeizel AE, and Dudas I. 1992. Prevention of the first occurrence of neural-tube defects by periconceptional vitamin supplementation. N Engl J Med 327(26):1832-1835.
- d'Ercole C, Shojai R, Desbriere R, Chau C, Bretelle F, Piechon L, and Boubli L. 2003. Prenatal screening: invasive diagnostic approaches. Childs Nerv Syst 19(7-8):444-447.
- Davies BR, and Duran M. 2003. Malformations of the cranium, vertebral column, and related central nervous system: morphologic heterogeneity may indicate biological diversity. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol 67(8):563-571.
- de Franchis R, Botto LD, Sebastio G, Ricci R, Iolascon A, Capra V, Ándria G, and Mastroiacovo P. 2002. Spina bifida and folate-related genes: a study of genegene interactions. Genet Med 4(3):126-130.
- de Franchis R, Buoninconti A, Mandato C, Pepe A, Sperandeo MP, Del Gado R, Capra V, Salvaggio E, Andria G, and Mastroiacovo P. 1998a. The C677T mutation of the 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene is a moderate risk factor for spina bifida in Italy. J Med Genet 35(12):1009-1013.
- de Franchis R, Mandato, C., Buoninconti, A., Sperandero, MP. et al., 1997. Risk factors for neural tube defects: analysis of common genetic variants of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and cystathionine B-synthase (Abstract). Am J Hum Genet 61(151).

- de Franchis R, Sebastio G, Mandato C, Andria G, and Mastroiacovo P. 1995. Spina bifida, 677T-->C mutation, and role of folate. Lancet 346(8991-8992):1703.
- De Franchis R, Sperandeo MP, Sebastio G, and Andria G. 1998b. Clinical aspects of cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency: how wide is the spectrum? The Italian Collaborative Study Group on Homocystinuria. Eur J Pediatr 157 Suppl 2:S67-70.
- De Marco P, Calevo MG, Moroni A, Arata L, Merello E, Finnell RH, Zhu H, Andreussi L, Cama A, and Capra V. 2002. Study of MTHFR and MS polymorphisms as risk factors for NTD in the Italian population. J Hum Genet 47(6):319-324.
- De Stefano V, Dekou V, Nicaud V, Chasse JF, London J, Stansbie D, Humphries SE, and Gudnason V. 1998. Linkage disequilibrium at the cystathionine beta synthase (CBS) locus and the association between genetic variation at the CBS locus and plasma levels of homocysteine. The Ears II Group. European Atherosclerosis Research Study. Ann Hum Genet 62 (Pt 6):481-490.
- Dekou V, Whincup P, Papacosta O, Ebrahim S, Lennon L, Ueland PM, Refsum H, Humphries SE, and Gudnason V. 2001. The effect of the C677T and A1298C polymorphisms in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene on homocysteine levels in elderly men and women from the British regional heart study. Atherosclerosis 154(3):659-666.
- Detrait ER, George TM, Etchevers HC, Gilbert JR, Vekemans M, and Speer MC. 2005. Human neural tube defects: developmental biology, epidemiology, and genetics. Neurotoxicol Teratol 27(3):515-524.
- Dieffenbach CW, Lowe TM, and Dveksler GS. 1993. General concepts for PCR primer design. PCR Methods Appl 3(3):S30-37.
- Dixon LA, Dobbins AE, Pulker HK, Butler JM, Vallone PM, Coble MD, Parson W, Berger B, Grubwieser P, Mogensen HS and others. 2006. Analysis of artificially degraded DNA using STRs and SNPs--results of a collaborative European (EDNAP) exercise. Forensic Sci Int 164(1):33-44.
- Doolin MT, Barbaux S, McDonnell M, Hoess K, Whitehead AS, and Mitchell LE. 2002. Maternal genetic effects, exerted by genes involved in homocysteine remethylation, influence the risk of spina bifida. Am J Hum Genet 71(5):1222-1226.
- Drugan A, Weissman A, and Evans MI. 2001. Screening for neural tube defects. Clin Perinatol 28(2):279-287, vii.
- Dryja TP, Friend S, and Weinberg RA. 1986. Genetic sequences that predispose to retinoblastoma and osteosarcoma. Symp Fundam Cancer Res 39:115-119.
- Edwards MC, and Gibbs RA. 1994. Multiplex PCR: advantages, development, and applications. PCR Methods Appl 3(4):S65-75.
- El-Ghani AA, and El-Ansarry, K.,. 2006. Neural tube defects. ASJOG 3(38-48).
- Elwood J, Little J, Elwood JH. 1992. Epidemiology and Control of Neural Tube Defects. New York: Oxford University Press. 903p. p.
- Emery A, F. Muntoni, 2003. Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 282 p.
- Engbersen AM, Franken DG, Boers GH, Stevens EM, Trijbels FJ, and Blom HJ. 1995. Thermolabile 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase as a cause of mild hyperhomocysteinemia. Am J Hum Genet 56(1):142-150.

- Fiers W, Contreras R, Duerinck F, Haegeman G, Iserentant D, Merregaert J, Min Jou
 W, Molemans F, Raeymaekers A, Van den Berghe A, Volckaert G, Ysebaert M.
 1976. Complete nucleotide-sequence of bacteriophage MS2-RNA primary and secondary structure of replicase gene. Nature(260):500-507.
- Finnell RH, Gould A, and Spiegelstein O. 2003. Pathobiology and genetics of neural tube defects. Epilepsia 44 Suppl 3:14-23.
- Fiorentino F, Magli MC, Podini D, Ferraretti AP, Nuccitelli A, Vitale N, Baldi M, and Gianaroli L. 2003. The minisequencing method: an alternative strategy for preimplantation genetic diagnosis of single gene disorders. Mol Hum Reprod 9(7):399-410.
- Franco RF, Araujo AG, Guerreiro JF, Elion J, and Zago MA. Jan 1998. Analysis of the 677C->T mutation of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene in different ethnic groups. Thromb Haemost 79(1):119-121.
- Franco RF, Elion J, Lavinha J, Krishnamoorthy R, Tavella MH, and Zago MA. 1998. Heterogeneous ethnic distribution of the 844ins68 in the cystathionine betasynthase gene. Hum Hered 48(6):338-342.
- Freeman J. 1980. Spina Bifida. In: Gellis SS, Kagan, B.M.,, editor. Current Pediatric Therapy (9th Edition). 9th Edition ed. Philadelphia: W.B.Saunders Co. p 206-210.
- Frey L, and Hauser WA. 2003. Epidemiology of neural tube defects. Epilepsia 44 Suppl 3:4-13.
- Friedman G, Goldschmidt N, Friedlander Y, Ben-Yehuda A, Selhub J, Babaey S, Mendel M, Kidron M, and Bar-On H. 1999. A common mutation A1298C in human methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene: association with plasma total homocysteine and folate concentrations. J Nutr 129(9):1656-1661.
- Frosst P, Blom HJ, Milos R, Goyette P, Sheppard CA, Matthews RG, Boers GJ, den Heijer M, Kluijtmans LA, van den Heuvel LP and others. 1995. A candidate genetic risk factor for vascular disease: a common mutation in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. Nat Genet 10(1):111-113.
- Fuhrmann W, and Weitzel HK. 1985. Maternal serum alpha-fetoprotein screening for neural tube defects. Report of a combined study in Germany and short overview on screening in populations with low birth prevalence of neural tube defects. Hum Genet 69(1):47-61.
- Fullerton SM, Clark AG, Weiss KM, Nickerson DA, Taylor SL, Stengard JH, Salomaa V, Vartiainen E, Perola M, Boerwinkle E and others. 2000. Apolipoprotein E variation at the sequence haplotype level: implications for the origin and maintenance of a major human polymorphism. Am J Hum Genet 67(4):881-900.
- Gardner MJ, Hall N, Fung E, White O, Berriman M, Hyman RW, Carlton JM, Pain A, Nelson KE, Bowman S and others. 2002. Genome sequence of the human malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum. Nature 419(6906):498-511.
- Gaughan DJ, Kluijtmans LA, Barbaux S, McMaster D, Young IS, Yarnell JW, Evans A, and Whitehead AS. 2001. The methionine synthase reductase (MTRR) A66G polymorphism is a novel genetic determinant of plasma homocysteine concentrations. Atherosclerosis 157(2):451-456.
- Ghi T, Pilu G, Falco P, Segata M, Carletti A, Cocchi G, Santini D, Bonasoni P, Tani G, and Rizzo N. 2006. Prenatal diagnosis of open and closed spina bifida. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 28(7):899-903.

- Gibbs RA. 1990. DNA amplification by the polymerase chain reaction. Anal Chem 62(13):1202-1214.
- Gibbs RA, Chamberlain, J.S., Caskey, C.T., 1989. Diagnosis of new mutation diseases using the polymerase chain reaction. In: H.Erlich, editor. Polymerase chain reaction: Principles and Application. New York: Stockton Press. p 171-192.
- Gill P. 2001. Application of low copy number DNA profiling. Croat Med J 42(3):229-232.
- Gill P, Whitaker J, Flaxman C, Brown N, and Buckleton J. 2000. An investigation of the rigor of interpretation rules for STRs derived from less than 100 pg of DNA. Forensic Sci Int 112(1):17-40.
- Gonzalez-Herrera L, Garcia-Escalante G, Castillo-Zapata I, Canto-Herrera J, Ceballos-Quintal J, Pinto-Escalante D, Diaz-Rubio F, Del Angel RM, and Orozco-Orozco L. 2002. Frequency of the thermolabile variant C677T in the MTHFR gene and lack of association with neural tube defects in the State of Yucatan, Mexico. Clin Genet 62(5):394-398.
- Goyette P, Frosst P, Rosenblatt DS, and Rozen R. 1995. Seven novel mutations in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene and genotype/phenotype correlations in severe methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase deficiency. Am J Hum Genet 56(5):1052-1059.
- Goyette P, Sumner JS, Milos R, Duncan AM, Rosenblatt DS, Matthews RG, and Rozen R. 1994. Human methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase: isolation of cDNA, mapping and mutation identification. Nat Genet 7(2):195-200.
- Greenberg F. 1991. Birth Defects. In: Dulbecco R, editor. Encyclopedia of Human Biology. San Diego, CA: Academic Press Inc.
- Greer CE, Lund JK, and Manos MM. 1991. PCR amplification from paraffin-embedded tissues: recommendations on fixatives for long-term storage and prospective studies. PCR Methods Appl 1(1):46-50.
- Gueant-Rodriguez RM, Rendeli C, Namour B, Venuti L, Romano A, Anello G, Bosco P, Debard R, Gerard P, Viola M and others. 2003. Transcobalamin and methionine synthase reductase mutated polymorphisms aggravate the risk of neural tube defects in humans. Neurosci Lett 344(3):189-192.
- Gunton JE, Kulkarni RN, Yim S, Okada T, Hawthorne WJ, Tseng YH, Roberson RS, Ricordi C, O'Connell PJ, Gonzalez FJ and others. 2005. Loss of ARNT/HIF1beta mediates altered gene expression and pancreatic-islet dysfunction in human type 2 diabetes. Cell 122(3):337-349.
- Gusella JF, and Macdonald ME. 2006. Huntington's disease: seeing the pathogenic process through a genetic lens. Trends Biochem Sci 31(9):533-540.
- Hacia JG, Fan JB, Ryder O, Jin L, Edgemon K, Ghandour G, Mayer RA, Sun B, Hsie L, Robbins CM and others. 1999. Determination of ancestral alleles for human single-nucleotide polymorphisms using high-density oligonucleotide arrays. Nat Genet 22(2):164-167.
- Hall JG, and Solehdin F.,. 1998. Genetics of Neural Tube Defects. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev 4(4):269-281.
- Handt O, Hoss M, Krings M, and Paabo S. 1994. Ancient DNA: methodological challenges. Experientia 50(6):524-529.
- Hansen JN. 1974. Isolation of higher molecular weight DNA from Bacillus Cereus T using proteinase K. Prep Biochem 4(6):473-488.

Haqqi TM, Sarkar G, David CS, and Sommer SS. 1988. Specific amplification with PCR of a refractory segment of genomic DNA. Nucleic Acids Res 16(24):11844.

- Harmon DL, Shields DC, Woodside JV, McMaster D, Yarnell JW, Young IS, Peng K, Shane B, Evans AE, and Whitehead AS. 1999. Methionine synthase D919G polymorphism is a significant but modest determinant of circulating homocysteine concentrations. Genet Epidemiol 17(4):298-309.
- Harmon JP, Hiett AK, Palmer CG, and Golichowski AM. 1995. Prenatal ultrasound detection of isolated neural tube defects: is cytogenetic evaluation warranted? Obstet Gynecol 86(4 Pt 1):595-599.
- Harris R, Jennison RF, Barson AJ, Laurence KM, Ruoslahti E, and Seppala M. 1974. Comparison of amniotic-fluid and maternal serum alpha-fetoprotein levels in the early antenatal diagnosis of spina bifida and anencephaly. Lancet 1(7855):428-429.
- Harris S, and Jones DB. 1997. Optimisation of the polymerase chain reaction. Br J Biomed Sci 54(3):166-173.
- Hayter S. 2007. Improving Genetic Profiling Techniques for Low Copy Number DNA. Thunder Bay: Lakehead University.
- Henegariu O, Heerema NA, Dlouhy SR, Vance GH, and Vogt PH. 1997. Multiplex PCR: critical parameters and step-by-step protocol. Biotechniques 23(3):504-511.
- Hengen PN. 1997. Optimizing multiplex and LA-PCR with betaine. Trends Biochem Sci 22(6):225-226.
- Henry C. 2003. Human Genome Project Finished. Chem Eng News 81(16):12.
- Hofreiter M, Jaenicke V, Serre D, Haeseler Av A, and Paabo S. 2001a. DNA sequences from multiple amplifications reveal artifacts induced by cytosine deamination in ancient DNA. Nucleic Acids Res 29(23):4793-4799.
- Hofreiter M, Serre D, Poinar HN, Kuch M, and Paabo S. 2001b. Ancient DNA. Nat Rev Genet 2(5):353-359.
- Holt RA, Subramanian GM, Halpern A, Sutton GG, Charlab R, Nusskern DR, Wincker P, Clark AG, Ribeiro JM, Wides R and others. 2002. The genome sequence of the malaria mosquito Anopheles gambiae. Science 298(5591):129-149.
- Honeybee Genome Sequencing Consortium. 2006. Insights into social insects from the genome of the honeybee Apis mellifera. Nature 443(7114):931-949.
- Horton HR, Moran, L.A., Ochs R.S., Rawn, J.D., Scrimgeour, K.G., 2002. Principles of Biochemistry. Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA: Prentice-Hall.
- Hoss M, Jaruga P, Zastawny TH, Dizdaroglu M, and Paabo S. 1996. DNA damage and DNA sequence retrieval from ancient tissues. Nucleic Acids Res 24(7):1304-1307.
- Hoss M, Paabo, S.,. 1993. DNA extraction form pleistocene bones by a silica-bease purification method. Nucl Acids Res 21:3913-3914.
- Hughes-Davies L, Huntsman D, Ruas M, Fuks F, Bye J, Chin SF, Milner J, Brown LA, Hsu F, Gilks B and others. 2003. EMSY links the BRCA2 pathway to sporadic breast and ovarian cancer. Cell 115(5):523-535.
- Hughes JF, Skaletsky H, Pyntikova T, Minx PJ, Graves T, Rozen S, Wilson RK, and Page DC. 2005. Conservation of Y-linked genes during human evolution revealed by comparative sequencing in chimpanzee. Nature 437(7055):100-103.

Hummel S. 2003. Ancient DNA Typing - Methods, Strategies and Applications. Berlin Heidelberg New York: Springer-Verlag. 298 p.

- Hung T, Mak K, and Fong K. 1990. A specificity enhancer for polymerase chain reaction. Nucleic Acids Res 18(16):4953.
- Hunter AGW. 1993. Brain and Spinal Cord. In: Stevenson RE, J.G Hall, R.M Goodman, eds, editor. Human malformations and related anomalies. New York: Oxford University Press. p 109-137.
- Ihara N, Takasuga A, Mizoshita K, Takeda H, Sugimoto M, Mizoguchi Y, Hirano T, Itoh T, Watanabe T, Reed KM and others. 2004. A comprehensive genetic map of the cattle genome based on 3802 microsatellites. Genome Res 14(10A):1987-1998.
- International Human Genome Mapping Consortium. 2001. A physical map of the human genome. Nature(409):934-941.
- International Human Genome Sequencing Consortium. 2004. Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome. Nature 431(7011):931-945.
- International Rice Genome Sequencing Project. 2005. The map-based sequence of the rice genome. Nature 436(7052):793-800.
- International SNP Map Working Group, Sachidanandam R, Weissman D, Schmidt SC, Kakol JM, Stein LD, Marth G, Sherry S, Mullikin JC, Mortimore BJ and others. 2001. A map of human genome sequence variation containing 1.42 million single nucleotide polymorphisms. Nature 409(6822):928-933.
- Isotalo PA, Wells GA, and Donnelly JG. 2000. Neonatal and fetal methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase genetic polymorphisms: an examination of C677T and A1298C mutations. Am J Hum Genet 67(4):986-990.
- Jacques PF, Bostom AG, Williams RR, Ellison RC, Eckfeldt JH, Rosenberg IH, Selhub J, and Rozen R. 1996. Relation between folate status, a common mutation in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase, and plasma homocysteine concentrations. Circulation 93(1):7-9.
- Johanning GL, Tamura T, Johnston KE, and Wenstrom KD. 2000. Comorbidity of 5,10methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and methionine synthase gene polymorphisms and risk for neural tube defects. J Med Genet 37(12):949-951.
- Johanning GL, Wenstrom KD, and Tamura T. 2002. Changes in frequencies of heterozygous thermolabile 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene in fetuses with neural tube defects. J Med Genet 39(5):366-367.
- Johnson GC, and Todd JA. 2000. Strategies in complex disease mapping. Curr Opin Genet Dev 10(3):330-334.
- Johnson VP, Vidgoff J, Wilson N, and Madison D. 1989. Alpha-fetoprotein and acetylcholinesterase in twins discordant for neural tube defect. Prenat Diagn 9(12):831-837.
- Johnson WG, Stenroos ES, Heath SC, Chen Y, Carroll R, McKoy VV, Chatkupt S, and Lehner T. 1999. Distribution of alleles of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) C677T gene polymorphism in familial spina bifida. Am J Med Genet 87(5):407-412.
- Jorde LB, Watkins WS, Bamshad MJ, Dixon ME, Ricker CE, Seielstad MT, and Batzer MA. 2000. The distribution of human genetic diversity: a comparison of mitochondrial, autosomal, and Y-chromosome data. Am J Hum Genet 66(3):979-988.

- Kang SS, Wong PW, Susmano A, Sora J, Norusis M, and Ruggie N. 1991. Thermolabile methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase: an inherited risk factor for coronary artery disease. Am J Hum Genet 48(3):536-545.
- Kaplan KM, Spivak JM, and Bendo JA. 2005. Embryology of the spine and associated congenital abnormalities. Spine J 5(5):564-576.
- Kennedy D, Chitayat D, Winsor EJ, Silver M, and Toi A. 1998. Prenatally diagnosed neural tube defects: ultrasound, chromosome, and autopsy or postnatal findings in 212 cases. Am J Med Genet 77(4):317-321.
- Kerem B, Rommens JM, Buchanan JA, Markiewicz D, Cox TK, Chakravarti A, Buchwald M, and Tsui LC. 1989. Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: genetic analysis. Science 245(4922):1073-1080.
- Khaitovich P, Hellmann I, Enard W, Nowick K, Leinweber M, Franz H, Weiss G, Lachmann M, and Paabo S. 2005. Parallel patterns of evolution in the genomes and transcriptomes of humans and chimpanzees. Science 309(5742):1850-1854.
- Kinsman S. 2001. Spina Bifida Occulta Fact Sheet. Washington: Spina Bifida Association of American <u>http://www.sbaa.org</u>.
- Kirke PN, Mills JL, Molloy AM, Brody LC, O'Leary VB, Daly L, Murray S, Conley M, Mayne PD, Smith O and others. 2004. Impact of the MTHFR C677T polymorphism on risk of neural tube defects: case-control study. Bmj 328(7455):1535-1536.
- Kirke PN, Mills JL, Whitehead AS, Molloy A, and Scott JM. 1996. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase mutation and neural tube defects. Lancet 348(9033):1037-1038.
- Kirke PN, Molloy AM, Daly LE, Burke H, Weir DG, and Scott JM. 1993. Maternal plasma folate and vitamin B12 are independent risk factors for neural tube defects. Q J Med 86(11):703-708.
- Kluijtmans LA, van den Heuvel LP, Boers GH, Frosst P, Stevens EM, van Oost BA, den Heijer M, Trijbels FJ, Rozen R, and Blom HJ. 1996. Molecular genetic analysis in mild hyperhomocysteinemia: a common mutation in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene is a genetic risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Am J Hum Genet 58(1):35-41.
- Knight GJ, Palomaki GE, and Haddow JE. 1988. Use of maternal serum alphafetoprotein measurements to screen for Down's syndrome. Clin Obstet Gynecol 31(2):306-327.
- Koch MC, Stegmann K, Ziegler A, Schroter B, and Ermert A. 1998. Evaluation of the MTHFR C677T allele and the MTHFR gene locus in a German spina bifida population. Eur J Pediatr 157(6):487-492.
- Koenig M, Hoffman EP, Bertelson CJ, Monaco AP, Feener C, and Kunkel LM. 1987. Complete cloning of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) cDNA and preliminary genomic organization of the DMD gene in normal and affected individuals. Cell 50(3):509-517.
- Kolata GB. 1980. Prenatal diagnosis fo neural tube defects. Science 209(4462):1216-1218.
- Kooper AJ, de Bruijn D, van Ravenwaaij-Arts CM, Faas BH, Creemers JW, Thomas CM, and Smits AP. 2007. Fetal anomaly scan potentially will replace routine

AFAFP assays for the detection of neural tube defects. Prenat Diagn 27(1):29-33.

- Kraus JP. 1994. Molecular basis of phenotype expression in homocystinuria. J Inherit Metab Dis 17(4):383-390.
- Kruger WD, Evans AA, Wang L, Malinow MR, Duell PB, Anderson PH, Block PC, Hess DL, Graf EE, and Upson B. 2000. Polymorphisms in the CBS gene associated with decreased risk of coronary artery disease and increased responsiveness to total homocysteine lowering by folic acid. Mol Genet Metab 70(1):53-60.
- Kwok PY, Deng Q, Zakeri H, Taylor SL, and Nickerson DA. 1996. Increasing the information content of STS-based genome maps: identifying polymorphisms in mapped STSs. Genomics 31(1):123-126.
- Landegren U, Nilsson M, and Kwok PY. 1998. Reading bits of genetic information: methods for single-nucleotide polymorphism analysis. Genome Res 8(8):769-776.
- Larcombe LA, Nickerson P, Hoppa RD, and Matheson C. 2005. Detection of a single nucleotide polymorphism in the IL-6 promoter region of ancient nuclear DNA. Infect Genet Evol 5(2):117-122.
- Leclerc D, Campeau E, Goyette P, Adjalla CE, Christensen B, Ross M, Eydoux P, Rosenblatt DS, Rozen R, and Gravel RA. 1996. Human methionine synthase: cDNA cloning and identification of mutations in patients of the cbIG complementation group of folate/cobalamin disorders. Hum Mol Genet 5(12):1867-1874.
- Leclerc D, Wilson A, Dumas R, Gafuik C, Song D, Watkins D, Heng HH, Rommens JM, Scherer SW, Rosenblatt DS and others. 1998. Cloning and mapping of a cDNA for methionine synthase reductase, a flavoprotein defective in patients with homocystinuria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(6):3059-3064.
- Lee WH, Bookstein R, Hong F, Young LJ, Shew JY, and Lee EY. 1987. Human retinoblastoma susceptibility gene: cloning, identification, and sequence. Science 235(4794):1394-1399.

Lemire RJ. 1988. Neural tube defects. Jama 259(4):558-562.

- Lennon CA, and Gray DL. 1999. Sensitivity and specificity of ultrasound for the detection of neural tube and ventral wall defects in a high-risk population. Obstet Gynecol 94(4):562-566.
- Li WH, Ellsworth DL, Krushkal J, Chang BH, and Hewett-Emmett D. 1996a. Rates of nucleotide substitution in primates and rodents and the generation-time effect hypothesis. Mol Phylogenet Evol 5(1):182-187.
- Li WH, and Sadler LA. 1991. Low nucleotide diversity in man. Genetics 129(2):513-523.
- Li Y, Mitaxov V, and Waksman G. 1999. Structure-based design of Taq DNA polymerases with improved properties of dideoxynucleotide incorporation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(17):9491-9496.
- Li YN, Gulati S, Baker PJ, Brody LC, Banerjee R, and Kruger WD. 1996b. Cloning, mapping and RNA analysis of the human methionine synthase gene. Hum Mol Genet 5(12):1851-1858.
- Lindahl T. 1993. Instability and decay of the primary structure of DNA. Nature 362(6422):709-715.

- Lucock M, Daskalakis I, Hinkins M, and Yates Z. 2001. An examination of polymorphic genes and folate metabolism in mothers affected by a spina bifida pregnancy. Mol Genet Metab 73(4):322-332.
- Luthy DA, Wardinsky T, Shurtleff DB, Hollenbach KA, Hickok DE, Nyberg DA, and Benedetti TJ. 1991. Cesarean section before the onset of labor and subsequent motor function in infants with meningomyelocele diagnosed antenatally. N Engl J Med 324(10):662-666.
- Manning N, and Archer N. 2001. Treatment and outcome of serious structural congenital heart disease. Semin Neonatol 6(1):37-47.

March of Dimes. 2007. Birth Defects. http://www.marchofdimes.com/.

Markoulatos P, Samara V, Siafakas N, Plakokefalos E, Spyrou N, and Moncany ML. 1999. Development of a quadriplex polymerase chain reaction for human cytomegalovirus detection. J Clin Lab Anal 13(3):99-105.

- Markoulatos P, Siafakas N, and Moncany M. 2002. Multiplex polymerase chain reaction: a practical approach. J Clin Lab Anal 16(1):47-51.
- Martin JA, Kochanek KD, Strobino DM, Guyer B, and MacDorman MF. 2005. Annual summary of vital statistics--2003. Pediatrics 115(3):619-634.
- McLone DG, and Dias MS. 2003. The Chiari II malformation: cause and impact. Childs Nerv Syst 19(7-8):540-550.
- McPherson MJ, and S.G. Motler. 2000. PCR The Basics. Ltmd. BSP, editor. New York: Springer-Verlag. 276 p.
- Medina MA, and Amores-Sanchez MI. 2000. Genetic basis of hyperhomocysteinemia. Mol Genet Metab 71(3):478-480.
- Melnick M, and Marazita ML. 1998. Neural tube defects, methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase mutation, and north/south dietary differences in China. J Craniofac Genet Dev Biol 18(4):233-235.
- Melnick M, and Myrianthopoulos NC. 1987. Studies in neural tube defects. II. Pathologic findings in a prospectively collected series of anencephalics. Am J Med Genet 26(4):797-810.
- Mills JL, McPartlin JM, Kirke PN, Lee YJ, Conley MR, Weir DG, and Scott JM. 1995. Homocysteine metabolism in pregnancies complicated by neural-tube defects. Lancet 345(8943):149-151.
- Mills JL, Scott JM, Kirke PN, McPartlin JM, Conley MR, Weir DG, Molloy AM, and Lee YJ. 1996. Homocysteine and neural tube defects. J Nutr 126(3):756S-760S.
- Milunsky A, Allpert E., Kitzmiller JL, Youner M, Neff RK, 1982. Prenatal diagnosis for neural tube defects Part VIII. The importance of serum alpha-fetoprotein screening in the diabetic pregnant women. Am J Obstet Gynecol 142:1030.
- Mitchell LE. 1997. Genetic epidemiology of birth defects: nonsyndromic cleft lip and neural tube defects. Epidemiol Rev 19(1):61-68.
- Mitchell LE. 2005. Epidemiology of neural tube defects. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 135(1):88-94.
- Molloy AM, Daly S, Mills JL, Kirke PN, Whitehead AS, Ramsbottom D, Conley MR, Weir DG, and Scott JM. 1997. Thermolabile variant of 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase associated with low red-cell folates: implications for folate intake recommendations. Lancet 349(9065):1591-1593.

Monsalve MV, Salzano FM, Rupert JL, Hutz MH, Hill K, Hurtado AM, Hochachka PW, and Devine DV. 2003. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) allele frequencies in Amerindians. Ann Hum Genet 67(Pt 4):367-371.

- Moore CA, Li S, Li Z, Hong SX, Gu HQ, Berry RJ, Mulinare J, and Erickson JD. 1997. Elevated rates of severe neural tube defects in a high-prevalence area in northern China. Am J Med Genet 73(2):113-118.
- Moore KL. 1988. Essentials of Human Embryology. Toronto Philadelphia: B.C. Decker. Inc. 194 p.
- Moore KL. 1988b. The Developing Human Clinically Oriented Embryology. Philadelphia, PA: W.B.Saunders Company. 462 p.
- Mornet E, Muller F, Lenvoise-Furet A, Delezoide AL, Col JY, Simon-Bouy B, and Serre JL. 1997. Screening of the C677T mutation on the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene in French patients with neural tube defects. Hum Genet 100(5-6):512-514.
- Morrison K, Edwards YH, Lynch SA, Burn J, Hol F, and Mariman E. 1997. Methionine synthase and neural tube defects. J Med Genet 34(11):958.
- Morrison K, Papapetrou C, Hol FA, Mariman EC, Lynch SA, Burn J, and Edwards YH. 1998. Susceptibility to spina bifida; an association study of five candidate genes. Ann Hum Genet 62 (Pt 5):379-396.
- Mountain JL, Lin AA, Bowcock AM, and Cavalli-Sforza LL. 1992. Evolution of modern humans: evidence from nuclear DNA polymorphisms. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 337(1280):159-165.
- MRC Vitamin Study Research Group. 1991. Prevention of neural tube defects: results of the Medical Research Council Vitamin Study. MRC Vitamin Study Research Group. Lancet 338(8760):131-137.
- Mudd SH, Levy H.L., Skovby, F. 1989. Disorders of Transsulfuration. In: Scriver C.R BAL, Sly W.S, Valle D, editor. The metabolic basis of inherited disease: McGraw-Hill. p 693-734.
- Mudd SH, Skovby F, Levy HL, Pettigrew KD, Wilcken B, Pyeritz RE, Andria G, Boers GH, Bromberg IL, Cerone R and others. 1985. The natural history of homocystinuria due to cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency. Am J Hum Genet 37(1):1-31.
- Muller F. 2003. Prenatal biochemical screening for neural tube defects. Childs Nerv Syst 19(7-8):433-435.
- Mullis K, Faloona F, Scharf S, Saiki R, Horn G, and Erlich H. 1986. Specific enzymatic amplification of DNA in vitro: the polymerase chain reaction. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 51 Pt 1:263-273.
- Mullis KB. 1991. The polymerase chain reaction in an anemic mode: how to avoid cold oligodeoxyribonuclear fusion. PCR Methods Appl 1(1):1-4.
- Mullis KB, and Faloona FA. 1987. Specific synthesis of DNA in vitro via a polymerasecatalyzed chain reaction. Methods Enzymol 155:335-350.
- Mutter GL, and Boynton KA. 1995. PCR bias in amplification of androgen receptor alleles, a trinucleotide repeat marker used in clonality studies. Nucleic Acids Res 23(8):1411-1418.
- Myrianthopoulos NC, and Melnick M. 1987. Studies in neural tube defects. I. Epidemiologic and etiologic aspects. Am J Med Genet 26(4):783-796.

- Nadel AS, Green JK, Holmes LB, Frigoletto FD, Jr., and Benacerraf BR. 1990. Absence of need for amniocentesis in patients with elevated levels of maternal serum alpha-fetoprotein and normal ultrasonographic examinations. N Engl J Med 323(9):557-561.
- Nelson TM, Just RS, Loreille O, Schanfield MS, and Podini D. 2007. Development of a multiplex single base extension assay for mitochondrial DNA haplogroup typing. Croat Med J 48(4):460-472.
- Neumann PE, Frankel WN, Letts VA, Coffin JM, Copp AJ, and Bernfield M. 1994. Multifactorial inheritance of neural tube defects: localization of the major gene and recognition of modifiers in ct mutant mice. Nat Genet 6(4):357-362.
- Nicodeme P, and Steyaert JM. 1997. Selecting optimal oligonucleotide primers for multiplex PCR. Proc Int Conf Intell Syst Mol Biol 5:210-213.
- Nicolaides KH, Campbell S, Gabbe SG, and Guidetti R. 1986. Ultrasound screening for spina bifida: cranial and cerebellar signs. Lancet 2(8498):72-74.
- Northrup H, and Volcik KA. 2000. Spina bifida and other neural tube defects. Curr Probl Pediatr 30(10):313-332.
- Nyberg DA, Mack LA, Hirsch J, and Mahony BS. 1988. Abnormalities of fetal cranial contour in sonographic detection of spina bifida: evaluation of the "lemon" sign. Radiology 167(2):387-392.
- Ormond K. 1997. Update and Review: Maternal Serum Screening. Journal of Genetic Counseling 6(4):395-417.
- Ou CY, Stevenson RE, Brown VK, Schwartz CE, Allen WP, Khoury MJ, Rozen R, Oakley GP, Jr., and Adams MJ, Jr. 1996. 5,10 Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase genetic polymorphism as a risk factor for neural tube defects. Am J Med Genet 63(4):610-614.
- Paabo S. 1989. Ancient DNA: extraction, characterization, molecular cloning, and enzymatic amplification. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86(6):1939-1943.
- Paabo S, Poinar H, Serre D, Jaenicke-Despres V, Hebler J, Rohland N, Kuch M, Krause J, Vigilant L, and Hofreiter M. 2004. Genetic analyses from ancient DNA. Annu Rev Genet 38:645-679.
- Padmanabhan R. 2006. Etiology, pathogenesis and prevention of neural tube defects. Congenit Anom (Kyoto) 46(2):55-67.
- Papapetrou C, Lynch SA, Burn J, and Edwards YH. 1996. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and neural tube defects. Lancet 348(9019):58.
- Papp C, Adam Z, Toth-Pal E, Torok O, Varadi V, and Papp Z. 1997. Risk of recurrence of craniospinal anomalies. J Matern Fetal Med 6(1):53-57.
- Parkhill J, Sebaihia M, Preston A, Murphy LD, Thomson N, Harris DE, Holden MT, Churcher CM, Bentley SD, Mungall KL and others. 2003. Comparative analysis of the genome sequences of Bordetella pertussis, Bordetella parapertussis and Bordetella bronchiseptica. Nat Genet 35(1):32-40.
- Parle-McDermott A, McManus EJ, Mills JL, O'Leary VB, Pangilinan F, Cox C, Weiler A, Molloy AM, Conley M, Watson D and others. 2003a. Polymorphisms within the vitamin B12 dependent methylmalonyl-coA mutase are not risk factors for neural tube defects. Mol Genet Metab 80(4):463-468.
- Parle-McDermott A, Mills JL, Kirke PN, O'Leary VB, Swanson DA, Pangilinan F, Conley M, Molloy AM, Cox C, Scott JM and others. 2003b. Analysis of the MTHFR

1298A-->C and 677C-->T polymorphisms as risk factors for neural tube defects. J Hum Genet 48(4):190-193.

- Pepe G, Camacho Vanegas O, Giusti B, Brunelli T, Marcucci R, Attanasio M, Rickards O, De Stefano GF, Prisco D, Gensini GF and others. 1998. Heterogeneity in world distribution of the thermolabile C677T mutation in 5,10methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. Am J Hum Genet 63(3):917-920.
- Pepe G, Vanegas OC, Rickards O, Giusti B, Comeglio P, Brunelli T, Marcucci R, Prisco D, Gensini GF, and Abbate R. 1999. World distribution of the T833C/844INS68 CBS in cis double mutation: a reliable anthropological marker. Hum Genet 104(2):126-129.
- Pierre-Kahn A, Zerah M, Renier D, Cinalli G, Sainte-Rose C, Lellouch-Tubiana A, Brunelle F, Le Merrer M, Giudicelli Y, Pichon J and others. 1997. Congenital Iumbosacral lipomas. Childs Nerv Syst 13(6):298-334; discussion 335.
- Pietrzyk JJ. 1983. Empiric recurrence risk for neural tube defects (NTD) in Krakow region. Acta Anthropogenet 7(4):367-372.
- Pietrzyk JJ, Bik-Multanowski M, Sanak M, and Twardowska M. 2003. Polymorphisms of the 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate and the methionine synthase reductase genes as independent risk factors for spina bifida. J Appl Genet 44(1):111-113.
- Pilu G, Romero R, Reece EA, Goldstein I, Hobbins JC, and Bovicelli L. 1988. Subnormal cerebellum in fetuses with spina bifida. Am J Obstet Gynecol 158(5):1052-1056.
- Pinar H. 2004. Postmortem findings in term neonates. Semin Neonatol 9(4):289-302.
- Poinar HN. 2003. The top 10 list: criteria of authenticity for DNA from ancient and forensic samples. International Congress series 1239:575-579.
- Pomp D, and Medrano JF. 1991. Organic solvents as facilitators of polymerase chain reaction. Biotechniques 10(1):58-59.
- Posey DL, Khoury MJ, Mulinare J, Adams MJ, Jr., and Ou CY. 1996. Is mutated MTHFR a risk factor for neural tube defects? Lancet 347(9002):686-687.
- Poste G. 2001. Molecular diagnostics: a powerful new component of the healthcare value chain. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 1(1):1-5.
- Quere I, Paul V, Rouillac C, Janbon C, London J, Demaille J, Kamoun P, Dufier JL, Abitbol M, and Chasse JF. 1999. Spatial and temporal expression of the cystathionine beta-synthase gene during early human development. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 254(1):127-137.
- Ramsbottom D, Scott JM, Molloy A, Weir DG, Kirke PN, Mills JL, Gallagher PM, and Whitehead AS. 1997. Are common mutations of cystathionine beta-synthase involved in the aetiology of neural tube defects? Clin Genet 51(1):39-42.
- Rees WA, Yager TD, Korte J, and von Hippel PH. 1993. Betaine can eliminate the base pair composition dependence of DNA melting. Biochemistry 32(1):137-144.
- Relton CL, Wilding CS, Jonas PA, Lynch SA, Tawn EJ, and Burn J. 2003. Genetic susceptibility to neural tube defect pregnancy varies with offspring phenotype. Clin Genet 64(5):424-428.
- Relton CL, Wilding CS, Pearce MS, Laffling AJ, Jonas PA, Lynch SA, Tawn EJ, and Burn J. 2004. Gene-gene interaction in folate-related genes and risk of neural tube defects in a UK population. J Med Genet 41(4):256-260.

- Richter B, Stegmann K, Roper B, Boddeker I, Ngo ET, and Koch MC. 2001. Interaction of folate and homocysteine pathway genotypes evaluated in susceptibility to neural tube defects (NTD) in a German population. J Hum Genet 46(3):105-109.
- Rieder MJ, Taylor SL, Clark AG, and Nickerson DA. 1999. Sequence variation in the human angiotensin converting enzyme. Nat Genet 22(1):59-62.
- Rintoul NE, Sutton LN, Hubbard AM, Cohen B, Melchionni J, Pasquariello PS, and Adzick NS. 2002. A new look at myelomeningoceles: functional level, vertebral level, shunting, and the implications for fetal intervention. Pediatrics 109(3):409-413.
- Riordan JR, Rommens JM, Kerem B, Alon N, Rozmahel R, Grzelczak Z, Zielenski J, Lok S, Plavsic N, Chou JL and others. 1989. Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: cloning and characterization of complementary DNA. Science 245(4922):1066-1073.
- Risch N, and Merikangas K. 1996. The future of genetic studies of complex human diseases. Science 273(5281):1516-1517.
- Robertson JM, and Walsh-Weller J. 1998. An introduction to PCR primer design and optimization of amplification reactions. Methods Mol Biol 98:121-154.
- Rodman DM, and Zamudio S. 1991. The cystic fibrosis heterozygote--advantage in surviving cholera? Med Hypotheses 36(3):253-258.
- Rogaeva E, Meng Y, Lee JH, Gu Y, Kawarai T, Zou F, Katayama T, Baldwin CT, Cheng R, Hasegawa H and others. 2007. The neuronal sortilin-related receptor SORL1 is genetically associated with Alzheimer disease. Nat Genet.
- Rommens JM, Iannuzzi MC, Kerem B, Drumm ML, Melmer G, Dean M, Rozmahel R, Cole JL, Kennedy D, Hidaka N and others. 1989. Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: chromosome walking and jumping. Science 245(4922):1059-1065.
- Römpler R, Dear D, Krause J, Meyer M, Rohland N, Schöneberg T, Spriggs H, Stiller M, and Hofreiter M. 2006. Multiplex amplification of ancient DNA. Nature 1(2):720-728.
- Rose NC, and Mennuti MT. 1993. Maternal serum screening for neural tube defects and fetal chromosome abnormalities. West J Med 159(3):312-317.
- Rosenblum BB, Lee LG, Spurgeon SL, Khan SH, Menchen SM, Heiner CR, and Chen SM. 1997. New dye-labeled terminators for improved DNA sequencing patterns. Nucleic Acids Res 25(22):4500-4504.
- Roux KH. 1995. Optimization and troubleshooting in PCR. PCR Methods Appl 4(5):S185-194.
- Rozen R. 1996. Molecular genetics of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase deficiency. J Inherit Metab Dis 19(5):589-594.
- Sanger F, Air GM, Barrell BG, Brown NL, Coulson AR, Fiddes CA, Hutchison CA, Slocombe PM, and Smith M. 1977a. Nucleotide sequence of bacteriophage phi X174 DNA. Nature 265(5596):687-695.
- Sanger F, Nicklen S, and Coulson AR. 1977b. DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 74(12):5463-5467.
- Sarkar G, Kapelner S, and Sommer SS. 1990. Formamide can dramatically improve the specificity of PCR. Nucleic Acids Res 18(24):7465.
- SBHAC. 2000. Spina Bifida Occulta. Winnipeg: Spina Bifida and Hydrocephalus Association of Canada <u>http://www.sbhac.ca/OCCULTA.pdf</u>.

- Scott JM, Molloy A.M et al. 1994. Chapter 2: Methionine synthase is involved in the aetiology of neural tube defects. Methionine metabolism: molecular metabolisms and clinical implications. p 24-29.
- Sebastio G, Sperandeo MP, Panico M, de Franchis R, Kraus JP, and Andria G. 1995. The molecular basis of homocystinuria due to cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency in Italian families, and report of four novel mutations. Am J Hum Genet 56(6):1324-1333.
- Seller MJ, Singer JD, Coltart TM, and Campbell S. 1974. Maternal serum-alphafetoprotein levels and prenatal diagnosis of neural-tube defects. Lancet 1(7855):429-433.
- Seppala M, and Ruoslahti E. 1973. Alpha fetoprotein: Physiology and pathology during pregnancy and application to antenatal diagnosis. J Perinat Med 1(2):104-113.
- Sepulveda W, Corral E, Ayala C, Be C, Gutierrez J, and Vasquez P. 2004. Chromosomal abnormalities in fetuses with open neural tube defects: prenatal identification with ultrasound. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 23(4):352-356.
- Seto D. 1990. An improved method for sequencing double stranded plasmid DNA from minipreps using DMSO and modified template preparation. Nucleic Acids Res 18(19):5905-5906.
- Sharrocks AD. 1994. The design of primers of PCR. In: Griffin HG, and A.M. Griffin,, editor. PCR Technology: Current innovations. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press. p 5-11.
- Shaw GM, Lammer EJ, Zhu H, Baker MW, Neri E, and Finnell RH. 2002. Maternal periconceptional vitamin use, genetic variation of infant reduced folate carrier (A80G), and risk of spina bifida. Am J Med Genet 108(1):1-6.
- Shaw GM, Rozen R, Finnell RH, Todoroff K, and Lammer EJ. 1998a. Infant C677T mutation in MTHFR, maternal periconceptional vitamin use, and cleft lip. Am J Med Genet 80(3):196-198.
- Shaw GM, Rozen R, Finnell RH, Wasserman CR, and Lammer EJ. 1998b. Maternal vitamin use, genetic variation of infant methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase, and risk for spina bifida. Am J Epidemiol 148(1):30-37.
- Shaw GM, Todoroff K, Finnell RH, Lammer EJ, Leclerc D, Gravel RA, and Rozen R. 1999. Infant methionine synthase variants and risk for spina bifida. J Med Genet 36(1):86-87.
- Shields DC, Kirke PN, Mills JL, Ramsbottom D, Molloy AM, Burke H, Weir DG, Scott JM, and Whitehead AS. 1999. The "thermolabile" variant of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and neural tube defects: An evaluation of genetic risk and the relative importance of the genotypes of the embryo and the mother. Am J Hum Genet 64(4):1045-1055.
- Shimizu T, Ohtani K, Hirakawa H, Ohshima K, Yamashita A, Shiba T, Ogasawara N, Hattori M, Kuhara S, and Hayashi H. 2002. Complete genome sequence of Clostridium perfringens, an anaerobic flesh-eater. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(2):996-1001.
- Shuber AP, Grondin VJ, and Klinger KW. 1995. A simplified procedure for developing multiplex PCRs. Genome Res 5(5):488-493.
- Speer MC, Nye J, McLone D, Worley G, Melvin EC, Viles KD, Franklin A, Drake C, Mackey J, and George TM. 1999. Possible interaction of genotypes at

cystathionine beta-synthase and methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) in neural tube defects. NTD Collaborative Group. Clin Genet 56(2):142-144.

- Sperandeo MP, de Franchis R, Andria G, and Sebastio G. 1996. A 68-bp insertion found in a homocystinuric patient is a common variant and is skipped by alternative splicing of the cystathionine beta-synthase mRNA. Am J Hum Genet 59(6):1391-1393.
- Sperandeo MP, Panico M, Pepe A, Candito M, de Franchis R, Kraus JP, Andria G, and Sebastio G. 1995. Molecular analysis of patients affected by homocystinuria due to cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency: report of a new mutation in exon 8 and a deletion in intron 11. J Inherit Metab Dis 18(2):211-214.
- Steegers-Theunissen RP, Boers GH, Trijbels FJ, and Eskes TK. 1991. Neural-tube defects and derangement of homocysteine metabolism. N Engl J Med 324(3):199-200.
- Steegers-Theunissen RP, Boers GH, Trijbels FJ, Finkelstein JD, Blom HJ, Thomas CM, Borm GF, Wouters MG, and Eskes TK. 1994. Maternal hyperhomocysteinemia: a risk factor for neural-tube defects? Metabolism 43(12):1475-1480.
- Stegmann K, Ziegler A, Ngo ET, Kohlschmidt N, Schroter B, Ermert A, and Koch MC. 1999. Linkage disequilibrium of MTHFR genotypes 677C/T-1298A/C in the German population and association studies in probands with neural tube defects(NTD). Am J Med Genet 87(1):23-29.
- Stephenson S. 2003. Sonographic Signs of Fetal Neural Tube and Central Nervous System Defects. JDMS 19:347-357.
- Stevenson R, Hall J.G., 1993. Terminology. In: Stevenson R, Hall J.G., Goodman R.M., editor. Human Malformations and related anormalies: Oxford University Press. p 21-30.
- Sturtevant AH. 1913. The linear arrangement of six sex-linked factors in Drosophila, as shown by their mode of association. Journal of Experimental Zoology(14):43-59.
- Swerts A, Evers-Kiebooms G, and Van den Berghe H. 1987. Pregnancies of mothers with a neural tube defect child: outcomes and recurrence risks. J Genet Hum 35(5):339-349.
- Syvanen AC. 2001. Accessing genetic variation: genotyping single nucleotide polymorphisms. Nat Rev Genet 2(12):930-942.
- Syvanen AC, Aalto-Setala K, Harju L, Kontula K, and Soderlund H. 1990. A primerguided nucleotide incorporation assay in the genotyping of apolipoprotein E. Genomics 8(4):684-692.
- Tabor A, Philip J, Madsen M, Bang J, Obel EB, and Norgaard-Pedersen B. 1986. Randomised controlled trial of genetic amniocentesis in 4606 low-risk women. Lancet 1(8493):1287-1293.
- Taillon-Miller P, Bauer-Sardina I, Saccone NL, Putzel J, Laitinen T, Cao A, Kere J, Pilia G, Rice JP, and Kwok PY. 2000. Juxtaposed regions of extensive and minimal linkage disequilibrium in human Xq25 and Xq28. Nat Genet 25(3):324-328.

Tamarin R. 1991. Principles of Genetics. Dubuque, IA, USA: Wm.C.Brown Publishers.

Templeton AR, Weiss KM, Nickerson DA, Boerwinkle E, and Sing CF. 2000. Cladistic structure within the human Lipoprotein lipase gene and its implications for phenotypic association studies. Genetics 156(3):1259-1275.

- Thomas JA, Markovac J, and Ganong WF. 1994. Anencephaly and other neural tube defects. Front Neuroendocrinol 15(2):197-201.
- Thunem NY, Lowry RB, Tucker BJ, and Medd BW. 1988. Birth prevalence and recurrence rates of neural tube defects in southern Alberta in 1970-81. Cmaj 138(9):819-823.
- Trembath D, Sherbondy AL, Vandyke DC, Shaw GM, Todoroff K, Lammer EJ, Finnell RH, Marker S, Lerner G, and Murray JC. 1999. Analysis of select folate pathway genes, PAX3, and human T in a Midwestern neural tube defect population. Teratology 59(5):331-341.
- Tsai MY, Bignell M, Schwichtenberg K, and Hanson NQ. 1996. High prevalence of a mutation in the cystathionine beta-synthase gene. Am J Hum Genet 59(6):1262-1267.
- Tully G, Sullivan KM, Nixon P, Stones RE, and Gill P. 1996. Rapid detection of mitochondrial sequence polymorphisms using multiplex solid-phase fluorescent minisequencing. Genomics 34(1):107-113.
- Turner D, Choudhury F, Reynard M, Railton D, and Navarrete C. 2002. Typing of multiple single nucleotide polymorphisms in cytokine and receptor genes using SNaPshot. Hum Immunol 63(6):508-513.
- U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services UD. 1990. Understanding Our Genetic Inheritance the U.S Human Genome Project: The First Five Years: Fiscal Years 1991-1995. Bethesda, MD: National Institute of Health.
- Ubbink JB, Christianson A, Bester MJ, Van Allen MI, Venter PA, Delport R, Blom HJ, van der Merwe A, Potgieter H, and Vermaak WJ. 1999. Folate status, homocysteine metabolism, and methylene tetrahydrofolate reductase genotype in rural South African blacks with a history of pregnancy complicated by neural tube defects. Metabolism 48(2):269-274.
- Van den Hof MC, Nicolaides KH, Campbell J, and Campbell S. 1990. Evaluation of the lemon and banana signs in one hundred thirty fetuses with open spina bifida. Am J Obstet Gynecol 162(2):322-327.
- van der Brandhof WEea. 2001. The relation between plasma cysteine, plasma homocysteine and coronary atherosclerosis. Artherosclerosis 157:403-409.
- van der Put NM, and Blom HJ. 2000. Neural tube defects and a disturbed folate dependent homocysteine metabolism. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 92(1):57-61.
- van der Put NM, Eskes TK, and Blom HJ. 1997a. Is the common 677C--->T mutation in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene a risk factor for neural tube defects? A meta-analysis. Qjm 90(2):111-115.
- van der Put NM, Gabreels F, Stevens EM, Smeitink JA, Trijbels FJ, Eskes TK, van den Heuvel LP, and Blom HJ. 1998. A second common mutation in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene: an additional risk factor for neuraltube defects? Am J Hum Genet 62(5):1044-1051.
- van der Put NM, Steegers-Theunissen RP, Frosst P, Trijbels FJ, Eskes TK, van den Heuvel LP, Mariman EC, den Heyer M, Rozen R, and Blom HJ. 1995. Mutated methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase as a risk factor for spina bifida. Lancet 346(8982):1070-1071.

- van der Put NM, Thomas CM, Eskes TK, Trijbels FJ, Steegers-Theunissen RP, Mariman EC, De Graaf-Hess A, Smeitink JA, and Blom HJ. 1997b. Altered folate and vitamin B12 metabolism in families with spina bifida offspring. Qjm 90(8):505-510.
- van der Put NM, van den Heuvel LP, Steegers-Theunissen RP, Trijbels FJ, Eskes TK, Mariman EC, den Heyer M, and Blom HJ. 1996. Decreased methylene tetrahydrofolate reductase activity due to the 677C-->T mutation in families with spina bifida offspring. J Mol Med 74(11):691-694.
- van der Put NM, van der Molen EF, Kluijtmans LA, Heil SG, Trijbels JM, Eskes TK, Van Oppenraaij-Emmerzaal D, Banerjee R, and Blom HJ. 1997c. Sequence analysis of the coding region of human methionine synthase: relevance to hyperhomocysteinaemia in neural-tube defects and vascular disease. Qjm 90(8):511-517.
- van der Put NM, van Straaten HW, Trijbels FJ, and Blom HJ. 2001. Folate, homocysteine and neural tube defects: an overview. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 226(4):243-270.
- Vandenvelde C, Verstraete M, and Van Beers D. 1990. Fast Multiplex polymerase chain reaction on boiled clinical samples for rapid viral diagnosis. J Virol Methods 30(2):215-227.
- Volcik KA, Blanton SH, Tyerman GH, Jong ST, Rott EJ, Page TZ, Romaine NK, and Northrup H. 2000. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and spina bifida: evaluation of level of defect and maternal genotypic risk in Hispanics. Am J Med Genet 95(1):21-27.
- von Recklinghausen F. 1886. Untersuchungen uber die spina bifida. Virchows Archiv 105(3):243-373.
- Wald C, Cuckle, H., 1992. Chapter 18: Antenatal screening and diagnosis. In: Elwood J, Little J, Elwood JH, editor. Epidemiology and Control of Neural Tube Defects. New York: Oxford University. p 711-726.
- Wald N, Barker S, Peto R, Brock DJ, and Bonnar J. 1975. Maternal serum alphafetoprotein levels in multiple pregnancy. Br Med J 1(5959):651-652.
- Wald N, Cuckle H, Boreham J, and Stirrat G. 1980. Small biparietal diameter of fetuses with spina bifida: implications for antenatal screening. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 87(3):219-221.
- Wald N, Cuckle H, and Nanchahal K. 1989. Amniotic fluid acetylcholinesterase measurement in the prenatal diagnosis of open neural tube defects. Second report of the Collaborative Acetylcholinesterase Study. Prenat Diagn 9(12):813-829.
- Wald N, Cuckle, HS., 1981. Amniotic fluid acetylcholinesterase electrophoresis as a secondary test in the diagnosis of anencephaly and open spina bifida in early pregnancy. Report of the Collaborative acetylcholinesterase Study. Lancet 2(8242):321-324.
- Wald NJ, Brock DJ, and Bonnar J. 1974. Prenatal diagnosis of spina bifida and anencephaly by maternal serum-alpha-fetoprotein measurement. A controlled study. Lancet 1(7861):765-767.
- Wald NJ, Cuckle H, Boreham J, Stirrat GM, and Turnbull AC. 1979b. Maternal serum alpha-fetoprotein and diabetes mellitus. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 86(2):101-105.

- Wald NJ, Cuckle H, Brock JH, Peto R, Polani PE, and Woodford FP. 1977. Maternal serum-alpha-fetoprotein measurement in antenatal screening for anencephaly and spina bifida in early pregnancy. Report of U.K. collaborative study on alpha-fetoprotein in relation to neural-tube defects. Lancet 1(8026):1323-1332.
- Wang DG, Fan JB, Siao CJ, Berno A, Young P, Sapolsky R, Ghandour G, Perkins N, Winchester E, Spencer J and others. 1998. Large-scale identification, mapping, and genotyping of single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the human genome. Science 280(5366):1077-1082.
- Waterston RH, Lindblad-Toh K, Birney E, Rogers J, Abril JF, Agarwal P, Agarwala R, Ainscough R, Alexandersson M, An P and others. 2002. Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. Nature 420(6915):520-562.
- Watson JD, and Crick FH. 1953a. Molecular structure of nucleic acids; a structure for deoxyribose nucleic acid. Nature 171(4356):737-738.
- Watson JD, and Crick FH. 1953b. Genetical implications of the structure of deoxyribonucleic acid. Nature 171(4361):964-967.
- Weisberg I, Tran P, Christensen B, Sibani S, and Rozen R. 1998. A second genetic polymorphism in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) associated with decreased enzyme activity. Mol Genet Metab 64(3):169-172.
- Weisberg IS, Jacques PF, Selhub J, Bostom AG, Chen Z, Curtis Ellison R, Eckfeldt JH, and Rozen R. 2001. The 1298A-->C polymorphism in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR): in vitro expression and association with homocysteine. Atherosclerosis 156(2):409-415.
- Weiss KM, and Terwilliger JD. 2000. How many diseases does it take to map a gene with SNPs? Nat Genet 26(2):151-157.
- White House Press Release. June 26, 2000. President Clinton Announces the Completion of the First Survey of the Entire Human Genome. White House Press Release.
- Whitehead AS, Gallagher P, Mills JL, Kirke PN, Burke H, Molloy AM, Weir DG, Shields DC, and Scott JM. 1995. A genetic defect in 5,10 methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase in neural tube defects. Qjm 88(11):763-766.
- Wiegand P, and Kleiber M. 2001. Less is more--length reduction of STR amplicons using redesigned primers. Int J Legal Med 114(4-5):285-287.
- Wilcken DE, and Wang XL. 1996. Relevance to spina bifida of mutated methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. Lancet 347(8997):340.
- Williams TN, Mwangi TW, Roberts DJ, Alexander ND, Weatherall DJ, Wambua S, Kortok M, Snow RW, and Marsh K. 2005. An immune basis for malaria protection by the sickle cell trait. PLoS Med 2(5):e128.
- Wilson A, Platt R, Wu Q, Leclerc D, Christensen B, Yang H, Gravel RA, and Rozen R. 1999. A common variant in methionine synthase reductase combined with low cobalamin (vitamin B12) increases risk for spina bifida. Mol Genet Metab 67(4):317-323.
- Wingate EE, Hancock JA, Churchwell KE, Pipkins MJ., 2004. A review of the importance of sonography's role in its detection. J Diagnostic Medical Sonography 20(4):227-237.
- Winkler H. 1920. Verbreitung und Ursache der Parthenogenesis im Pflanzen- und Tierreiche. Jena, Germany: Verlag von Gustav Fischer. 231 p.

- Wu DY, Ugozzoli L, Pal BK, Qian J, and Wallace RB. 1991. The effect of temperature and oligonucleotide primer length on the specificity and efficiency of amplification by the polymerase chain reaction. DNA Cell Biol 10(3):233-238.
- Yamada K, Chen Z, Rozen R, and Matthews RG. 2001. Effects of common polymorphisms on the properties of recombinant human methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(26):14853-14858.
- Zhang XY, and Ehrlich M. 1994. Detection and quantitation of low numbers of chromosomes containing bcl-2 oncogene translocations using semi-nested PCR. Biotechniques 16(3):502-507.
- Zhu H, Wicker NJ, Shaw GM, Lammer EJ, Hendricks K, Suarez L, Canfield M, and Finnell RH. 2003. Homocysteine remethylation enzyme polymorphisms and increased risks for neural tube defects. Mol Genet Metab 78(3):216-221.
- Zimmermann K, Pischinger K, and Mannhalter JW. 1994. Nested primer PCR detection limits of HIV-1 in the background of increasing numbers of lysed cells. Biotechniques 17(1):18-20.
Appendices

Appendix – A

Below are schematic representations of the initial and hemi-nested PCR primers and their genetic locations using the computational simulator. Figures 49 to 53 represent the position of the primers and the lengths of the amplicons for both the initial and hemi-nested singleplexes along the target regions. The blue and red arrows indicate the forward and reverse primers respectively. The black rectangle represents the amplicon amplified and the primers used. For example, in Figure 49, primers CBS-1 and CBS-2 are used for the initial PCR while primer CBS-2 and CBS-3 are used for the hemi-nested PCR producing an amplicon of 128 bp and 83 bp respectively.

















Appendix – B

Preparing a 6% Polyacrylamide gel (PAGE):

1. Keep on ice at all times!

Reagents	6 gels	12 gels
5 X TBE	10 mL	20 mL
Acrylamide	6.25 mL	15 mL
ddH ₂ 0	33.25 mL	64 mL
TEMED	45 μL	90 μL
10% APS	450 μL	900 μL

- 2. Prepare 10% APS solution by mixing 0.1 g. ammonium persulfate (APS) to 1 mL of ddH₂0.
- 3. Place a 125 mL Pyrex flask in an ice box and allow cooling for approximately 20 minutes.
- 4. Set up gel cassettes and combs ahead of time.
- 5. Add reagents in the same order as they are listed above.
- 6. Swirl the flask to mix the reagents.
- 7. Fill gel cassettes from one corner using a transfer pipette.
- 8. Ensure the bottom cassette groove is completely filled and does not have any air bubbles.
- 9. Allow to solidify for 1 hour at room temperature, and then refrigerate.

The flask was swirled once all the reagents were added to mix them. A transfer pipette was used to fill the gel cassettes until the liquid reached the bottom cassette groove. Caution was taken to ensure that no bubbles were in the cassette. A gel comb was placed in the cassette to form the wells. The gels were allowed to solidify for 1 hour at room temperature then refrigerated. The electrophoresis tank was then prepared to run a gel. A prepared gel was taken and the strip of tape at the base of the cassette and the gel comb were removed. The gel cartridge was placed in the electrophoresis tank. Spacer blocks or empty cartridges were used if it was only necessary to run one gel. The tank was filled with 1 X TBE running buffer until the wells were covered.

Reagent	Volume	
ddH ₂ 0	1 L	
TRIS	108.0 g	
Borate	55.0 g	
EDTA	5.8 g	

10 X TBE, diluted to a 1 X concentration, was prepared using:

The wells were cleaned out with a transfer pipette to ensure that no particles were in the wells that could impede the running of the samples. 6-7 μ L of the amplified PCR products was mixed with 3 μ L of 6 X loading buffer. The loading buffer contains ficoll, a substance that allows the DNA sample to sink to the bottom of the well, and a dye that allows visualisation of the sample being loaded. The 6 X loading buffer is prepared with the following reagents:

Reagent	Volume	
2.5% xylene cyanol	12 µL	
2.5% bromophenol blue	12 µL	
Ficoll (35%)*	432 µL	
1 X TBE	544 µL	
*Mix 3.5g of solid Ficoll to 10mL ddH ₂ 0.		

A standard molecular marker is loaded on each gel for band size discrimination.

Loading and Running PAGE

- 1. Obtain gel cartridges and remove strip of tape of gel comb.
- 2. Place gel cartridge into gel apparatus.
- 3. Fill apparatus with 1 X TBE running buffer. To make 1 X TBE buffer dilute 10 X TBE (1 L ddH₂0; 108 g Tris; 55 g borate; 5.8 g EDTA).
- 4. Make sure the running buffer covers the wells inside the apparatus and is 1/3 full in the outside cartridge compartments.
- 5. Clean out the wells with a transfer pipette.
- 6. Fill out gel loading sheet.
- 7. Fill in wells with sample and 6 X loading dye, and one lane of molecular marker.
- 8. Set voltage at 135 V and time at approximately 30 minutes.
- 9. After gel has run, stain with ethidium bromide (~15-20 minutes).
- 10. Wash gel with ddH₂0 then viewed on the transilluminator (UV-B) and photograph.

Appendix – C

DyeEx[™] purification spin column Protocol

- 1. Gently vortex the spin column to resuspend the resin.
- 2. Loosen the cap of the column a quarter turn to ensure the seal is broken. This is necessary to avoid a vacuum inside the spin column.
- 3. Snap off the bottom of the column and place the column into a collection tube (provided by manufacturer).
- 4. Centrifuge at 2800 r.p.m. for 3 minutes.
- 5. Discard the collection tube with the packing buffer.
- 6. Place the column into a sterile 1.5 mL tube.
- 7. Carefully add 10-20 μ L of PCR solution (sequencing reaction) to the gel bed.
- 8. **Pipette the sequencing reaction directly onto the center of the slanted gelbed surface. Do not allow the reaction mixture or the pipette tip to touch the sides of the column. The sample should be pipetted slowly so that the drops are absorbed into the gel and do not flows down the sides of the gel bed. Avoid touching the gel-based surface with the pipette tip.
- 9. Centrifuge for 3 minutes at 2800 r.p.m..
- 10. Discard the column and kept the tubes.
- 11. Dry the samples in a vacuum centrifuge for sequencing. No need for dessication for Snapshot[™].